# Volume 5 Issue 2, April 2023



# **Original Articles**

- 1. Use of dapsone in chronic/refractory immune thrombocytopenic patients: A single center experience
- 2. What is the main reason of erectile dysfunction in lymphoma patients: Chemotherapy or Depression?
- 3. Evaluation of Hearing and Auditory Pathways in Fabry Disease Patients
- 4. Mel-200 Or Mel-140, Which One is More Advantageous? Retrospectively Analysis Of The Multiple Myeloma Patients Treated With Autologous Hematopoetic Stem Cell Transplantation
- 5. Risk factors and outcomes for carbapenem-resistant klebsiella pneumoniae in hematological patients
- 6. Subcutaneous and Intravenous Cladribine Treatment of Hairy Cell Leukemia Patients: Do We Still Need Intravenous Cladribine?
- 7. Renal Involvement and Outcomes in Patients Hospitalized with COVID-19 Infection in A Tertiary Hospital
- 8. Factors Affecting Kidney Functions in One-Year Follow-up After COVID-19 in Kidney Transplant Patients
- 9. Retrospective Analysis of Follow-up and Results of Patients with High D-Dimer Value and Discharged without Emergency Pathology

## **Case Reports**

- 10. Acute arterial thrombosis in anticoagulated patient for acute pulmonary thromboembolism
- 11. A Case Report of Methicillin-Resistant Staph. aureus Coinfection in COVID-19 in the Intensive Care Unit





Copyright © 2023

# **Turkish Journal of Internal Medicine**

<u>http://www.tjim.org</u> e-ISSN:2687-4245

#### Aim and Scope

Turkish Journal of Internal Medicine (TJIM) is an international peer-reviewed scientific journal that publishes manuscripts describing both clinical and basic science research in medicine. Manuscripts must describe original data that has not been published previously nor submitted for publication elsewhere. Manuscripts that adhere to the TJIM submission guidelines and are deemed appropriate for the scope of the journal are sent to two reviewers who are specialists in the field. The reviewers' comments are then considered by the members of the TJIM Executive Editorial Board who discuss the suitability of each submission. The final decision for all submitted manuscripts rests with the Editor-in-Chief.

The journal publishes in the field of original research, case report, reviews, short report, short communication and letters to the editor are published only in English.

Editorial Board of TJIM complies with the criteria of the International Council of Medical Journal Editors (ICMJE), the World Association of Medical Editors (WAME), and Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE).

The journal is published quarterly (January, April, July and October). No fee is required for publishing the manuscipt. All articles are detected for similarity.

## Abstracting & Indexing

The journal is abstracted and indexed with the following: DOAJ (Directory of Open Access Journals), EBSCO Publishing, Google Scholar, Index Copernicus (Under Evaluation), ResearchGate, SciLit, CrossRef, ResearchBib, Asos Index, WorldCat, ROAD, Türkiye Atıf Dizini (Turkish Citation Index), TURK MEDLINE, DRJI (Directory of Research Journals Indexing).

#### Publisher

Turkish Journal of Internal Medicine Nizameddin KOCA SBU Bursa Şehir SUAM Nilüfer/BURSA-TURKEY https://dergipark.org.tr/en/pub/tjim



Turkish Journal of Internal Medicine, hosted by Turkish Journal Park ACADEMIC, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License

#### **EDITOR-IN-CHIEF**

#### Alparslan ERSOY, MD

Professor, Bursa Uludag University Medical School, Department of Nephrology & Transplantation, Bursa, Turkey,

#### **MANAGING EDITOR**

Nizameddin KOCA, MD

Associate Professor, University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

#### **EDITORIAL ASSISTANT**

Berke Cenktug KORUCU, MD

University of Health Sciences, Bursa Yuksek Ihtisas Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

### INTERNATIONAL EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS (In alphabetical order)

#### Mehmet AKKAYA, MD

Assistant Professor, Creighton University School of Medicine, Omaha Campus, Department of Cardiology, Omaha, Nebraska, USA

#### Yasar CALISKAN, MD

Clinical Nephrology Fellow Saint Louis University School of Medicine Department of Nephrology Saint Louis, MO, USA

# Roger CHEN, MD, MBBS (Hons), FRACP, PhD

Associate Professor, Department of Endocrinology, St. Vincent's Hospital, Sydney, Australia

#### Sühendan EKMEKCIOGLU, MD

Professor, Department of Melanoma Medical Oncology, The University of Texas, MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, Texas, USA

#### Rachel Fissell, MD

Assistant Professor Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine Division of Nephrology & Hypertension Nashville, Tennessee, USA

#### Mahmut Fırat KAYNAK, MD

Al Emadi Hospital, Department of Emergency Medicine, Doha, Qatar

#### Šekib SOKOLOVIC, MD

Professor, University Clinical Center and Medical Faculty of Sarajevo, Department of Cardiology, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

#### Meryem TUNCEL, MD, FACP, FASN

Professor and Chief, Nephrology Fellowship Program Director, University Medical Center Endowed Chair, Nephrology and Hypertension Division, Texas Tech Health Sciences Center, Lubbock, Texas, USA

## EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS (In alphabetical order)

#### Abdulbaki KUMBASAR, MD,

Professor Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Kanuni Sultan Süleyman Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

#### Abdülmecit YILDIZ, MD

Associate Professor of Nephrology & Transplantation, Bursa Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Nephrology & Transplantation, Bursa, Turkey

#### Ahmet Tarık EMİNLER, MD,

Associate Professor of Gastroenterology & Hepatology, Sakarya University School of Medicine, Department of Gastroenterology, Sakarya, Turkey

#### Canan ERSOY, MD,

Professor of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa, Turkey

#### Cevdet Duran, MD,

Professor of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Uşak University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Uşak, Turkey

#### Eşref ARAÇ, MD,

Associate Professor of Internal Medicine, Dicle University School of Medicinel, Department of Internal Medicine, Diyarbakır, Turkey

#### Fahir ÖZKALEMKAS, MD,

Professor of Hematology, Bursa Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Hematology & Transplantation, Bursa, Turkey

#### Gulsah Elbuken, MD

Associate Professor of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Tekirdag Namık kemal University, School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Tekirdağ, Turkey

#### Haluk Barbaros ORAL

Professor of Immunology, Bursa Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Immunology, Bursa, Turkey

#### Havva KESKİN, MD,

Associate Professor of Internal Medicine, Ankara University, School of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Hüseyin TÖZ, MD,

Professor of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Ege University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, İzmir, Turkey

#### İbrahim AKDAĞ, MD,

Professor of Nephrology, SBU Etlik City Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

#### Mehmet Ali BALCI, MD,

Associate Professor of Rheumatology, University of Health Sciences, İstanbul Physical Therapy Training & Research Hospital, Department of Rheumatology İstanbul, Turkey

#### Muharrem BAYRAK, MD,

Associate Professor of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Erzurum Atatürk Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Erzurum, Turkey

#### Nur KEBAPÇI MD,

Professor of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Eskisehir Osmangazi University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism Eskişehir, Turkey

#### Oğuzhan Sıtkı Dizdar, MD,

Associate Professor of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Kayseri Training & Research Hospital,

## EDITORIAL BOARD MEMBERS (In alphabetical order)

Department of Internal Medicine, Kayseri, Turkey

#### Sazi IMAMOGLU, MD,

Professor of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Endocrinology & Metabolism, Bursa, Turkey

#### Seyit UYAR, MD,

Associate Professor of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences, AntalyaTraining & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Antalya, Turkey

#### Sibel OCAK SERİN, MD,

Associate Professor of Internal Medicine, University of Health Sciences, Ümraniye Training & Research Hospital, Department of Internal Medicine, Ümraniye, Turkey

#### Teslime AYAZ, MD,

Professor of Internal Medicine, Recep Tayyip Erdoğan University, School of Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, Rize, Turkey

#### Turkkan EVRENSEL MD,

Professor of Medical Oncology, Bursa Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Medical Oncology, Bursa, Turkey

#### Yavuz PEHLIVAN, MD,

Professor of Rheumatology, Bursa Uludag University School of Medicine, Department of Rheumatology, Bursa, Turkey

#### Yıldız Okuturlar, MD,

Professor of Internal Medicine, Acıbadem University School of Medicine, Department of Internal medicine, Istanbul, Turkey

Yusuf Yılmaz, MD, Professor of Gastroenterology, Marmara University, Medical School Department of Gastroenterology, Istanbul, Turkey



# Table of Contents

# **Original Articles**

1.	Use of dapsone in chronic/refractory immune thrombocytopenic patients: A single center experience	70-76
2.	What is the main reason of erectile dysfunction in lymphoma patients: Chemotherapy or Depression?	77-83
3.	Evaluation of Hearing and Auditory Pathways in Fabry Disease Patients	84-91
4.	Mel-200 Or Mel-140, Which One is More Advantageous? Retrospectively Analysis Of The Multiple Myeloma Patients Treated With Autologous Hematopoetic Stem Cell Transplantation	92-98
5.	Risk factors and outcomes for carbapenem-resistant klebsiella pneumoniae in hematological patients	99-108
6.	Subcutaneous and Intravenous Cladribine Treatment of Hairy Cell Leukemia Patients: Do We Still Need Intravenous Cladribine?	109-116
7.	Renal Involvement and Outcomes in Patients Hospitalized with COVID-19 Infection in A Tertiary Hospital	117-123
8.	Factors Affecting Kidney Functions in One-Year Follow-up After COVID-19 in Kidney Transplant Patients	124-134
9.	Retrospective Analysis of Follow-up and Results of Patients with High D-Dimer Value and Discharged without Emergency Pathology	135-140
	Case Reports	
10.	Acute arterial thrombosis in anticoagulated patient for acute pulmonary thromboembolism	141-144
11.	A Case Report of Methicillin-Resistant Staph. aureus Coinfection in COVID-19 in the Intensive Care Unit	145-149



# **Use of Dapsone in Chronic/Refractory Immune Thrombocytopenic Patients: A Single Center Experience**

Ömer CANDAR<sup>1</sup>, Vildan OZKOCAMAN<sup>1</sup>, Tuba ERSAL<sup>1</sup>, Tuğçe ZOR TURNA<sup>2</sup>, İbrahim Ethem PINAR<sup>1</sup>, Cumali YALÇIN<sup>1</sup>, Bedrettin ORHAN<sup>1</sup>, Sinem ÇUBUKÇU<sup>1</sup>, Tuba GÜLLÜ KOCA<sup>1</sup>, Rıdvan ALİ<sup>1</sup>, Fahir ÖZKALEMKAŞ<sup>1</sup>,

<sup>1</sup>Uludağ University Faculty of Medicine, Internal Diseases Department, Hematology Division, Bursa, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Uludağ University Faculty of Medicine, Internal Diseases Department, Bursa, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

*Background* Dapsone is a second-line therapy for immune thrombocytopenia (ITP). It is cost-effective, with a response rate comparable to other drugs used as second-line therapy, such as azathioprine, danazol, cyclophosphamide, cyclosporine, vincristine, rituximab, and eltrombopag.

*Material and Methods* This retrospective study analysed ten adult patients who presented to our hematology division outpatient clinic between March 2013 and July 2021, was diagnosed with chronic/refractory ITP, did not respond to first-line therapy, and used dapsone.

**Results** Eight (80%) patients were female, and 2 (20%) were male. The median age was 50 (range, 24-64) years. The mean pre-treatment platelet value was 12.8x10<sup>9</sup>/L (range: 4-22.1x109/L). The median duration of symptoms before dapsone treatment was 60 (6-360) months. The median number of treatments received before dapsone was 4 (range: 3-6). All patients were routinely treated with oral dapsone 50 mg for two weeks, followed by 100 mg. The median time to treatment response was 39 (range: 14-90) days. The response rate was 60% (complete response 40%, partial response 20%). Asymptomatic anaemia was observed as a side effect in only one patient.

*Conclusions* Based on these results, it can be speculated that dapsone is an effective, inexpensive, and well-tolerated treatment option. Considering the economic status of developing countries, it seems very attractive to use dapsone as the second-line therapy for chronic/refractory ITP. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study in Turkey on the use of dapsone for chronic/refractory ITP.

*Turk J Int Med 2023;5(2):70-76 DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1211506</u>* 

Keywords: Dapsone, immune thrombocytopenia, thrombocytopenia.



Received: November 29, 2022; Accepted: January 19, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

<u>Address for Correspondence:</u> Omer Candar, MD

*Uludag University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, Bursa, Turkey. E–mail: oeml6365@gmail.com* 



#### INTRODUCTION

Immune thrombocytopenia (ITP) is an autoimmune disease characterised by low platelet count and mucocutaneous bleeding. Patients diagnosed with ITP are classified into three categories: acute ITP (<3 months), persistent ITP (3-12 months), and chronic ITP (>12 months).<sup>1</sup> Life-threatening bleeding is rare in ITP (0.16%-0.38% in adult patients) and is mostly observed in elderly patients. Steroids are the main drug used in firstline therapy. Seventy per cent of adult patients respond to steroid therapy, of whom 50% showed sustained response after treatment discontinuation.<sup>2</sup> The other half of the patients either do not respond to steroids or become steroid dependent. Treatment options for these patients include pulse dexamethasone, azathioprine, cyclosporine, danazol, or vincristine, with response rates ranging from 10% to 30%, and splenectomy, to which approximately 70% of the patients respond.<sup>2</sup> New treatment options such as rituximab or thrombopoietin receptor agonists (TPO-RA) are promising in patients with contraindicated splenectomy.<sup>3</sup> The high cost of these drugs and their side effects, such as thrombosis and bone marrow reticulin fibrosis, should be considered in the long-term use of TPO-RA.<sup>4</sup> Dapsone (4,4-Diaminodiphenyl sulfone) is an antibiotic from the group of sulfones as well as a folate antagonist with anti-inflammatory and anti-parasitic effects. It is also used for the treatment of leprosy. Since it is both inexpensive and well tolerated, it is a good option for second-line therapy.

A response rate of 62% was achieved in 21 steroid-dependent patients reported to be using dapsone for the first time in ITP.5 A response rate of 50% was also reported in a case series of 66 patients.<sup>6</sup> Similar rates were found in another reported publication.7 The mechanism of action of dapsone in ITP is not fully understood. One possible mechanism is the induction of hemolysis due to the conversion of dapsone to hydroxylamine, which leads to erythrophagocytosis in the reticuloendothelial system. Thus, sequestration and destruction of platelets are prevented. Another hypothesis is that dapsone is an immunomodulatory drug.8 Methemoglobinemia and hemolysis are the most common side effects of dapsone therapy. Other rarer side effects may include peripheral neuropathy, agranulocytosis secondary to bone marrow suppression, hepatitis, dermatitis, and psychosis. Response to dapsone is slow, sustained, and on treatment, relapses are rare. Because of the slow response to treatment, patients should be treated for at least three months. There is no consensus on when to discontinue dapsone therapy.

Most patients develop relapse after the discontinuation of dapsone. The present study retrospectively evaluated our patients on dapsone, considering that it may be an option in chronic/refractory ITP due to its acceptable response rates, side effect profile, and cost advantage.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study included ten patients who were followed up in the Adult Hematology Outpatient Clinic of Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Medicine Hospital, diagnosed with chronic/refractory ITP between March 2013 and July 2021, and used dapsone as second-line therapy. The data of patients were obtained from the hospital information system and patient files. Patients under the age of 18 and patients with acute ITP were not included in the study. Haemoglobin and platelet levels at diagnosis, age at diagnosis, number of lines of treatment received before dapsone, duration of dapsone therapy, treatment responses, and treatment complications of all patients were evaluated. All patients were initiated on oral dapsone 50 mg/day for two weeks. The dose was increased to 100 mg after that. Conditions such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), H. pylori, systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), and lymphoma that may cause secondary thrombocytopenia were tested and excluded. Bone marrow biopsy was performed in patients with an indication.<sup>9</sup> A platelet count  $\geq$  30,000/ µL or twice the baseline and no signs of bleeding were defined as the response. A platelet count greater than 100x10<sup>9</sup>/L was considered a complete response.<sup>10</sup> The study was approved by Bursa Uludag University's local ethics committee.

#### RESULTS

Ten patients receiving dapsone were previously treated with at least three lines of treatment (steroid, intravenous immunoglobulin, splenectomy, danazol, rituximab, etc.). Splenectomy was the most common treatment in the second line (40%) (Figure 1). The data of 10 patients and their response to dapsone therapy are shown in Table 1. All patients were initiated on steroid therapy as the first-line treatment. Intravenous immunoglobulin was administered to 8 patients who had bleeding or an emergency such as surgery (80%). Although there are treatment options such as cyclosporine, cyclophosphamide, and vincristine for the second-line treatment, these agents were not



Figure 1. Treatments of choice as second-line treatment in patients with chronic/refractory ITP.

administered to the patients. Despite the absence of any side effects, dapsone therapy of one patient was discontinued in a short period of 1.5 months since their platelet count did not increase. Response status could not be evaluated in another patient due to loss of follow-up during dapsone therapy.

Of the patients, eight were female (80%), and two were male (20%). The median age was 50 (range: 24-64) years. The pre-treatment mean haemoglobin and platelet values were 12.6 g/dL (range: 9.1-16.4) and 12.8x10<sup>9</sup>/L (range: 4-22.1), respectively. The median duration of symptoms before dapsone was 60 (range: 6-360) months. The median follow-up period of the patients was 6 (range: 2-29) months (Table 2). The initial admission complaint was bleeding findings (nasal, gingival, and subcutaneous). Severe bleeding findings such as intracranial haemorrhage were not observed in any patients. Asymptomatic anaemia was observed in only 1 (10%) female patient as a side effect during dapsone therapy (from 12.3 g/dL to 8.8 g/dL). This side effect was noted during the routine tests performed during the second week of the treatment.

Seven of the ten patients diagnosed with chronic ITP underwent bone marrow biopsy. Their pathology reports revealed that six patients had increased megakaryocyte count, while one had decreased

L	1		1.	r						
Patient number	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
Age/gender	39/M	55/F	24/F	30/F	50/M	31/F	64/F	60/F	57/F	48/F
Disease duration before dapsone (months)	12	360	168	180	NA	6	60	8	24	84
Previous treatments										
Steroid	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
Immunoglobulin	+	+	+	+	-	+	-	+	+	+
Splenectomy	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	-	+
Danazol	+	-	+	-	+	+	+	+	-	-
Azathioprine	+	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-
Cyclosporine	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cyclophosphamide	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Vincristine	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Rituximab	+	-	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	+
TPO-RA	+	+	+	+	-	-	-	-	+	+
Pre-dapsone platelet count (x10 <sup>9</sup> /L)	10.3	5.15	13.5	13	NA	22.1	15.4	4	17	15.4
Duration of treatment (months)	6	3	17	1.5	NA	6	NA	25	3	24
Response <sup>a</sup>	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	NA	Yes	Yes	Yes
Complete response <sup>b</sup>	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	Yes	NA	No	No	Yes

Table 1. Patients' data and response to dapsone therapy.

a platelet count  ${\geq}30x10^9\!/L$  as response; b platelet count  ${\geq}100x10^9\!/L$  as complete response.

TPO-RA: thrombopoietin receptor agonist; NA: not available.

Table 2. Characteristics of ten patie	nts	on
dapsone.		

uapsone.	
Median age (years)	50 (24-64)
Gender (M/F)	2/8
Hemoglobin (g/dL)	12.6 (9.1-16.4)
Platelet count $(10^9/L)$	12.8 (4-22.1)
Median duration of symptoms before dapsone (months)	60 (6-360)
Median follow-up (months)	6 (2-29)

megakaryocyte count. The median time to respond to dapsone therapy was 39 (range: 14-90) days, and the median duration of treatment was 6 (range: 3-25) months. While six patients responded to dapsone therapy, 4 had a complete response (>10 x109/L). Four of the six patients who had a response developed a relapse in the first six months after discontinuing dapsone therapy, and one patient developed a relapse at 12 months. One patient is currently on dapsone therapy (>25 months). The median duration of response was 3.5 (range: 1-12) months after discontinuing dapsone therapy. Only one patient had a remission period of more than six months after treatment discontinuation (Table 3).

Patient number one was reinitiated on dapsone therapy after relapse. A response was regained with this treatment. The patient, who received dapsone therapy for seven months as the initial treatment and remained in remission for 12 months after treatment discontinuation, was given treatment for the second

#### Table 3. Results of dapsone therapy.

Complete response n (%)	4 (40%)
Response n (%)	6 (60%)
Non-response n (%)	3 (30%)
Not evaluated n (%)	1 (10%)
Relapse n (%)	5 (83.3%)
Time to response (days)	39 (14-90)
Treatment duration (months)	6 (3-25)
Response time after discontinuation of	3.5 (1-12)
dapsone therapy (months)	
Number of patients with sustained response at 6 months after discontinuation of dapsone	1 (10%)

time for 12 months. While the response was maintained during the follow-up of the patient whose treatment was discontinued, the patient developed a soft tissue infection in the surgical site associated with aseptic necrosis of the femoral head and died after two days of follow-up at intensive care due to septic shock secondary to this infection. The patient's dapsone therapy dose, duration, and response are shown in Figure 2.

#### DISCUSSION

The response to dapsone therapy is usually slow. Administering treatment for at least three months is recommended to see the treatment response. Two patients (20%) responded on day 14 and the others on days 39, 45, 70, and 90, respectively. The median response time was 39 (14-90) days. The study by





Table 4. Summary of studio	es on dapsone	therapy in pa	tients with ITP. <sup>1</sup>	5				
Reference number	Durand et al. <sup>15</sup>	Godeau et al. <sup>5</sup>	Hernandez et al. <sup>17</sup>	Godeau et al. <sup>6</sup>	Damodar et al. <sup>13</sup>	Vancine et al. <sup>18</sup>	Zaja et al. <sup>11</sup>	Present
Country	France	France	Spain	France	India	Brazil	Italy	Turkey
Number of patients	5	21	15	99	90	52 <sup>a)</sup>	$20^{b)}$	10
Median age (years)	76	37	58	43	21	38	51	50
	(68-87)	(22-79)	(16-84)	(26-68)	(3-61)	(13-78)	(27 - 74)	(24-64)
Disease duration before dapsone	34	14	29	52	CR: 21 (6-120) PR: 31 (6-84)	R: 6 (1-21) NR: 5 (1-30)	46	60
(months)	(09-9)	(2-240)	(12 - 131)	(3-240)	NR: 25 (6-120)		(3-274)	(6-360)
The median number of	2 (0-4)	2 (1-9)	1 (1-2)	3 (0-10)	NA	NA	NA	4 (3-6)
treatments before dapsone								
Mean platelet count before	36	16	16	23	CR: 18 (1-49) PR: 13 (2-35)	R: 26±14 NR: 18±11	19 (NA)	12.8
dapsone $(x10^{9}/L)$	(23-43)	(2-49)	(7-48)	(2-49)	NR: 10 (2-46)			(4-22.1)
Daily dapsone dose	75 mg	100  mg	$100  \mathrm{mg}$	100 mg	1-2 mg/kg	100 mg	100 mg	100 mg
Median duration of treatment,	14	ŝ	9	R: 13 (1-48)	CR: 13 (3-18) PR: 9 (3-14)	R: 39 (1-91) NR: 3 (1-	9 (4-56)	6 (2-29)
months	(2-48)	(1-11)	(1-31)	NR 3 (1-9)	NR: 6 (3-8)	29)		
Response rate <sup>c</sup> (%)	100	29	40	50	63	44	55	$60^{\rm d}$
Combination therapy	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	No	No	No
<sup>a</sup> Forty patients with a diagnosis of pri-	mary ITP.							
<sup>b</sup> Sixteen patients with a diagnosis of p	primary ITP.							
° A platelet count $\geq 50,000/\mu$ L was con	isidered a response t	o dapsone.						

CR: complete response (>10x10<sup>9</sup>/L), ITP: immune thrombocytopenia, NR: non-responder (<5x10<sup>9</sup>/L), PR: partial response (>10x10<sup>9</sup>/L), R: responder (>5x10<sup>9</sup>/L), NA: not available.

<sup>d</sup> A platelet count  $\geq$  30,000/µL was considered a response to dapsone in our study.<sup>6</sup>

Zaja *et al.*<sup>11</sup> reported a mean time to response of more than one month. While the response to danazol and azathioprine, the other second-line treatment options, is slow, the response to cyclophosphamide, cyclosporine, vincristine, splenectomy, rituximab, and thrombopoietin receptor agonist (TPO RA) eltrombopag is faster.<sup>9</sup>

Anaemia may develop secondary to bleeding in most patients with ITP. Since dapsone will induce hemolytic anaemia in glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) deficiency, the level of the G6PDH enzyme in male patients using this drug is a parameter that should be checked before treatment. In our study, two male patients received dapsone. Although the G6PDH test was not performed before treatment, low haemoglobin levels were not observed in these patients. Dapsone may rarely reduce haemoglobin oxidation by inhibiting the haemoglobin reductase enzyme in erythrocytes. Side effects such as toxic hepatitis, anaemia, and skin lesions may be seen in patients using dapsone.<sup>10</sup> The acceptable safety profile of dapsone has been previously reported in several articles.<sup>9,11-13</sup> Several studies have reported that dapsone is an effective drug regardless of previously used treatments. The study by Zaja et al.<sup>11</sup> in 20 patients reported a response rate of 55% and a complete response rate of 20%, Damodar et al.<sup>13</sup> found a response rate of 61.8% and a complete response rate of 48% in 55 patients, and Colella et al.14 reported a response rate of 66% and a complete response rate of 24% in 122 patients. The results of our study revealed a response rate of 60% and a complete response rate of 40% in 10 patients.

A few studies are performed to determine the duration of response after discontinuation of dapsone therapy. Godeau et al.6 reported that 1 out of 13 patients who responded to dapsone therapy had a sustained response, and Patel *et al.*<sup>10</sup> said that 2 out of 18 patients with treatment response had a sustained response. Zaja et al.11 reported that 1 out of 20 patients who responded to treatment had a sustained response for more than six months after discontinuing the drug. In our study, 1 of the six patients with a response had a more than six months response duration. There is a need for studies with more significant numbers of patients to understand better the response time after discontinuing dapsone therapy. The study published by Lee *et al.*<sup>15</sup> summarised the results of different numbers of patients from other countries diagnosed with chronic ITP and treated with dapsone. All

analyses were conducted with a few patients (Table 4). Table 4 shows that the dapsone dose was generally 100 mg orally in those studies, as in our study. A notable detail in this table is that Godeau *et al.*<sup>6</sup> used dapsone and danazol combination therapy in some non-responders. In the study of Rattanathammethee *et al.*<sup>17</sup>, dapsone was administered with colchicine therapy to patients with chronic/refractory ITP. In the present study, we did not administer a combination therapy to any patient. Moreover, as is seen in this table, a platelet count  $\geq$ 50,000/µL was considered a response to dapsone therapy. We, however, considered a platelet count  $\geq$ 30,000/µL as a response to dapsone.

#### CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, using dapsone as second-line therapy is appealing for several reasons. Among these are its cost-effectiveness and comparable efficacy with other drugs used as second-line treatment options, such as azathioprine, cyclosporine, vinca alkaloids, mycophenolate mofetil, cyclophosphamide, danazol, rituximab, and eltrombopag. Dapsone has a good safety profile and rarely requires discontinuation due to side effects. Discontinuation of dapsone therapy, as with the TPO agonist eltrombopag, leads to relapse in many patients. Although the TPO agonist has a high response rate, its higher cost is a disadvantage. In contrast, the cost of treatment with dapsone is considerably low. Considering the economic status of developing countries, it seems very attractive to be used as second-line therapy for ITP. As an oral agent, dapsone provides an option in cases of ITP with no response after steroid and splenectomy. Considering its tolerability, it should be considered for refractory ITP patients.

#### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### Funding Sources

This research did not receive any financial support from non-profit sector organizations or public or commercial funding agencies.

#### Ethical Approval

Ethics approval was obtained from the noninvasive clinical research ethics committee of the medical faculty (date: 08.12.2021, number: 202118/28). All aspects of the study, including periodical clinical and laboratorial checkups, were performed according to the principles of the declaration of Helsinki (64th, 2013).

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: ÖC, VÖ, TGK; Study Design: ÖC, VÖ, FÖ, TE; Supervision: ÖC, TZT, FÖ; Literature Review: ÖC, VÖ, FÖ, TE; Critical Review: ÖC, FÖ, VÖ; Data Collection and/or Processing: ÖC, FÖ, VÖ, VA; Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: ÖC, VÖ, FÖ, TE; Manuscript preparing: ÖC, VÖ, FÖ.

#### REFERENCES

1. Rodeghiero F, Stasi R, Gernsheimer T, Michel M, Provan D, Arnold DM, Bussel JB, Cines DB, Chong BH, Cooper N, Godeau B, Lechner K, Mazzucconi MG, McMillan R, Sanz MA, Imbach P, Blanchette V, Kühne T, Ruggeri M, George JN. Standardization of terminology, definitions and outcome criteria in immune thrombocytopenic purpura of adults and children: report from an international working group. Blood. 2009 Mar 12;113(11):2386-93. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2008-07-162503.

2. George JN, Woolf SH, Raskob GE, Wasser JS, Aledort LM, Ballem PJ, Blanchette VS, Bussel JB, Cines DB, Kelton JG, Lichtin AE, McMillan R, Okerbloom JA, Regan DH, Warrier I. Idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura: a practice guideline developed by explicit methods for the American Society of Hematology. Blood. 1996 Jul 1;88(1):3-40.

3. Neunert CE. Current management of immune thrombocytopenia. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2013;2013:276-82. doi: 10.1182/ashed-ucation-2013.1.276.

4. Arnold DM. Second-line and subsequent therapies for immune thrombocytopenia (ITP) in adults. Up-ToDate 2023, Apr 21, 2022. Wolters Kluwer. https:// www.uptodate.com/contents/second-line-and-subsequent-therapies-for-immune-thrombocytopenia-itp-in-adults. Accessed on 14 September 2022.

5. Godeau B, Oksenhendler E, Bierling P. Dapsone for autoimmune thrombocytopenic purpura. Am J Hematol. 1993 Sep;44(1):70-2. doi: 10.1002/ajh.2830440117. 6. Godeau B, Durand JM, Roudot-Thoraval F, Tennezé A, Oksenhendler E, Kaplanski G, Schaeffer A, Bierling P. Dapsone for chronic autoimmune thrombocytopenic purpura: a report of 66 cases. Br J Haematol. 1997 May;97(2):336-9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-

#### 2141.1997.412687.x.

7. Dutta TK, Goel A, Ghotekar LH, Hamide A, Badhe BA, Basu D. Dapsone in treatment of chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura in adults. J Assoc Physicians India. 2001 Apr;49:421-5.

8. Hill QA. How does dapsone work in immune thrombocytopenia? Implications for dosing. Blood. 2015 Jun 4;125(23):3666-8. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-03-632000. 9. Provan D, Stasi R, Newland AC, Blanchette VS, Bolton-Maggs P, Bussel JB, Chong BH, Cines DB, Gernsheimer TB, Godeau B, Grainger J, Greer I, Hunt BJ, Imbach PA, Lyons G, McMillan R, Rodeghiero F, Sanz MA, Tarantino M, Watson S, Young J, Kuter DJ. International consensus report on the investigation and management of primary immune thrombocytopenia. Blood. 2010 Jan 14;115(2):168-86. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2009-06-225565.

10. Patel AP, Patil AS. Dapsone for immune thrombocytopenic purpura in children and adults. Platelets. 2015;26(2):164-7. doi: 10.3109/09537104.2014.886677. 11. Zaja F, Marin L, Chiozzotto M, Puglisi S, Volpetti S, Fanin R. Dapsone salvage therapy for adult patients with immune thrombocytopenia relapsed or refractory to steroid and rituximab. Am J Hematol. 2012 Mar;87(3):321-3. doi: 10.1002/ajh.22266.

12. Varghese L, Viswabandya A, Mathew AJ. Dapsone, danazol, and intrapartum splenectomy in refractory ITP complicating pregnancy. Indian J Med Sci. 2008 Nov;62(11):452-5.

13. Damodar S, Viswabandya A, George B, Mathews V, Chandy M, Srivastava A. Dapsone for chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura in children and adults--a report on 90 patients. Eur J Haematol. 2005 Oct;75(4):328-31. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0609.2005.00545.x.

14. Colella MP, Orsi FA, Alves ECF, Delmoro GF, Yamaguti-Hayakawa GG, de Paula EV, Annichino-Bizzacchi JM. A retrospective analysis of 122 immune thrombocytopenia patients treated with dapsone: Efficacy, safety and factors associated with treatment response. J Thromb Haemost. 2021 Sep;19(9):2275-2286. doi: 10.1111/jth.15396.

15. Lee JY, Lee JO, Jung JY, Bang SM. Dapsone therapy for refractory immune thrombocytopenia patients: a case series. Blood Res. 2017 Jun;52(2):95-9. doi: 10.5045/br.2017.52.2.95.

16. Rattanathammethee T, Theerajangkhaphichai W, Rattarittamrong E, Hantrakool S, Chai-Adisaksopha C, Norasetthada L, Tantiworawit A. The efficacy of colchicine and dapsone combination therapy in relapsed immune thrombocytopenia. Hematol Rep. 2017 Feb 23;9(1):7034. doi: 10.4081/hr.2017.7034.

17. Hernández F, Linares M, Colomina P, Pastor E, Cerveró A, Pérez A, Perella M. Dapsone for refractory chronic idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. Br J Haematol. 1995 Jun;90(2):473-5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1995.tb05179.x.

18. Vancine-Califani SM, De Paula EV, Ozelo MC, Orsi FL, Fabri DR, Annichino-Bizzacchi JM. Efficacy and safety of dapsone as a second-line treatment in non-splenectomized adults with immune thrombocytopenic purpura. Platelets. 2008 Nov;19(7):489-95. doi: 10.1080/09537100802315110.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



**TURKISH JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE** 

**Original** Article

# What is the main reason of erectile dysfunction in lymphoma patients: Chemotherapy or Depression?

Cumali YALÇIN<sup>1</sup>  $\bigcirc$  , Aslan ERDOĞAN<sup>2</sup>  $\bigcirc$  , Güven YILMAZ<sup>3</sup>  $\bigcirc$ 

<sup>1</sup>Division of Hematology, Department of Internal Medicine, Uludag University Faculty of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Cardiology, Başakşehir Çam and Sakura City Hospital, Başakşehir, İstanbul, Turkey <sup>3</sup>Clinic of Hematology, Kartal Dr. Lütfi Kırdar City Hospital, İstanbul, Turkey

## **ABSTRACT**

Background Erectile dysfunction (ED) may be associated with chemotherapy and depression in lymphoma patients. The role of depression in developing ED in lymphoma patients may be more critical than chemotherapy. This study aimed to determine which plays a more important role in ED.

Material and Methods This study included 20 patients aged under 60 years who were admitted to the Hematology Outpatient Clinic between March 2015 and March 2016 and diagnosed with lymphoma. While the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) was used to assess depression severity before (T1), during (T2) and after (T3) chemotherapy, the International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) was used to assess sexual function. The Mann-Whitney U and Wilcoxon signed-rank tests were used for statistical analysis. A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results Twenty male lymphoma patients (14 [70%] patients with non-Hodgkin lymphoma and 6 [30%] patients with Hodgkin lymphoma) were included in the study. The mean BDI score was 11.75±1.44 at T1, 6.60±3.61 at T2, and 3.25±2.12 at T3, respectively (p<0.01). The mean IIEF score was 15.25±6.12 at T1, 12.95±6.03 at T2, and 20.40±8.59 at T3, respectively (p<0.01). There was a significant decrease in the mean BDI and IIEF scores between T1 and T2. However, the mean BDI score decreased between T2 and T3, while the mean IIEF score tended to increase.

*Conclusions* It is impossible to suggest a single cause when considering the multifactorial aetiology of ED in lymphoma patients. However, our study showed that depression and related psychological factors are the leading cause of ED in lymphoma patients.

> Turk J Int Med 2023:5(2);77-83 DOI: 10.46310/tjim.1210699

*Keywords: Erectile dysfunction, depression, chemotherapy.* 



Received: November 30, 2022; Accepted: March 15, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

Address for Correspondence: Cumali Yalçın, MD,

Uludag University Faculty of Medicine, Görükle Campus 16059 Nilüfer, Bursa, Turkey Email: doktorcumali@hotmail.com



#### **INTRODUCTION**

Erectile dysfunction (ED) is the persistent and/or recurrent inability to achieve and/or maintain an erection sufficient for satisfactory sexual activity.<sup>1</sup> Akkus *et al.*<sup>2</sup> reported that the prevalence of ED was 69.2% in 1,982 male individuals from Turkey (mild 33.2%, moderate 27.5%, severe 8.5%). They found that its prevalence was 7.6% in men aged 40-49 years, 33.3% in men aged 50-59 years, 70.2% in men aged 60-69 years, and 90.1% in men aged 70 years and older.<sup>2</sup>

ED is divided into organic and psychogenic impotence and usually has a multifactorial aetiology. While the prevalence of psychogenic ED is approximately 10% in men over 50 years, 45% of all patients with ED have psychogenic problems.<sup>3</sup> Psychogenic causes may include emotional problems (such as depression, anxiety, previous sexual traumatic experiences, low self-esteem, doubts in the sexual role), physical disabilities or loss of physical attraction to one's sexual partner, as well as socioeconomic factors (such as familial discordance or cultural differences, sexual myths or work-related stress).<sup>3,4</sup> The lifetime prevalence of major depression in the general population has been reported as 4.8-17.1%.5 It is difficult to identify and distinguish the relationship between ED and depression. It is not clear whether depression leads to ED or vice versa. A Finnish study involving 1683 patients aged 50-70 years who were treated for depression and not treated found a strong relationship between depression and ED.6

Combining adriamycin, bleomycin, vinblastine, and dacarbazine (ABVD) is the most commonly used chemotherapy regime for Hodgkin lymphoma (HL). Neutropenia is the most common complication after the ABVD chemotherapy regimen.<sup>7</sup> Rituximab plus cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone (R-CHOP) or rituximab plus cyclophosphamide, vincristine, and prednisone (R-CVP) chemotherapy regimens are first-line treatment for non-Hodgkin lymphoma (NHL). Complications of peripheral neuropathy/paresthesia occur in patients treated with vincristine.<sup>8</sup>

Drug-induced ED is very common. Several studies have reported its average incidence as 25%.<sup>9</sup> Chemotherapeutic drugs may cause a loss of sexual desire and a decline in the frequency of sexual intercourse.<sup>10</sup> Systemic side effects (such as fatigue, nausea, vomiting, taste and smell changes, diarrhoea, constipation, weight changes, insomnia, fear, anxiety, and stomatitis) after chemotherapy can lead to an individual to feel like asexual. Erectile dysfunction occurs predominantly in patients receiving chemotherapeutic agents (especially cyclophosphamide, chlorambucil, bleomycin and cisplatin).<sup>11</sup> This study aimed to determine which factor plays a more important role in ED in young lymphoma patients under 60 years.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS Study design and population

This study included 20 patients aged 25-60 admitted to the Haematology Outpatient Clinic of Dr Lütfi Kırdar Kartal Training and Research Hospital between March 2015 and March 2016 and diagnosed with lymphoma. ED was evaluated cross-sectionally. All patients enrolled in the study were married or had a regular sexual life, were at least primary school graduates, and could read and understand the survey questions. In addition, patients who had previously been diagnosed with ED had diseases leading to ED and had depression previously were excluded from the study. While the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) was used to assess depression severity before (T1), during (T2) and after (T3) chemotherapy, the International Index of Erectile Function (IIEF) was used to assess sexual function. ED was evaluated by IIEF scores: 0-10 (severe), 11-16 (moderate), 17-21 (mild-to-moderate), 22-25 (mild) and 26-30 (none). Patients whose lymphomas did not improve or progress at T2 were excluded from the study. A physician recorded the answers during face-to-face interviews. A haematologist performed the medical follow-up of patients, and their information was recorded in the study file.

#### Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with the Number Cruncher Statistical System (NCSS) 2007 statistical software program (NCSS, LLC, Kaysville, Utah, USA). Descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, median, frequency, rate) were used to summarize the data. When analyzing non-normally distributed variables, the Mann-Whitney U test was used for intergroup comparisons, whereas the Wilcoxon signed-rank test was used for intragroup comparisons. A p - value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

Twenty male lymphoma patients (14 [70%] patients with NHL and 6 [30%] patients with HL) were included in the study. The mean age was  $46.90 \pm$ 10.56 years. The number of patients aged under 50

	Mean ± SD/median (min:max)
Mean age (years)	$46.90 \pm 10.56/50.5\;(26\text{-}59)$
Disease duration (years)	$1.60 \pm 3.10/0 \ (0-10)$
Smoking duration (years)	$26.00 \pm 16.43/25 \ (0\text{-}60)$
Age groups (< 50/> 50 years) n (%)	10 (50)/10 (50)
Marital status (married) n (%)	20 (100)
Smoking (no/yes) n (%)	3 (15)/17 (85)
Alcohol consumption n (%)	20 (100)
Occupation n (%)	
Officer	3 (15)
Worker	12 (60)
Self-employed	5 (25)
Education n (%)	
Primary school	10 (50)
Secondary school	3 (15)
High school	6 (30)
University	1 (5)
Additional disease n (%)	6 (30)
Drug intake n (%)	6 (30)
Non-Hodgkin/Hodgkin lymphoma n (%)	14 (70)/6 (30)
Stage 1-2/Stage 3-4 n (%)	9 (45)/11 (55)

#### Table 1. Sociodemographic and clinical data of patients.

years was 10 (50%). NHL groups included eight diffuse large B-cell lymphomas, two T-cell-rich B-cell lymphomas, one mantle-cell lymphoma, one follicular lymphoma, one primary mediastinal large B-cell lymphoma, and one marginal zone lymphoma, respectively. ABVD chemotherapy regimens had been received with HL patients. R-CHOP, R-CVP, dose-adjusted EPOCH-R (etoposide, prednisone, vincristine, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and rituximab) chemotherapy regimens had received with NHL patients. The median number of chemotherapy cycles was 6 (range: 4-6) for HL groups and 6 (range: 2-8) for NHL groups. While 10 (50%) patients graduated from primary school, only 1 (5%) graduated from university. All the patients were married-smoking at diagnosis (85%). Abdominal bulky lesions and testicular mass were not observed in the pre-treatment evaluation. Grade 3 neutropenia was seen in 1 patient with HL groups. Vincristine was discontinued in 1 patient with peripheral neuropathy in NHL groups. Of them, 9







Figure 2. Evaluation of IIEF scores according to follow-ups.

(45%) had early-stage cancer (Stage 1-2), and 11 (55%) had advanced-stage cancer (Stage 3-4) (Table 1).

Comorbidities were three patients with essential hypertension, two patients with diabetes mellitus, and one patient with asthma. Only one of the patients with hypertension used a selective beta-1-blocker (atenolol). Patients with diabetes mellitus were used metformin. Age, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, smoking history, and disease stage distribution were similar in both groups.

The mean BDI score was  $11.75 \pm 1.44$  at T1, 6.60  $\pm$  3.61 at T2, and  $3.25 \pm 2.12$  at T3, respectively (p < 0.01). The mean BDI score significantly decreased from T1 to T2 (p = 0.001; p < 0.01) and from T2 to T3 (p = 0.001; p < 0.01) (Figure 1). The mean IIEF score was  $15.25 \pm 6.12$  at T1,  $12.95 \pm 6.03$  at T2, and  $20.40 \pm 8.59$  at T3, respectively (p < 0.01). The mean IIEF score significantly decreased from T1 to T2 (p = 0.009; p < 0.01). However, the mean IIEF score significantly increased from T1 to T3 (p = 0.002; p < 0.01) and from T2 to T3 (p = 0.001; p < 0.01) (Figure 2).

IIEF measurements at T1 (p = 0.191), T2 (p = 0.256) and T3 (p = 0.161) did not show statistically significant differences according to age groups. In cases under 50, the mean decrease of  $2.20 \pm 3.26$  in IIEF measurements from T1 to T2 was statistically significant (p =0.042; p < 0.05). The mean increase of  $5.20 \pm 4.02$  in IIEF measurements from T1 to T3 was statistically significant (p = 0.009; p < 0.01). The mean increase of  $7.40 \pm 5.46$  in IIEF measurements from T2 to T3 was found to be statistically significant (p = 0.007; p <0.01) (Table 2). In cases over 50 years of age, the mean decrease of  $2.40 \pm 4.09$  in IIEF measurements from T1 to T2 was not found to be statistically significant (p = 0.068; p > 0.05). The mean increase of  $5.10 \pm 6.77$ in IIEF measurements from T1 to T3 was statistically significant at borderline (p = 0.050; p < 0.05). The mean increase of 7.50 ± 8.24 in IIEF measurements from T2 to T3 was found to be statistically significant (p = 0.022; p < 0.05) (Table 2).

#### DISCUSSION

Although ED is not life-threatening, it negatively affects the quality of life. The survival of HL and NHL is significantly prolonged by current treatments.<sup>12,13</sup> Mental disorders such as anxiety and depression caused by lymphoma and chemotherapy are frequently seen in lymphoma patients, similar to all cancer patients.<sup>14</sup> Kornblith *et al.*<sup>15</sup> reported that male patients with HL had more frequent and longer-lasting sexual problems than leukaemia patients of similar age. However, it should be noted that approximately half of the patients in this study received radiotherapy and that radiotherapy was one of the reasons. In our study, patients were newly diagnosed and did not receive radiotherapy since it is less frequently indicated in current treatment guidelines.

Predictably, lymphoma patients have increased rates of psychological problems (especially depression).<sup>15,16</sup> It is usual to experience anxiety in this period when negative emotions such as stressful thoughts of everyday life and fear of death are predominant. Our study found that patients had higher depression scores at the first assessment. There was a significant decrease in depression scores at the mid-term evaluation (usually after 3 or 4 cycles of chemotherapy) in patients receiving treatment. This can be explained by the fact that 17 of 20 patients in our study were informed that lymphoma responds well to treatment and is likely to improve. It was observed that depression scores continued to decrease during follow-up and reached their lowest value at the end of the treat-

	Age <50 (n: 10)	Ι	Age >50 (n: 10)	P value		
	Mean $\pm$ SD (median)	Me	an $\pm$ SD (median)			
T1 IIEF	$16.80 \pm 6.94$ (19.5)	13	$.70 \pm 5.05 (15.5)$	0.197ª		
T2 IIEF	$14.60 \pm 6.20 \ (15.0)$	11	$.30 \pm 5.68 \ (11.0)$	0.256ª		
T3 IIEF	$22.00 \pm 9.26$ (26.0)	$18.80 \pm 8.02 \ (21.0)$		0.161ª		
Pairwise comparisons	Difference mean $\pm$ SD	P value	Difference mean $\pm$ SD			
T1-T2	$2.20\pm3.26$	0.042* <sup>b</sup>	$2.40\pm4.09$	$0.068^{b}$		
T1-T3	$-5.20 \pm 4.02$	0.009** <sup>b</sup>	$-5.10 \pm 6.77$	0.050* <sup>b</sup>		
T2-T3	$-7.40 \pm 5.46$	0.007** <sup>b</sup>	$-7.50 \pm 8.24$	0.022* <sup>b</sup>		

Table 2. Evaluation of IIEF measurements according to age groups.

IIEF T1: before chemotherapy, T2: during chemotherapy, T3: after chemotherapy.

<sup>a</sup>Mann-Whitney U test, <sup>b</sup> Wilcoxon signed-rank test (adjustment for Bonferroni).

ment. The fact that psychological fear and anxiety experienced by patients at the time of initial diagnosis significantly decreased and partially disappeared is mainly responsible for this. Previous studies demonstrated that psychological problems improved during long-term follow-up after treatment and that chronic fatigue and aesthetic concerns/social issues related to physical changes continued.<sup>17,18</sup> No such evaluation was performed in our study. Long-term follow-up was not planned because our study was a cross-sectional study.

Alkylating drugs are known to cause germ cell damage with the dose increase. Cyclophosphamide (total dose > 6-10 g), chlorambucil, procarbazine, busulfan, nitrogen mustard, and nitrosoureas have been shown to cause azoospermia. Testicular atrophy occurs in 80% of HL patients receiving the MOPP (nitrogen mustard, vincristine, procarbazine, and prednisone) treatment regimen. Reversible azoospermia was reported in 35% of HL patients receiving the ABVD treatment regimen.<sup>19</sup>

Considering the pathogenesis and aetiology of ED, the frequency of ED is expected to increase over time because the negative effects of the disease and treatment would occur over time. The leading causes are the accumulation of chemotherapeutic drugs (such as anthracycline and bleomycin) in the body over time, increased side effects, and treatment-related fatigue and strength loss. In our study, ED scores decreased at the mid-term assessment (indicating that the frequency and severity of ED were increased). This increase was in contrast with the improvement in depression. However, depression scores continued to decrease after the mid-term assessment, while ED scores tended to increase (indicating that the frequency and severity of ED decreased). This decrease was found to be higher than expected. Our results showed that ED seen during treatment often have a psychological origin and are not organic. Long-term follow-up studies revealed that sexual disorders (particularly chronic fatigue) increased over time.16-18

Depression decreases significantly during treatment in lymphoma patients, whereas ED shows a slight increase in the early stage of treatment. However, depression decreased after the mid-term assessment while ED improved. The most important reason for this is that patients were informed about the improvement in lymphoma at the mid-term evaluation, and the psychological effects of this situation appeared immediately. It is known that there are organic and psychogenic causes in the aetiology of ED and that psychogenic ED may occur acutely and improve in a short time.<sup>20</sup>

The frequency of ED increases with age. This is explained by decreased testosterone levels, increased frequency of chronic diseases, and atherosclerosis.<sup>21</sup> Because our patients were generally concentrated within a certain age range, a statistical analysis was performed as under and over 50. As a result, it was observed that the age range did not reveal a significant difference for both depression and ED.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Maintaining the quality of life during treatment in male lymphoma patients is very important. Sexual life is considerable, especially in young patients and is one of the main factors determining the quality of life. Therefore, it is necessary to provide support and treatment for these patients to have a healthy sex life during the treatment period. Erectile function is essential for a healthy sexual life. The correct identification of ED causes is the basis of the treatment in these patients. It is impossible to suggest a single cause when considering the multifactorial aetiology of ED in lymphoma patients. However, our study showed that depression and related psychological factors are the leading cause of ED in lymphoma patients. Organic causes are often put forward in the long-term follow. These patients should be closely monitored psychologically during treatment and evaluated in detail for anxiety and depression. Starting pharmacological or psychological treatment based on this evaluation and maintaining the chemotherapy process with this support would significantly improve quality of life.

#### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

#### Funding Sources

This research did not receive any financial support from non-profit sector organizations or public or commercial funding agencies.

#### Ethical Approval

This study was approved by Dr Lütfi Kırdar Kartal Training and Research Hospital ethics committee (Decision number: 514/87/11 dated 29.06.2019). All male patients who participated in the study signed a consent form.

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: GY, CY,; Study Design: GY, CY,; Literature Review: CY,; Critical Review: GY, CY,; Data Collection and/or Processing: CY, AE,; Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: CY, AE,; Manuscript preparing: CY.

#### REFERENCES

1. NIH Consensus Conference. Impotence. NIH Consensus Development Panel on Impotence. JAMA. 1993 Jul 7;270(1):83-90.

2. Akkus E, Kadioglu A, Esen A, Doran S, Ergen A, Anafarta K, Hattat H; Turkish Erectile Dysfunction Prevalence Study Group. Prevalence and correlates of erectile dysfunction in Turkey: a population-based study. Eur Urol. 2002 Mar;41(3):298-304. doi: 10.1016/s0302-2838(02)00027-1.

3. DeLay KJ, Haney N, Hellstrom WJ. Modifying risk factors in the management of erectile dysfunction: A review. World J Mens Health. 2016 Aug;34(2):89-100. doi: 10.5534/wjmh.2016.34.2.89.

4. Shamloul R, Ghanem H. Erectile dysfunction. Lancet. 2013 Jan 12;381(9861):153-65. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60520-0.

5. Kessler RC, McGonagle KA, Zhao S, Nelson CB, Hughes M, Eshleman S, Wittchen HU, Kendler KS. Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III-R psychiatric disorders in the United States. Results from the National Comorbidity Survey. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1994 Jan;51(1):8-19. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1994.03950010008002.

6. Shiri R, Koskimäki J, Tammela TL, Häkkinen J, Auvinen A, Hakama M. Bidirectional relationship between depression and erectile dysfunction. J Urol. 2007 Feb;177(2):669-73. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2006.09.030.

7. Nangalia J, Smith H, Wimperis JZ. Isolated neutropenia during ABVD chemotherapy for Hodgkin lymphoma does not require growth factor support. Leuk Lymphoma. 2008 Aug;49(8):1530-6. doi: 10.1080/10428190802210718.

8. Flinn IW, van der Jagt R, Kahl BS, Wood P, Hawkins TE, Macdonald D, Hertzberg M, Kwan YL, Simpson D, Craig M, Kolibaba K, Issa S, Clementi R, Hallman DM, Munteanu M, Chen L, Burke JM. Randomized trial of bendamustine-rituximab or R-CHOP/R-CVP in first-line treatment of indolent NHL or MCL: the BRIGHT study. Blood. 2014 May 8;123(19):2944-52.

doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-11-531327.

9. Ricci E, Parazzini F, Mirone V, Imbimbo C, Palmieri A, Bortolotti A, Di Cintio E, Landoni M, Lavezzari M. Current drug use as risk factor for erectile dysfunction: results from an Italian epidemiological study. Int J Impot Res. 2003 Jun;15(3):221-4. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijir.3901008.

10. Brændengen M, Tveit KM, Bruheim K, Cvancarova M, Berglund Å, Glimelius B. Late patient-reported toxicity after preoperative radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy in nonresectable rectal cancer: results from a randomized Phase III study. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2011 Nov 15;81(4):1017-24. doi: 10.1016/j. ijrobp.2010.07.007.

11. Dean RC, Lue TF. Physiology of penile erection and pathophysology of erectile dysfunction. Urol Clin North Am. 2005 Nov;32(4):379-95, v. doi: 10.1016/j. ucl.2005.08.007.

12. Peltier A, van Velthoven R, Roumeguère T. Current mamagement of erectile dysfunction after cancer treatment. Curr Opin Oncol. 2009 Jul;21(4):303-9. doi: 10.1097/CCO.0b013e32832b9d76.

13. Chatterjee R, Andrews HO, McGarrigle HH, Kottaridis PD, Lees WR, Mackinnon S, Ralph DJ, Goldstone AH. Cavernosal arterial insufficiency is a major component of erectile dysfunction in some recipients of high-dose chemotherapy/chemo-radio-therapy for haematological malignancies. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2000 Jun;25(11):1185-9. doi: 10.1038/ sj.bmt.1702391.

14. Zhang MF, Wen YS, Liu WY, Peng LF, Wu XD, Liu QW. Effectiveness of mindfulness-based therapy for reducing anxiety and depression in patients with cancer: A meta-analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2015 Nov;94(45):e0897-0. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000000897.

15. Kornblith AB, Herndon JE 2nd, Zuckerman E, Cella DF, Cherin E, Wolchok S, Weiss RB, Diehl LF, Henderson E, Cooper MR, Schiffer C, Canellos GP, Mayer RJ, Silver RT, Schilling A, Peterson BA, Greenberg D, Holland JC. Comparison of psychosocial adaptation of advanced stage Hodgkin's disease and acute leukemia survivors. Cancer and Leukemia Group B. Ann Oncol. 1998 Mar;9(3):297-306. doi: 10.1023/a:1008297130258.

16. Fobair P, Hoppe RT, Bloom J, Cox R, Varghese A, Spiegel D. Psychosocial problems among survivors of Hodgkin's disease. J Clin Oncol. 1986 May;4(5):805-14. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1986.4.5.805.

17. Galbraith ME, Crighton F. Alterations of sexual

function in men with cancer. Semin Oncol Nurs. 2008 May;24(2):102-14. doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2008.02.010.

18. Syrjala KL, Kurland BF, Abrams JR, Sanders JE, Heiman JR. Sexual function changes during the 5 years after high-dose treatment and hematopoietic cell transplantation for malignancy, with case-matched controls at 5 years. Blood. 2008 Feb 1;111(3):989-96. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-06-096594.

19. Puscheck E, Philip PA, Jeyendran RS. Male fertility preservation and cancer treatment. Cancer Treat Rev. 2004 Apr;30(2):173-80. doi: 10.1016/j. ctrv.2003.07.005.

20. Howell SJ, Radford JA, Smets EM, Shalet SM. Fatigue, sexual function and mood following treatment for haematological malignancy: the impact of mild Leydig cell dysfunction. Br J Cancer. 2000 Feb;82(4):789-93. doi: 10.1054/bjoc.1999.1000.

21. Rajfer J. Relationship between testosterone and erectile dysfunction. Rev Urol. 2000 Spring;2(2):122-8.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



# **Evaluation of Hearing and Auditory Pathways in Fabry Disease Patients**

Fethi YÖNET<sup>1</sup>, İsmail BALOĞLU<sup>2</sup>, Çiğdem KUCUR YÖNET<sup>3</sup>, Mehmet Akif DÜNDAR<sup>4</sup>, Hakan OZER<sup>5</sup>, Yasin ÖZTÜRK<sup>5</sup>, Kültigin TÜRKMEN<sup>2</sup>,

<sup>1</sup>Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine, Necmettin Erbakan University, Konya Turkey <sup>2</sup>Department of Nephrology, Necmettin Erbakan University Meram School of Medicine, Konya Turkey

<sup>3</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Konya City Hospital, Konya Turkey

<sup>4</sup>Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram School of Medicine, Konya, Turkey

<sup>5</sup>Department of Nephrology, Meram School of Medicine, Necmettin Erbakan University, Konya, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

*Background* Hearing and the auditory pathway are affected in Fabry diseases (FD). There is limited data on hearing and auditory pathways in this population. Therefore, we aimed to investigate auditory functions and auditory pathways using auditory brainstem responses (ABR), otoacoustic distortion emission (DPOAE), pure tone audiometry (PTA), and tympanometry in patients with FD and to compare these results with those of healthy individuals.

*Material and Methods* This study included 16 patients with FD (F/M: 8/8, age:  $33.5 \pm 15.4$  years) and 16 healthy controls (F/M: 5/11, age:  $33.6 \pm 6.3$  years). Hearing functions and auditory pathways were assessed with ABR, DPOAE, PTA, and tympanometry.

**Results** According to the results of PTA, conductive hearing loss was detected in 4 (25%) of the patients with FD. When the 500-4,000 Hz frequencies were assessed, the bone pathway hearing threshold in both ears was significantly higher in the patients with FD than in the control group (p = 0.014 and p = 0.014, respectively). When we compared the DPOAE measurements of the patients with FD and the control groups, the dB value measured at 2.8 kHz was significantly lower in the patient group than in the control group (p = 0.018). When we compared the ABR measurements, the right ear's 3-5 interpeak latency at 60 dB was significantly lower in the patient with FD than in the control group ( $1.8 \pm 0.3 \text{ ms vs } 2 \pm 0.2 \text{ ms}, p = 0.033$ ).

*Conclusions* We found that the hearing loss rate and hearing threshold were statistically significantly higher in FD patients than in the control group. Hearing screening should be systematically performed in these patients.

*Turk J Int Med 2023:5(2);84-91* DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1209122</u>

Keywords: Fabry disease, hearing, auditory pathways.



Received: November 25, 2022; Accepted: January 29, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

Address for Correspondence: Fethi Yonet, M.D. Division of Nephrology, Department of Internal Medicine, Necmettin Erbakan University, Konya, Turkey E-mail: dr.fyonet@gmail.com



#### **INTRODUCTION**

The most common diseases among lysosomal storage diseases are Gaucher and Fabry diseases. The disease results from the deposition of globotriaosylceramide (Gb3) in various tissues due to insufficiency of the enzyme  $\alpha$ -galactosidase A. Numerous signs of the disease may occur due to the deposition of Gb-3 in autonomic and spinal ganglia, renal tubulointerstitial cells and, renal glomerular, vascular smooth muscle cells, cardiac myocytes, vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells in the cornea.<sup>1</sup> Early clinical manifestations of the disease include hypohidrosis, gastrointestinal symptoms (GIS), angiokeratomas, distal joint pain, and tinnitus. The most important predictor of the likelihood of developing Fabry-related complications is enzyme activity.<sup>2</sup> However, even if distinctive signs and symptoms occur, there is a significant delay in diagnosis up to 20 years from the onset of symptoms. This is probably due to a lack of awareness and the wide range of clinical manifestations, especially in women.<sup>3,4</sup> Therefore, recognizing the signs and symptoms of Fabry disease (FD) is closely associated with disease awareness among paediatricians, pediatric metabolic specialists, pediatric geneticists, cardiologists, neurologists, dermatologists, nephrologists, trained pathologists, and ophthalmologists. In particular, after diagnosis, it is possible to change the disease's natural course and progression and improve patients' quality of life through treatment.<sup>5,6</sup> Nowadays, there is no curative treatment for FD. Recombinant α-Gal A and migalastat are treatment options for suitable patients.7

Patients with FD experience progressive hearing problems. These hearing problems, especially hearing loss, may develop gradually or occur suddenly. Symptomatic hearing loss happens in %18-55 of patients with FD, but sudden hearing loss occurs in %6-36 and tinnitus in %17-53 of patients. Typically, it is observed more frequently and to a greater extent in male FD patients. Recent studies have shown that the developing hearing loss in these patients is predominantly sensorineural.8 However, this population has limited data on hearing and auditory pathways. Therefore, we aimed to investigate auditory functions and auditory pathways using auditory brainstem responses (ABR), pure tone audiometry (PTA), otoacoustic distortion emission (DPOAE), and tympanometry in patients with FD and to compare these results with those of healthy individuals.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

The protocol of the study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Necmettin Erbakan University (NEU) (Faculty of Medicine, Konya, Turkey). The patients and healthy volunteers signed the written informed consent. This study included 16 patients with FD (F/M: 8/8, age:  $33.5 \pm 15.4$  years) and 16 healthy controls (F/M: 5/11, age:  $33.6 \pm 6.3$ years). In addition, we categorised patients according to whether they received treatment. Patient's medical records (information on patients' age, medications taken, duration and course of disease, and otologic history) were reviewed. Inclusion criteria were 1) 18-70 years of age, 2) decreased (< 2.5 nmol/mL/hour )  $\alpha$ -gal-A activity in dried blood spots (DBS) in male patients, and 3) presence of GLA gene mutation associated with FD in female patients.

The screening of FD was performed by assessing  $\alpha$ -gal-A activity < 2.5 nmol/mL/hour in DBS and was confirmed by GLA gene mutation analysis. The criteria for the diagnosis of FD were  $\alpha$ -gal-A activity < 2.5 nmol/mL/hour in male patients and a genetic mutation associated with FD in female patients. The screening of FD was performed by assessing α-Gal A activity in dried blood spots (DBS) and was confirmed by GLA gene mutation analysis. GLA gene was sequenced using the MiSeq next-generation sequencing (NGS) platform, an FDA-approved diagnostic system (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Plasma lyso-Gb3 levels were measured via tandem mass spectrometry method from DBS before ERT at the beginning and end of the study. Diagnostic procedures have been rearranged by adding them to the material method section.

A complete oto-rhino-larygologic examination was performed on all participants. Otologic history was obtained from all patients, including inherited deafness, otologic symptoms, otologic trauma or surgery, use of ototoxic agents, and noise exposure. All patients underwent otoscopy. None of the patients was found to have comorbidities related to otolaryngology in their history or on examination. Our patients had no middle ear problem, and no issues were found in the external auditory meatus and inner ears in the otolaryngologic test. In addition, otolaryngologic anamnesis and history showed no abnormality in their ears. Hearing functions and auditory pathways were assessed with ABR (Eclipse Interacoustics), DPOAE (Otodynamics Echoport ILO 288 USB), PTA (Interacoustics AC33 Audiometer), and tympanometry (Interacoustics AT235). Tympanograms of all patients were also found to be Type A-Normal.

Air conduction and bone conduction hearing thresholds were calculated for each ear using a 5-dB stepwise method at 250, 500, 1000, 2000, 4000, and 8000 kHz. The severity of hearing loss was determined as PTA for 0.5, 1, 2, and 4 kHz. In addition, a high-frequency hearing loss (hFhl) was considered at 4 and 8 kHz to assess the inner ear's involvement better.

ABR measurements were performed on both ears separately with single-channel electrode placement. While subjects were in the supine position, measurements were made in the alternate mode, 1200 sweep, 11.7 rates, and click stimulus. Stimulus intensities used were 60 dBnHL, 40 dBnHL, 20 dBnHL, and 10 dBnHL. The amplitudes of the I./III./V. waves, the latencies of the I./III./V. waves and the latencies of the I-III/I-V/III-V interpeak were recorded.

During DPOAE measurements, the frequency density within the stimulus was determined as L1 (65 dB-SPL) for frequency f1 and L2 (55 dB-SPL) for frequency f2. The DPOAE results were recorded twice for each frequency, 1000, 1500, 2000, 3000, 4000, 6000, and 8000 Hz. In the DPOAE results, the "sig-

nal-to-noise ratio" (SNR) values determined for each frequency are read from the table generated by the test system.

Venous blood samples were collected for biochemical analysis without ingestion of drugs and after at least 10 hours of fasting. Biochemical analyzes were performed at the Central Biochemical Laboratory of our hospital NEU Meram Faculty of Medicine. Analyzes were performed using the oxidase-based technique with a modular system from Roche and Hitachi (Mannheim, Germany).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Windows version 12.0 (SPSS Inc. Chicago/Illinois/USA) was used to analyse clinical and experimental data. Descriptive statistics were determined for each variable individually. Numeric or categorical variables were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation and number per cent. Whether or not the data were normally distributed was examined using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Parametric statistics (t-test for independent samples) and nonparametric statistics (Mann-Whitney U test) were used for continuous variables. Fisher's Exact and Chi-square tests were used to compare categorical data between independent groups. A *p* - value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Table 1. Demographic, clinic and biochemical features of the patients with FD and healthy subjects.

Parameters	Patients with Fabry disease	Healthy subjects	P value
	(n: 16)	(n: 16)	
Gender (F/M)	8/8	5/11	0.280
Age (years)	$33.5 \pm 15.4$	$33.6\pm6.3$	0.976
eGFR (mL/min)	$108.3\pm49.9$	$103.9\pm13.3$	0.736
Glucose (mg/dL)	$89.3 \pm 6.3$	$91\pm8.3$	0.530
Urea (mg/dL)	$29.6\pm18.1$	$27.1\pm7.3$	0.509
Creatinine (mg/dL)	$1.2 \pm 1.9$	$0.8\pm0.1$	0.203
Sodium (mmol/L)	$139.3\pm1.8$	$139.1\pm1.8$	0.703
Potassium (mmol/L)	$4.6 \pm 0.4$	$4.3\pm0.3$	0.029
Total protein (g/L)	$68.9 \pm 3.8$	$72.4\pm3$	0.008
Albumin (g/L)	$42.9 \pm 4.1$	$46.7\pm2.8$	0.005
AST (U/L)	$16.2 \pm 3.5$	$20.9 \pm 12.1$	0.749
ALT (U/L)	$13.8 \pm 7.1$	$28.1\pm20$	0.001
CRP (mg/dL)	$2.5\pm3.9$	$3.4\pm3.6$	0.118
Protein/creatinine ratio in spot urine (mg/dL)	$741.1\pm1329$	$88.1 \pm 38.6$	< 0.001
White blood cell count $(10^3/\text{uL})$	$7.4 \pm 1.3$	$8.3\pm1.6$	0.100
Neutrophil count (10 <sup>3</sup> /uL)	$4.3 \pm 1.1$	$4.4\pm1.2$	0.755
Lymphocyte count $(10^{3}/\text{uL})$	$2.4\pm0.6$	$2.9\pm0.6$	0.033
Hemoglobin count (g/dL)	$13.6 \pm 1.3$	$14.4\pm1.5$	0.173
Platelet count $(10^3/uL)$	$256.6 \pm 58.3$	$270.7\pm 66.3$	0.523

#### RESULTS

Table 1 shows the demographic data, clinical characteristics, and biochemical results of 16 patients with FD and 16 healthy control subjects. When the patients and healthy subjects were evaluated, it was found that there were no significant differences concerning the following variables: sex, age, serum levels of glucose, creatinine, sodium, CRP, haemoglobin, and platelet count. In addition, serum levels of total protein, albumin, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and lymphocyte count were higher in the control group (p = 0.008, p= 0.005, p = 0.001 and p = 0.033, respectively). Serum potassium levels and protein/creatinine ratio were significantly higher in patients with FD than in control subjects (p = 0.029 and p < 0.001, respectively) (Table 1).

After the diagnosis of FD in 4 patients, 12 more affected family members were identified through family screening. The pedigree analysis provided an early diagnosis for two male relatives (nephews) of a male patient and four male relatives (2 sons and two nephews) of the other male patient. The diagnosis was made in 3 female relatives of a female patient (1 daughter, two nieces) and three relatives (2 daughters and a niece) of the other female patient. The mean duration of diagnosis was  $67.69 \pm 13.29$  months, and the mean duration of treatment was  $62.44 \pm 15.21$  months in patients with FD (Table 2). Nine patients were using agalsidase alfa, and seven were using agalsidase beta. In addition, the patients' enzyme levels and lyso Gb-3 levels were given in Table 2.

When the hearing functions of the participants were evaluated, it was found that the rate of hearing loss was higher in the patients with FD than in the healthy control group (p = 0.033). According to the results of PTA, conductive hearing loss was detected in 4 (25%) of the FD patients, while it was not detected in the control group. The mean value of hearing thresholds obtained with PTA in the patients with FD and the control groups was within the normal range in the bone and airway for both ears. However, when the frequencies of 500-4,000 Hz were assessed, the bone pathway hearing threshold in both ears was higher in the FD patients than in the healthy control group (p = 0.014 and p = 0.014, respectively) (Table 3).

When we compared the otoacoustic distortion product measurements of the FD patients and the control group, the dB value measured at 2.8 kHz was lower in the patient group (p = 0.018). When we compared the ABR measurements, the right ear's 3-5 interpeak latency at 60 dB was lower in the patients with FD ( $1.8 \pm 0.3$  vs  $2 \pm 0.2$  ms, p = 0.033).

When patients were divided into groups after agalsidase treatment, there were no significant differences in sex, age, serum glucose, serum creatinine, sodium, potassium, C-reactive protein, lymphocyte count, and platelet count between the treated and untreated groups; only the spot urine protein/creatinine ratio was higher in the treated group (p = 0.039). Hearing thresholds determined with PTA in the treated and untreated patients were within the normal bone and airway range at all frequencies between 250-8,000 Hz in both ears. No significant difference

No	Gender	Age (years)	Dignosis date	FD duration (months)	Treatment date	Treatment duration (month)	Enzyme level	Lyso Gb-3	Treatment
1	Female	19	01.01.2017	72	01.01.2018	60	2.5	5.2	Agalsidase alfa
2	Male	48	01.01.2017	72	01.01.2018	60	0.2	4.6	Agalsidase alfa
3	Female	21	01.03.2017	69	01.06.2017	67	0.8	1.8	Agalsidase alfa
4	Female	33	01.06.2019	43	17.02.2020	35	2.1	4.2	Agalsidase beta
5	Male	37	11.11.2015	86	01.01.2016	84	0.9	39.3	Agalsidase beta
6	Male	39	23.11.2015	86	01.01.2016	84	1.4	27.5	Agalsidase beta
7	Male	47	08.06.2016	79	01.10.2016	75	0.2	1.7	Agalsidase beta
8	Female	36	11.01.2019	48	01.11.2019	38	2.0	7.9	Agalsidase beta
9	Male	25	18.10.2016	74	23.02.2017	71	1.2	60.8	Agalsidase alfa
10	Female	66	03.01.2017	71	23.02.2017	71	2.4	11.5	Agalsidase alfa
11	Male	38	01.02.2017	70	23.02.2017	71	1.2	23.3	Agalsidase beta
12	Female	43	11.04.2017	68	03.08.2017	65	2.3	14.7	Agalsidase alfa
13	Female	19	04.03.2019	45	01.09.2019	40	2.5	5.2	Agalsidase alfa
14	Male	48	01.03.2018	58	01.12.2018	49	0.2	4.6	Agalsidase alfa
15	Female	21	09.10.2017	63	01.03.2018	58	0.8	1.8	Agalsidase alfa
16	Female	33	19.06.2016	79	17.02.2017	71	2.1	4.2	Agalsidase beta

Table 2. Diagnosis, treatment dates and enzyme levels of patients with Fabry disease.

Parameters	Patients with Fabry disease	Healthy subjects	P value
	(fi: 16)	(n: 16)	
Right ear 500-4000 Hz (air)	$9.1 \pm 4.8$	$6.6 \pm 1.7$	0.253
Right ear 4000-8000 Hz (air)	$12.9\pm8.7$	$8.4\pm1.8$	0.474
Right ear 500-4000 Hz (bone)	$6.5 \pm 3.8$	$3.8\pm2.1$	0.014
Left ear 500-4000 Hz (air)	$8.4 \pm 3.7$	$6.5 \pm 1.7$	0.200
Left ear 4000-8000 Hz (air)	$12.3\pm7.1$	$8.3\pm1.7$	0.361
Left ear 500-4000 Hz (bone)	$6.3 \pm 3.4$	$3.8 \pm 2.1$	0.014
Hearing loss n (%)	4 (25)	0	0.033

Table 3. C	Comparison	of audiometry	findings	of the	patients with	FD and	l healthy si	abiects.
1 4010 01 0	20mparison	or additionition y		or the	Putteries with	I D wind	i nearcity st	1010000

was found between the two groups.

When the measurements of the otoacoustic distortion product of the groups were evaluated, it was found that the dB value at the right ear SNR 1.4 and 2.8 kHz and at the left ear SNR 1.0, 1.4, 2.0, and 2.8 kHz was significantly higher in the untreated patient group (p = 0.027, p = 0.050; p = 0.014, p = 0.022, p= 0.08, and p = 0.029, respectively) (Table 4). When the ABR measurements were evaluated between the groups, it was found that there was no statistical difference.

#### DISCUSSION

As a result of the study, we came to three important conclusions. First, proteinuria was significantly increased in FD patients compared with the control group. Second, the proportion of patients with hearing loss was higher in FD patients. Third, the average hearing threshold of patients with FD was higher than that of the healthy group at the frequencies of 5004,000 Hz in the bone tract for both ears.

FD is a genetic storage disease that plays a role in chronic kidney disease but can be treated. Renal findings occur in at least 20% of females and about 50% of male patients.<sup>9</sup> The primary renal finding is usually proteinuria.<sup>10</sup> In a study by Turkmen *et al.*<sup>11</sup>, the incidence of proteinuria in 30 patients with FD was 23.3%. According to the literature, the protein-to-creatinine ratio in our study's puncture urine was higher in patients with FD than in the control group. When we divided the patients with and without treatment into groups, the ratio of protein to creatinine detected in the puncturing was higher in the treatment group. This result may be attributed to treated patients having more severe diseases and being more likely to develop organ damage.

The effects of FD on hearing have also been described in the last 15 years. Several studies have reported that progressive sensorineural and episodic hearing loss is more common than the average population, especially at high frequencies.<sup>12,13</sup> Sergi *et al*.14

Table 4. Autoacoustic emission findings of treated and nontreated FD patients with agalsidase.

Parameters	FD patients with treatment (n: 9)	FD patients without treatment (n: 7)	P value
Right ear SNR 1.0 kHz	$4.6\pm7.8$	$8.6 \pm 8.3$	0.339
Right ear SNR 1.4 kHz	$5.9 \pm 6.1$	$13 \pm 5.2$	0.027
Right ear SNR 2.0 kHz	$2.4 \pm 5.8$	$8.2\pm6.1$	0.074
Right ear SNR 2.8 kHz	$-7.4 \pm 13.2$	$2.0 \pm 9.2$	0.050
Right ear SNR 4.0 kHz	$0.3 \pm 8.2$	$0.7\pm8.1$	0.791
Right ear SNR 6.0 kHz	$-6.0 \pm 12.9$	$-2.7 \pm 9.8$	0.588
Right ear SNR 8.0 kHz	$-15.1 \pm 6.9$	$-13.7 \pm 9.7$	0.740
Left ear SNR 1.0 kHz	$1.1 \pm 9.2$	$12 \pm 4.8$	0.014
Left ear SNR 1.4 kHz	$6.5 \pm 4.5$	$12.3 \pm 4.3$	0.022
Left ear SNR 2.0 kHz	$0.6 \pm 6.4$	$10.2 \pm 5.8$	0.008
Left ear SNR 2.8 kHz	$-3.4 \pm 7.7$	$5.1 \pm 5.8$	0.029
Left ear SNR 4.0 kHz	$1.1 \pm 7.6$	$8.2 \pm 5.8$	0.060
Left ear SNR 6.0 kHz	$-4.4 \pm 11.5$	$2.9 \pm 10.2$	0.205
Left ear SNR 8.0 kHz	-15.7 ± 8.2	-23.3 ± 6.7	0.067

investigated the involvement of the inner ear in 20 patients with FD receiving enzyme replacement therapy (ERT). This study's patients were audiologically evaluated every six months using audiometry, OAE, and ABR methods. The mean follow-up time was 51.5 months (range: 25-73). Audiometry detected a hearing loss in 18 ears (45%) (13 patients) at pretreatment evaluation. These hearing losses were reported to be sensorineural, and the site of the lesion was the cochlea, as indicated by the OAE and ABR findings. When the planned follow-up times were reached in the study, the number of ears with hearing loss increased to 21 (52.5%), but it was found that the difference was not statistically significant. The authors suggested that inner ear involvement remains stable with ERT, so treatment should be started without waiting for hearing loss to develop. In our study, the rate of patients with hearing loss was higher than in control subjects. No difference in hearing loss was found when the treated and untreated patients were examined. But a conductive hearing loss in 4 patients could not be associated with any condition. However, it was thought that impedance changes due to FD-related deposit accumulations in the sound conduction path starting from the tympanic membrane and continuing with the malleus incus stapes and their ligaments and ending in the fenestra ovale might be a factor. However, because our study was cross-sectional, it may be misleading to make a statement about the effect of ERT on hearing loss.

In addition, hearing loss due to neurological involvement in patients with FD is another reason for blaming. In a study by Koeping *et al.*<sup>15</sup>, %74 of FD patients were found to have sensorineural hearing loss by audiometry. In the ABR evaluation of these patients, the interpeak wave latencies I-III/III-V/I-V were within the normal range. In our study, the ABR test performed to evaluate the patients' auditory pathways found that the right ear of the patients with FD was significantly lower at 60 dB than the control group with 3-5 interpeak latencies. However, the results of ABR were found to be normal in all our patients.

In a study by Bitirgen *et al.*<sup>16</sup>, corneal sensitivity, density, and nerve fibre length were lower in FD patients than in control subjects when evaluated by corneal confocal microscopy. Although FD-associated nerve damage was directly detected by microscopy in this study, the presence of auditory nerve damage in our study could not be seen by the ABR test. This could be because the head pairs were affected by FD

at different rates or because a method that assessed electrical activity, such as the ABR test, was inadequate. Studies are needed to evaluate more patients and use other ways, such as autopsy studies.

Another question that needs to be addressed regarding hearing loss in patients with FD is whether it is possible to halt or even reverse hearing loss with treatment. To investigate this question, Palla *et al.*<sup>17</sup> audiometrically assessed the hearing of 47 patients before starting ERT and 60 months after treatment. The authors, who found no difference between the two evaluations, claimed that although the hearing loss was not reversed by ERT, at least hearing functions were stabilized. One of the major shortcomings of our study is that the periods before and after treatment were not evaluated to examine the effect of ERT on hearing loss.

#### CONCLUSIONS

As a result, we found that the hearing loss and hearing threshold rates were higher in FD patients than in the healthy group. Although the effects of pathogenesis and enzyme replacement therapy are not yet fully known, hearing screening should be systematically performed in these patients and included in this screening in asymptomatic patientsWe believe that possible hearing loss can cause a severe deterioration in the quality of life, even if it does not cause life-threatening situations, and that adverse effects on quality of life can be prevented by early diagnosis/ treatment.

#### Conflict of Interest

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### Funding Sources

The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### Ethical Approval

The protocol of the study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Necmettin Erbakan University (NEU) (Faculty of Medicine, Konya, Turkey). (Decision number: 2018/1179, date: 19.01.2018).

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: FY, MAD, KT; Study Design:

FY, MAD, IB, KT; Supervision: FY, CKY, HO, YO, IB; Literature Review: FY, CKY, MAD, HO, YO; Critical Review: MAD, IB, KT; Data Collection and/ or Processing: FY, CKY, MAD, HO, YO; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: FY, IB, YO; Manuscript preparing: FY, CKY, MAD, KT. Oto-rhino-larygologic examination and Hearing functions and auditory pathways: MAD.

#### REFERENCES

1. Alroy J, Sabnis S, Kopp JB. Renal pathology in Fabry disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002 Jun;13(Suppl 2):S134-8. doi: 10.1097/01.ASN.0000016684.07368.75. Alroy J, Sabnis S, Kopp JB. Renal pathology in Fabry disease. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2002 Jun;13 Suppl 2:S134-8.

2. Arends M, Wanner C, Hughes D, Mehta A, Oder D, Watkinson OT, Elliott PM, Linthorst GE, Wijburg FA, Biegstraaten M, Hollak CE. Characterization of Classical and Nonclassical Fabry Disease: A Multicenter Study. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017 May;28(5):1631-41. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2016090964.

3. Curiati MA, Aranda CS, Kyosen SO, Varela P. The challenge of diagnosis and indication for treatment in Fabry disease. J Inborn Errors Metab Screen. 2017;5:1-7. doi: 10.1177/2326409816685735.

4. Hsu TR, Niu DM. Fabry disease: Review and experience during newborn screening. Trends Cardiovasc Med. 2018 May;28(4):274-281. doi: 10.1016/j. tcm.2017.10.001.

5. Calderón Sandubete EJ, Briones Pérez de la Blanca E, Alonso-Ortiz Del Río C, Santamaría Olmo R, López Mendoza M, Barcos Martínez M, Márquez Infante C, Marín-León I; en nombre del Grupo Guía Fabry. Spanish multidisciplinary clinical practice guidelines for Anderson-Fabry Disease in adults. I. Method and recommendations. Rev Clin Esp (Barc). 2019 May;219(4):200-207. English, Spanish. doi: 10.1016/j.rce.2018.09.017.

6. Lidove O, Kaminsky P, Hachulla E, Leguy-Seguin V, Lavigne C, Marie I, Maillot F, Serratrice C, Masseau A, Chérin P, Cabane J, Noel E; FIMeD investigators. Fabry disease 'The New Great Imposter': results of the French Observatoire in Internal Medicine Departments (FIMeD). Clin Genet. 2012 Jun;81(6):571-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0004.2011.01718.x.

7. Laney DA, Bennett RL, Clarke V, Fox A, Hopkin RJ, Johnson J, O'Rourke E, Sims K, Walter G. Fabry disease practice guidelines: recommendations of

the National Society of Genetic Counselors. J Genet Couns. 2013 Oct;22(5):555-64. doi: 10.1007/s10897-013-9613-3.

8. Spada M, Pagliardini S, Yasuda M, Tukel T, Thiagarajan G, Sakuraba H, Ponzone A, Desnick RJ. High incidence of later-onset fabry disease revealed by newborn screening. Am J Hum Genet. 2006 Jul;79(1):31-40. doi: 10.1086/504601.

9. Wilcox WR, Oliveira JP, Hopkin RJ, Ortiz A, Banikazemi M, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Sims K, Waldek S, Pastores GM, Lee P, Eng CM, Marodi L, Stanford KE, Breunig F, Wanner C, Warnock DG, Lemay RM, Germain DP; Fabry Registry. Females with Fabry disease frequently have major organ involvement: lessons from the Fabry Registry. Mol Genet Metab. 2008 Feb;93(2):112-28. doi: 10.1016/j.ymgme.2007.09.013.

10. Oruç A, Yildiz A, Akgur S, Unsal O, Aydın MF, Ersoy A, Yavuz M, Dilek K, Gullulu M. Screening for Fabry disease in patients who underwent renal biopsy and identification of a novel mutation. Turkish journal of nephrology. 2021 Apr;30(2):165-70. doi: 10.5152/turkjnephrol.2021.4709.

11. Turkmen K, Guclu A, Sahin G, Kocyigit I, Demirtas L, Erdur FM, Sengül E, Ozkan O, Emre H, Turgut F, Unal H, Karaman M, Acıkel C, Esen H, Balli E, Bıtırgen G, Tonbul HZ, Yılmaz MI, Ortiz A. The prevalence of Fabry disease in patients with chronic kidney disease in Turkey: The TURKFAB study. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2016;41(6):1016-24. doi: 10.1159/000452605.

12. Germain DP, Avan P, Chassaing A, Bonfils P. Patients affected with Fabry disease have an increased incidence of progressive hearing loss and sudden deafness: an investigation of twenty-two hemizygous male patients. BMC Med Genet. 2002 Oct 11;3:10. doi: 10.1186/1471-2350-3-10.

13. Hegemann S, Hajioff D, Conti G, Beck M, Sunder-Plassmann G, Widmer U, Mehta A, Keilmann A. Hearing loss in Fabry disease: data from the Fabry Outcome Survey. Eur J Clin Invest. 2006 Sep;36(9):654-62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2362.2006.01702.x.

14. Sergi B, Conti G, Paludetti G; Interdisciplinary Study Group On Fabry Disease. Inner ear involvement in Anderson-Fabry disease: long-term follow-up during enzyme replacement therapy. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital. 2010 Apr;30(2):87-93.

15. Köping M, Shehata-Dieler W, Schneider D, Cebulla M, Oder D, Müntze J, Nordbeck P, Wanner C, Hagen R, Schraven SP. Characterization of vertigo and hearing loss in patients with Fabry disease. Orphanet J Rare Dis. 2018 Aug 15;13(1):137. doi: 10.1186/ s13023-018-0882-7.

16. Bitirgen G, Turkmen K, Malik RA, Ozkagnici A, Zengin N. Corneal confocal microscopy detects corneal nerve damage and increased dendritic cells in Fabry disease. Sci Rep. 2018 Aug 16;8(1):12244. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30688-z.

17. Palla A, Hegemann S, Widmer U, Straumann D. Vestibular and auditory deficits in Fabry disease and their response to enzyme replacement therapy. J Neurol. 2007 Oct;254(10):1433-42. doi: 10.1007/s00415-007-0575-y.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



**TURKISH JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE** 

# Mel-200 or Mel-140, Which One is More Advantageous? Retrospectively Analysis of The Multiple Myeloma Patients Treated with Autologous Hematopoetic Stem Cell Transplantation



<sup>1</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Hematology, Faculty of Medicine, Bursa Uludag University, Bursa, Turkey. <sup>2</sup>Department of Hematology, Bursa City Hospital, Bursa, Turkey.

## ABSTRACT

**Background** Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (AHSCT) is one of the standard treatment modalities for patients with multiple myeloma (MM) under 65 years of age. Renal failure, significant disease comorbidity, significantly affects treatment choices. There are conflicting data in the literature regarding the dose of melphalan to be used for AHSCT in patients with renal failure and comorbid conditions. This study aimed to compare the efficacy and side effect data of different melphalan doses in patients with renal failure. *Material and Methods* The study included 107 patients older than 18 years of age with a diagnosis of MM who underwent AHSCT in our centre between January 2010 and January 2019. The data of the patients were analyzed retrospectively. Patients were grouped according to estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR: < 60 or  $\geq$  60 mL/min) and melphalan doses (140-200). In addition to renal failure, patients with low-performance scores (ECOG 3 and above) or severe systemic comorbid disease were included in the Mel-140 group.

**Results** Comparative analysis of MEL-140 and MEL-200 doses used for AHSCT showed no significant difference between the two groups regarding side effects, disease-free survival, and overall survival. Engraftment times were similar in both groups. When the patients were analyzed according to eGFR level, the incidence and severity of mucositis were higher in the group with low eGFR levels (p = 0.016). The duration of engraftment, complication with a febrile neutropenic attack, and development of septic shock were similar in both groups.

*Conclusions* In addition to renal failure, MEL-140 emerges as a preferable transplant preparation regimen considering its efficacy and side effect profile in patients with low-performance scores or severe systemic comorbidities.

*Turk J Int Med 2023:5(2);92-98* DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1223288</u>

*Keywords:* Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, melphalan, renal failure, multiple myeloma.



Received: December 23, 2022; Accepted: March 29, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023 Address for Correspondence: Fazıl Çağrı HUNUTLU, Specialist Division of Hematology, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa Uludag University, Gorukle Campus Bursa, Turkey E-mail: fazilhunutlu@gmail.com



#### **INTRODUCTION**

Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (AHSCT) is the standard treatment approach in patients diagnosed with multiple myeloma (MM) aged < 65 years.<sup>1,2</sup> Although different criteria for transplant candidates are used in different centres, AHSCT following induction therapy in young patients with good performance status is the standard treatment. Although the term "young patient" is used for patients who are not older than 65 years of age, patients who are older than 65 years of age without comorbidities and with good performance status can also be considered transplant candidates. Renal function is one of the critical factors, along with age, for AHSCT candidacy in MM patients.1 Renal failure is observed in 20-30% of newly diagnosed MM patients, and hemodialysis may be required in 10% of the patient group.<sup>3</sup> Although a high treatment response rate is obtained with AHSCT with high dose melphalan following remission induction therapies, including the bortezomib-immunomodulatory agent (Imid)-dexamethasone in current studies, there is not enough consensus regarding the use of high-dose melphalan in patient groups with renal failure.<sup>4,5</sup> Studies have shown that AHSCT can be used in all stages of renal failure, including the need for dialysis and does not cause post-transplant engraftment failure.<sup>5</sup> Although studies performed in patients with advanced renal failure are limited and retrospective, studies show that melphalan dose adjustment should be performed mainly in dialysis-dependent patients and transplant-related mortality rates in these patients may be high.6

Melphalan used for autologous transplantation in patients with MM is a bifunctional alkylating agent, and the myeloablative dose of 200 mg/m<sup>2</sup> is generally used for transplantation.<sup>7,8</sup> Although spontaneous destruction is the most crucial step in eliminating melphalan from the body, some renal excretion also plays a role in elimination.9-11 Although the rate of renal excretion is low, it is known that melphalan pharmacokinetics is affected in patients with renal failure.<sup>12</sup> In patient groups with renal failure, some centres aimed to prevent toxicity by reducing the dose of melphalan to 140 mg/m<sup>2.13</sup> We aimed to contribute to the literature on the effective and safe dose in patient groups with renal failure and vulnerable patients by evaluating the data of patients who were followed up in our centre due to limited and contradictory data in studies on melphalan dose.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study included 107 patients older than 18 years of age with a diagnosis of MM who underwent AH-SCT in Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Hematology, between January 2010 and January 2019. The data of the patients were retrospectively analyzed from their files. The patients were evaluated according to Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR:  $< 60 \text{ or} \ge 60 \text{ mL/min}$ ) levels and melphalan doses (140-200). Patients with low-performance scores (ECOG 3 and above) or severe systemic comorbidities other than renal failure were included in the Mel-140 group. The Mel-140 group included 11 patients, and the Mel-200 group included 96 patients. Age, gender, primary diagnosis, stage, pre-transplant treatment regimens, stem cell collection regimen, transplant preparation regimen, serum creatinine level, need for hemodialysis before transplantation, eGFR level, post-transplant complications, history of febrile neutropenic attack, presence of septic shock, neutrophil and platelet engraftment times, presence of recurrence, presence of mortality in the first 100 days were analyzed. Our study was conducted under the institutional research committee's ethical standards and according to the 1964 Helsinki Declaration.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The compatibility of the variables with normal distribution was analyzed by the Shapiro-Wilk test. Continuous variables were expressed as median (minimum: maximum) and mean ± standard deviation. Categorical variables were expressed as n (%). Mann-Whitney U test was used for comparisons between two groups according to the normality test results. Pearson chi-square, Fisher's exact chi-square, and Fisher-Freeman-Halton tests were used to compare categorical variables between groups. Kaplan-Meier analysis was performed to investigate differences in overall and disease-free survival, and survival curves were compared using the log-rank test. For statistical analyses, SPSS (IBM Corp. Released 2012. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 21.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) programme was used, and p < 0.05was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

Of 107 patients with MM, 41 (38.3%) were male,

	eGFR < 60 mL/min	$eGFR \ge 60 mL/min$	P value
	(n: 18)	(n: 89)	
Age (years)	58 (49:70)	55 (20:71)	0.040 <sup>a</sup>
Gender (Male/Female)	5/13	36/53	0.224 <sup>b</sup>
ISS phase I	5 (27.8)	28 (31.8)	0.038 <sup>b</sup>
ISS phase II	2 (11.1)	32 (36.4)	
ISS phase III	11 (61.1)	28 (31.8)	
Number of treatment received before transplant	2 (1:3)	2 (1:4)	$0.700^{a}$
Lenalidomide based	10 (47.6)	30 (25.6)	0.041 <sup>b</sup>
Bortezomib based	18 (85.7)	85 (72.6)	0.205 <sup>b</sup>
Stem cell G-CSF	11 (61)	50 (56.8)	0.818 <sup>b</sup>
Collection regime chemotherapy+G-CSF	7 (39)	39 (43.2)	
Transplant preparation melphalan 200 mg/m <sup>2</sup>	10 (10.4)	86 (89.6)	< 0.001°
Regime* melphalan 140 mg/m <sup>2</sup>	8 (72.7)	3 (27.3)	
Serum creatinine (mg/dL)	1.60 (1.2:8)	0.70 (0.5:1.2)	$< 0.001^{a}$
eGFR <50 (mL/min)	1 (5.6)	3 (3.38)	$0.487^{d}$
$eGFR \ge 50 (mL/min)$	17 (94.4)	86 (96.62)	

#### Table 1. Patient characteristics according to estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) level.

G-CSF: granulocyte colony-stimulating factor. Data were expressed as median (minimum: maximum) or n (%).

\*percentages in brackets were calculated according to transplant preparation regime groups.

<sup>a</sup>Mann-Whitney U test, <sup>b</sup> Chi-square test, <sup>c</sup> Fisher Freeman-Halton test, <sup>d</sup> Fisher's exact chi-square test.

and 66 (61.7%) were female. Patient characteristics according to eGFR level were shown in Table 1. 18 patients (16%) were in the group with eGFR < 60 mL/min, while 89 patients (84%) were in the eGFR  $\ge$  60 mL/min group. The age range was 20-71 years, and the median age was 58 in the low eGFR group and 55 in the normal eGFR group. The subgroup analysis of patients with MM was shown in Table 2.

When melphalan doses used in transplant preparation were compared according to eGFR level, it was found that the melphalan 140 mg/m2 dose was used more in patients with low eGFR. It was statistically significant (p < 0.001). Two doses were used in the transplant preparation regime to evaluate the melphalan dose regarding side effects and engraftment time. No significant difference was found between the two groups regarding toxicity or engraftment time. A comparison of the groups according to melphalan dose was shown in Table 3.

In the analysis of the complications that developed during transplantation, the incidence and severity of mucositis were higher in the low eGFR group (p = 0.040, p = 0.012). No significant difference was found in hepatotoxicity, nephrotoxicity, frequency of febrile neutropenic attacks, septic shock incidence, and diarrhoea development according to eGFR level. No significant difference was found between the two groups in evaluating neutrophil engraftment times according to eGFR level. Median platelet > 20,000/

mm3 engraftment time was found to be the 14<sup>th</sup> day in the eGFR < 60 mL/min group and the 12<sup>th</sup> day in the eGFR  $\ge$  60 mL/min groups, but no statistically significant difference was found between the two groups (p= 0.117). Median platelet > 50,000/mm<sup>3</sup> time was longer in the group with eGFR < 60 mL/min (p = 0.006). Complication evaluation according to eGFR level was summarized in Table 4.

According to the melphalan dose, median disease-free survival (DFS) was 37 months in the Mel-140 mg/m<sup>2</sup> group and 41 months in the Mel-200 mg/ m<sup>2</sup> group, and no significant difference was found between the two groups (p = 0.882) (Figure 1A). No median value was reached in the overall survival (OS) analysis, and 12, 36, and 60-month OS in the Mel-200

Table	2.	Subgroup	analysis	of	patients
diagnosed with multiple myeloma.					

unghosed with multiple myelomat			
	eGFR <60	eGFR ≥60	
	mL/min (n: 18)	mL/min (n: 89)	
IgG	9 (50)	43 (48.3)	
IgA	2 (11.1)	23 (25.8)	
Kappa light chain	6 (33.3)	7 (7.9)	
Lambda light chain	0	11 (12.4)	
Plasmacytoma	0	4 (4.5)	
IgE	1 (5.6)	0	
Plasma cell	0	1 (1.1)	
leukemia			

Data were expressed as n (%).

#### Table 3. Comparison of side effects and engraftment times according to melphalan dose.

Transplant preparation regime	Melphalan 140 mg/m <sup>2</sup> (n: 11)	Melphalan 200 mg/m <sup>2</sup> (n: 96)	P value
Transaminase elevation	1 (9.1)	10 (10.4)	$> 0.99^{a}$
Serum bilirubin elevation	2 (18.2)	13 (13.5)	0.651ª
Mucositis			$> 0.99^{b}$
Grade 1-2	6 (54.5)	51 (53.1)	
Grade 3-4	1 (9.1)	9 (9.4)	
None	4 (36.4)	36 (37.5)	
Diarrhoea			0.337 <sup>b</sup>
Grade 1-2	7 (63.6)	38 (39.6)	
Grade 3-4	4 (36.4)	54 (56.3)	
None	0	4 (4.2)	
Neutrophil engraftment (days)	11(10:12)	11 (8:40)	0.322°
Platelet 20,000 engraftment (days)	13 (11:28)	12.50 (8:54)	0.297°
Platelet 50,000 engraftment (days)	21 (14:35)	17 (10:90)	0.065°
Progression free survival (PFS) (months)	$39\pm8.42$	$54.38\pm6.76$	0.882
Overall survival (OS) (months)	$68.47\pm3.98$	$124.43 \pm 11.27$	0.665

Data were expressed as median (minimum: maximum), mean  $\pm$  standard deviation or n (%).

<sup>a</sup> Fisher's exact chi-square test, <sup>b</sup> Fisher Freeman-Halton test, <sup>c</sup> Mann-Whitney U test.

mg/m<sup>2</sup> group was 97.9%, 88.7%, and 70.5%, respectively. In the Mel-140 mg/m<sup>2</sup> group, 12-36-60 months OS was determined as 100%, 100%, and 53%, respectively. There was no significant difference in OS between the two groups (p = 0.665) (Figure 1B).

#### DISCUSSION

AHSCT performed in combination with high-dose chemotherapy is the standard treatment approach in patients with MM with good performance who

Table 4. Evaluation of complications during transplantation and duration of engraftment according to estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) level.

	eGFR < 60 mL/min	$eGFR \ge 60 mL/min$	P value
	(n: 18)	(n: 89)	
Renal failure in transplantation			0.132ª
Yes hemodialysis none	7 (38.9)	18 (20.2)	
Yes hemodialysis yes	1 (%5.6)	3 (3.4)	
None	10 (%55.6)	68 (76.4)	
Transaminase elevation	0	11 (12.4)	0.205 <sup>b</sup>
Serum bilirubin elevation	2 (11.1)	13 (14.6)	$> 0.99^{b}$
Mucositis			0.016°
Grade 1-2	10 (55.6)	47 (52.8)	
Grade 3-4	5 (27.8)	5 (5.6)	
None	3 (16.6)	37 (41.6)	
Diarrhoea			0.297ª
Grade 1-2	5 (27.8)	40 (44.9)	
Grade 3-4	13 (72.2)	45 (50.6)	
None	0	4 (4.5)	
Febrile neutropenia attack	16 (88.9)	86 (96.6)	0.196 <sup>b</sup>
Septic shock	1 (5.60)	3 (3.40)	0.527 <sup>b</sup>
Neutrophil engraftment (days)	11 (9:14)	11 (8:40)	0.002 <sup>d</sup>
Platelet 20,000 engraftment (days)	14 (10:33)	12 (8:54)	0.117 <sup>d</sup>
Platelet 50,000 engraftment (days)	21 (14:39)	17 (10:90)	0.006 <sup>d</sup>
Progression free survival (PFS) (months)	$42.87\pm 6.33$	$53.95\pm6.90$	0.331
Overall survival (OS) (months)	$81.03\pm7.49$	$121.11 \pm 11.59$	0.387

Data were expressed as median (minimum: maximum), mean±standard deviation or n (%).

<sup>a</sup> Fisher Freeman-Halton test, <sup>b</sup> Fisher's exact chi-square test, <sup>c</sup> Chi-square test, <sup>d</sup> Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 1. Kaplan-Meier survival analysis according to melphalan doses: (A) disease-free survival; (B) overall survival.

achieve remission with induction therapies.<sup>1,14</sup> However, there is still no consensus about the application of AHSCT in patients with renal failure, especially in patients with MM, and the dose of melphalan to be used as a preparatory regimen. In our survey analysis of the melphalan dose, no significant difference was found between both melphalan doses regarding disease-free survival and overall survival. A study conducted in 2018 on 55 MM patients with renal failure showed that melphalan could be used as an effective treatment option in all stages of renal failure, including patients on dialysis, and that the 140 mg/m<sup>2</sup> dose was safer in terms of side effect management in renal failure. Regarding efficacy, 140 mg/m<sup>2</sup> dose also influenced survival analysis results.<sup>15</sup> Similarly, in a study in which EBMT data were analyzed according to melphalan dose, no significant difference was found between Mel-140 and Mel-200 doses in the survey analysis.13 In another study in which elderly MM patients were analyzed, it was observed that patients who used Mel-140 mg/m<sup>2</sup> in the transplant preparatory regimen had lower progression-free survival and overall survival rates compared to the Mel-200 mg/ m<sup>2</sup> group.<sup>16</sup> In our study, no statistically significant difference was detected between the two groups. The difference between the two studies may be because patients with lower performance scores and lower survey expectations were included in the Mel-140 group and the difference between the number of patients and the induction therapy used before transplantation.

No significant difference was detected between the two groups in the rate of mucositis, development of hepatotoxicity, and engraftment times in the comparison results we performed according to melphalan doses. Similarly, in comparing melphalan doses, side effects and toxicity-related mortality rates were detected between the two groups.<sup>13</sup> As another result of our study, the incidence and severity of mucositis were higher in patients with low GFR levels. Similarly, a study was conducted on 381 newly diagnosed MM patients during AHSCT. Low GFR and high melphalan dose were observed as risk factors for severe mucositis.<sup>17</sup> The two groups had no significant difference regarding non-mucositis side effects and engraftment times compared to melphalan doses. A 1996 study showed that although melphalan was renally excreted, the main route of elimination was spontaneous hydrolysis and melphalan half-life and clearance did not change significantly even in patients with severe renal failure. In the same study, no difference was detected between the groups with and without renal failure in hematopoietic recovery, the frequency of transfusion requirement, and the incidence of severe mucositis (grade 3 and above).18

There are few case reports in the literature about lenalidomide-induced hepatotoxicity. One patient presented with a cholestatic injury pattern<sup>19</sup>, another patient had lenalidomide-associated hepatitis<sup>20</sup>, the third patient had a mixed pattern of liver injury<sup>21</sup>, and the fourth patient had asymptomatic transaminase elevation.<sup>22</sup> Most of cases, patients had pre-existing renal failure. Lenalidomide is mainly excreted by kidneys, so patients with renal failure may be more prone to developing hepatotoxicity.<sup>21</sup> In our study results, there were no cases of lenalidomide-induced hepatotoxicity.

#### **Study Limitations**

The small number of patients with renal failure, the exclusion of patients with incomplete data due to the study's retrospective design, and the fact that patients with MM constitute a heterogeneous patient population can be considered as the limiting factors of our study. Prospective randomised controlled studies on homogeneous groups of transplant candidates with renal failure will contribute to the literature in the future.

#### CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, Mel-140 appears to be an effective and safe transplantation preparatory regimen in frail

patients with renal insufficiency, low-performance scores, or severe systemic comorbid disease. The fact that melphalan undergoes spontaneous hydrolysis along with renal excretion allows it to be used safely in patients with low GFR without a significant increase in side effects.

#### Conflict of Interest

The authors of this paper have no conflicts of interest, including specific financial interests, relationships, and/or affiliations relevant to the subject matter or materials included.

#### Funding Sources

The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### Ethical Approval

Our study was conducted under the institutional research committee's ethical standards and according to the 1964 Helsinki Declaration. The protocol of the study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Bursa Uludag University (Faculty of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey). (Decision number: 2019-6/39, date: March 2019).

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception, Supervision, Critical Review: FCH, FO, VO; Study Design, Fundings: FCH, FO; Data Collection and/or Processing: FCH, FO, VG; Analysis and/or Interpretation: FCH,FO,VG; Materials: FCH, FO, VG, VO; Literature Review, Writer: FCH.

#### REFERENCES

1. Turkish Society of Hematology Multiple Myeloma Guidebook Version 1.03. İstanbul: Uniform; 2020.

2. Pettengell R, Morgenstern GR, Woll PJ, Chang J, Rowlands M, Young R, Radford JA, Scarffe JH, Testa NG, Crowther D. Peripheral blood progenitor cell transplantation in lymphoma and leukemia using a single apheresis. Blood. 1993 Dec 15;82(12):3770-7.

3. Dimopoulos MA, Sonneveld P, Leung N, Merlini G, Ludwig H, Kastritis E, Goldschmidt H, Joshua D, Orlowski RZ, Powles R, Vesole DH, Garderet L, Einsele H, Palumbo A, Cavo M, Richardson PG, Moreau P, San Miguel J, Rajkumar SV, Durie BG, Terpos E. International Myeloma Working Group Recommendations for the diagnosis and management of myeloma-related renal impairment. J Clin Oncol. 2016 May 1;34(13):1544-57. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.65.0044.

4. Attal M, Lauwers-Cances V, Hulin C, Leleu X, Caillot D, Escoffre M, Arnulf B, Macro M, Belhadj K, Garderet L, Roussel M, Payen C, Mathiot C, Fermand JP, Meuleman N, Rollet S, Maglio ME, Zeytoonjian AA, Weller EA, Munshi N, Anderson KC, Richardson PG, Facon T, Avet-Loiseau H, Harousseau JL, Moreau P; IFM 2009 Study. Lenalidomide, bortezomib, and dexamethasone with transplantation for myeloma. N Engl J Med. 2017 Apr 6;376(14):1311-20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1611750.

5. Badros A, Barlogie B, Siegel E, Roberts J, Langmaid C, Zangari M, Desikan R, Shaver MJ, Fassas A, McConnell S, Muwalla F, Barri Y, Anaissie E, Munshi N, Tricot G. Results of autologous stem cell transplant in multiple myeloma patients with renal failure. Br J Haematol. 2001 Sep;114(4):822-9. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.2001.03033.x.

6. St Bernard R, Chodirker L, Masih-Khan E, Jiang H, Franke N, Kukreti V, Tiedemann R, Trudel S, Reece D, Chen CI. Efficacy, toxicity and mortality of autologous SCT in multiple myeloma patients with dialysis-dependent renal failure. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2015 Jan;50(1):95-9. doi: 10.1038/bmt.2014.226. 7. Selby PJ, McElwain TJ, Nandi AC, Perren TJ, Powles RL, Tillyer CR, Osborne RJ, Slevin ML, Malpas JS. Multiple myeloma treated with high dose intravenous melphalan. Br J Haematol. 1987 May;66(1):55-62. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1987.tb06890.x.

8. Cunningham D, Paz-Ares L, Milan S, Powles R, Nicolson M, Hickish T, Selby P, Treleavan J, Viner

C, Malpas J, et al. High-dose melphalan and autologous bone marrow transplantation as consolidation in previously untreated myeloma. J Clin Oncol. 1994 Apr;12(4):759-63. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1994.12.4.759.

9. Sarosy G, Leyland-Jones B, Soochan P, Cheson BD. The systemic administration of intravenous melphalan. J Clin Oncol. 1988 Nov;6(11):1768-82. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1988.6.11.1768.

10. Alberts DS, Chang SY, Chen HS, Moon TE, Evans TL, Furner RL, Himmelstein K, Gross JF. Kinetics of intravenous melphalan. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1979 Jul;26(1):73-80. doi: 10.1002/cpt197926173.

11. Bosanquet AG, Gilby ED. Pharmacokinetics of oral and intravenous melphalan during routine treatment of multiple myeloma. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol. 1982 Apr;18(4):355-62. doi: 10.1016/0277-5379(82)90006-2. 12. Osterborg A, Ehrsson H, Eksborg S, Wallin I, Mellstedt H. Pharmacokinetics of oral melphalan in relation to renal function in multiple myeloma patients. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol. 1989 May;25(5):899-903. doi: 10.1016/0277-5379(89)90138-7..

13. Auner HW, Iacobelli S, Sbianchi G, Knol-Bout C, Blaise D, Russell NH, Apperley JF, Pohlreich D, Browne PV, Kobbe G, Isaksson C, Lenhoff S, Scheid C, Touzeau C, Jantunen E, Anagnostopoulos A, Yakoub-Agha I, Tanase A, Schaap N, Wiktor-Jedrzejczak W, Krejci M, Schönland SO, Morris C, Garderet L, Kröger N. Melphalan 140 mg/m2 or 200 mg/m2 for autologous transplantation in myeloma: results from the Collaboration to Collect Autologous Transplant Outcomes in Lymphoma and Myeloma (CALM) study. A report by the EBMT Chronic Malignancies Working Party. Haematologica. 2018 Mar;103(3):514-21. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2017.181339.

14. Zelenetz AD, Abramson JS, Advani RH, Andreadis CB, Byrd JC, Czuczman MS, Fayad L, Forero A, Glenn MJ, Gockerman JP, Gordon LI, Harris NL, Hoppe RT, Horwitz SM, Kaminski MS, Kim YH, Lacasce AS, Mughal TI, Nademanee A, Porcu P, Press O, Prosnitz L, Reddy N, Smith MR, Sokol L, Swinnen L, Vose JM, Wierda WG, Yahalom J, Yunus F. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology: non-Hodgkin's lymphomas. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2010 Mar;8(3):288-334. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2010.0021. 15. Augeul-Meunier K, Chretien ML, Stoppa AM, Karlin L, Benboubker L, Diaz JMT, Mohty M, Yakoub-Agha I, Bay JO, Perrot A, Bulabois CE, Huynh A, Mercier M, Frenzel L, Avet-Loiseau H, de Latour RP, Cornillon J. Extending autologous transplantation as first line therapy in multiple myeloma patients with severe renal impairment: a retrospective study by the SFGM-TC. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2018 Jun;53(6):749-755. doi: 10.1038/s41409-018-0122-8.

16. Munshi PN, Vesole D, Jurczyszyn A, Zaucha JM, St Martin A, Davila O, Agrawal V, Badawy SM, Battiwalla M, Chhabra S, Copelan E, Kharfan-Dabaja MA, Farhadfar N, Ganguly S, Hashmi S, Krem MM, Lazarus HM, Malek E, Meehan K, Murthy HS, Nishihori T, Olin RL, Olsson RF, Schriber J, Seo S, Shah G, Solh M, Tay J, Kumar S, Qazilbash MH, Shah N, Hari PN, D'Souza A. Age no bar: A CIBMTR analysis of elderly patients undergoing autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation for multiple myeloma. Cancer. 2020 Dec 1;126(23):5077-87. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33171.

17. Grazziutti ML, Dong L, Miceli MH, Krishna SG, Kiwan E, Syed N, Fassas A, van Rhee F, Klaus H, Barlogie B, Anaissie EJ. Oral mucositis in myeloma patients undergoing melphalan-based autologous stem cell transplantation: incidence, risk factors and a severity predictive model. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2006 Oct;38(7):501-6. doi: 10.1038/sj.bmt.1705471.

18. Tricot G, Alberts DS, Johnson C, Roe DJ, Dorr RT, Bracy D, Vesole DH, Jagannath S, Meyers R, Barlogie B. Safety of autotransplants with high-dose melphalan in renal failure: a pharmacokinetic and toxicity study. Clin Cancer Res. 1996 Jun;2(6):947-52. 19. Hussain S, Browne R, Chen J, Parekh S. Lenalidomide-induced severe hepatotoxicity. Blood. 2007 Nov 15;110(10):3814. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-06-097758.

20. Zanella MC, Rubbia-Brandt L, Giostra E, Chalandon Y, Hadengue A, Spahr L. A case of drug-induced hepatitis due to lenalidomide. Case Rep Gastroenterol. 2011 Apr 13;5(1):217-22. doi: 10.1159/000326935.

21. Jain P. Lenalidomide-induced acute liver failure. Blood Transfus. 2009 Oct;7(4):335-6; author reply 337. doi: 10.2450/2009.0086-09.

22. Hussein MA. Lenalidomide: patient management strategies. Semin Hematol. 2005 Oct;42(4 Suppl 4):S22-5. doi: 10.1053/j.seminhematol.2005.10.003.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



**TURKISH JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE** 

# **Risk Factors and Outcomes for Carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella Pneumoniae Infection in Haematological Patients**

Selda KAHRAMAN<sup>1</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Gulfem ECE<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Seckin CAGIRGAN<sup>3</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Hematology, Medicana Izmir Hospital, Izmir, Turkey

<sup>2</sup>Department of Medical Microbiology, Izmir University of Economics, School of Medicine, Medicalpoint Izmir Hospital, Izmir, Turkey

<sup>3</sup>Department of Hematology, Izmir University of Economics, School of Medicine, Medicalpoint Izmir Hospital, Izmir, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

*Background* Prolonged hospitalization, prolonged neutropenia, and immunosuppressive treatments increase bloodstream infections in haematological patients. Identifying risk factors for carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae (CRKP) infection will shed light on controlling the spread of CRKP. Our retrospective study aimed to determine the clinical features, antimicrobial susceptibility, and mortality risk factors of patients who developed CRKP in patients followed up for haematological cancer in the Izmir University of Economics Haematology Department.

*Material and Methods* 19,170 blood-urine-sputum cultures were delivered from the patients, 1,595 (8.31%) of which presented growth. CRKP comprised 302 (1.57%) of such growth cases. The study included 72 patients with haematological malignancy who presented CRKP growth in 302 cultures obtained during the neutropenic fever period.

*Results* The mean age of patients was 51 (18-75 years). Acute myeloid leukaemia was the most common disease (n: 26, 36.11%). As to the antibiotic sensitivity of CRKP, 44 patients (61.1%) were colistin sensitive, 28 patients (38.9%) were colistin-resistant, 47 patients (65.3%) were tigecycline sensitive/medium sensitivity, 25 patients (34.7%) were tigecycline resistant, there was no statistically significant difference between antibiotic sensitivities and survival.

*Conclusions* Today, early detection of CRKP colonization in high-risk haematological patients, taking rectal culture, and if the patient presents rectal colonization of CRKP or had CRKP bacteremia during prior hospitalizations, early initiation of treatment with antibiotics acting against CRKP during NPF would significantly reduce mortality.

*Turk J Int Med* 2023:5(2);99-108 DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1167548</u>

Keywords: Carbapenem resistance, klebsiella pneumoniae,, immunocompromised patient, infection



Address for Correspondence:

Received: September 2, 2022; Accepted: February 6, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

Dr.Selda Kahraman, MD Medicana Izmir Hospital, Department of Hematology, Yenişehir, İşçiler caddesi no: 126, 35170 Konak, Izmir, Turkey E-mail:sel ad@yahoo.com


#### **INTRODUCTION**

In recent years, total life expectancy in haematological patients has been extended by the development of effective chemotherapy treatments, increased frequency of autologous and allogeneic stem cell transplantation, and improved supportive treatments. However, prolonged hospitalization, long neutropenia time, invasive medical procedures and repeated intensive immunosuppressive treatments increase bloodstream infections.1 The frequency of bloodstream infection among cancer patients varies between 11% and 38%, and the mortality rate rises to 40%.<sup>2</sup> Carbapenems (meropenem or imipenem/cilastatin) are used in the first place in hemodynamically unstable patients with neutropenic fever, comorbid diseases, and neutrophil  $< 100/mm3.^{3,4}$  The use of long-term carbapenem increases the prevalence of meropenem-resistant gram-negative bacteria. Multi-drug-resistant (MDR) gram-negative bacteria are reported at an increasing rate in many countries worldwide.5 The most frequently isolated factor in carbapenem-resistant bacterial infections is Klebsiella pneumoniae.6 Carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae (CRKP) is one of the nosocomial pathogens that can cause outbreaks where high mortality rates are observed and frequently isolated, especially from intensive care patients.7 CRKP bacteremia is also a bacterium with increasing prevalence and can cause significant morbidity and mortality in immunosuppressed patients. In this group of patients, prolonged use of broad-spectrum antibiotics during neutropenic fever increases the frequency of colonization of MDR gram-negative bacteria in different body parts.

The control and treatment of CRKP is a critical problem worldwide and in Turkey.8 CRKP's MDR and limited antibiotic responsiveness reduce the chances of treatment.9,10 The optimal treatment approach for Enterobacteriaceae infections with carbapenem-resistance has not yet been determined. Treatment options for Enterobacteriaceae infections resistant to carbapenem include polymyxin B, colistin, tigecycline, fosfomycine, aminoglycosides and ceftazidime-avibactam.<sup>11</sup> With its bactericidal effect depending on concentration and ability to reach an adequate concentration in serum, colistin represents an important treatment option, especially in CRKP infections in blood circulation.<sup>12</sup> With the widespread use of colistin, colistin-resistance has increased.<sup>13,14</sup> Determining the risk factors for CRKP infection will shed light on controlling the spread of CRKP. In patients with a haematological malignancy, there is limited information on the epidemiology of Klebsiella pneumoniae

bacteremia, development risk factors, and disease prognosis. In our retrospective study, we aimed to identify the clinical characteristics, laboratory findings, antimicrobial sensitivities, disease development and mortality risk factors of patients that developed CRKP among those who have been followed up in the Izmir University of Economics, Faculty of Medicine, Haematology Department with haematological cancer, who received chemotherapy or underwent allogeneic or autologous stem cell transplantation.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

In this retrospective study, among the patients who were hospitalized and followed up at the Haematology Clinic and Bone Marrow Transplantation Unit of Izmir University of Economics, Faculty of Medicine from 1 January 2015 to 31 August 2019, the patients who presented single or repeated CRKP growth through the neutropenic period in catheter and/or peripheral blood, urine and sputum cultures were included. The characteristics of patients, epidemiological and clinical findings, underlying diseases, antimicrobial susceptibility profiles, laboratory findings, and additional interventional procedures were evaluated. The ethics committee approved the study. No informed consent was received from patients due to the study's retrospective design.

#### Microbiological tests

When the axillary fever of neutropenic patients was >38 °C, the patients' catheter, peripheral blood, urine cultures and sputum cultures (if they presented sputum) were taken. (BACTECTM FX 200, Becton Dickinson). The bacterial identification and antibiotic susceptibility tests were performed with a microflex-TM LT/SH mass spectrometer (Bruker Daltonik, Bremen, Germany) and a VITEK<sup>®</sup> system (bioMérieux, Hazelwood, MO, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Cefazolin, cefoperazone-sulbactam and tigecycline were determined by the Kirby-Bauer disk diffusion method.

#### Definitions

It was defined by the Infectious Diseases Society of America.15 This definition defines fever as an axillary temperature of at least 38.3 °C measured at once or above 38 °C continuing for more than an hour. Later, body temperature rising to 38 °C and above twice within 12 hours was added to this definition. According to the 2003 guidelines of the Febrile Neutropenia Working Group in our country, neutropenic fever is defined as orally measured body temperature > 38.3 °C at once or >38 °C for more than one hour in neutropenic patients.16 Neutropenia is when the absolute number of neutrophils is less than 500/mm<sup>3</sup> or the number of neutrophils initially less than 1,000/mm3 drops to 500/mm<sup>3</sup> or less within 24-48 hours. Septic shock is defined as the condition in which systolic blood pressure is < 90 mmHg for a patient with fever or the need to use inotropic agents to maintain blood pressure at normal levels.

Klebsiella pneumoniae bacteremia was diagnosed when at least one of the blood sample cultures was positive for Klebsiella pneumoniae. Empirical antibiotic therapy was considered appropriate if at least one drug was active against the strain of Klebsiella pneumoniae (as determined by in vitro susceptibility tests). Antibiotic susceptibility was determined according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute 2015 recommendations.17 MDR was defined as non-susceptible to at least one agent in  $\geq 3$  antimicrobial categories, according to Magiorakos et al.18 Initial treatment for patients with neutropenic fever starts with meropenem treatment. Then, after CRKP growth, aminoglycosides, colistin and tigecycline were added to the treatment with antibiotics administered according to the antibiogram. If the patient had CRKP infection in previous neutropenic fever periods or rectal CRKP colonization, combined antibiotic therapy was started without waiting for culture in resistant fever.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data were expressed as mean±SD for normally distributed continuous variables, median (minimum:-maximum) for skew-distributed continuous variables, and frequencies for categorical variables. Pearson's chi-square test was performed to compare the categorical variables. ANOVA compared means of normally distributed continuous variables. The Mann-Whitney U test compared skew-distributed continuous variables. Cox regression analysis was used for multivariate analyses. The Statistical Package for Social Sciences (SPSS) for Windows version 15.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago) was used for the analysis, and a two-sided p - value of <0.05 was considered significant.

#### RESULTS

#### Patient Characteristics

Nineteen thousand one hundred seventy blood-

urine-sputum cultures were delivered from the patients hospitalized at Izmir University of Economics, Medicalpark Hospital, Clinic of Haematology and Bone Marrow Transplantation Unit, 1,595 (8.31%) of which presented growth. CRKP comprised 302 (1.57%) of such growth cases. The study included 72 patients with haematological malignancy who presented CRKP growth in 302 cultures obtained during the neutropenic fever (NPF) period. Table 1 showed the basic characteristics of 72 patients. The mean age of patients was 51 years (range: 18-75); 50 (69.44%) of them were male, and 22 (30.56%) were female. Acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) was the most common disease (n: 26, 36%). Other diseases were acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (n:18, 25%), non-Hodgkin lymphoma (n: 18, 25%), multiple myeloma (n: 5, 7%), aplastic anaemia (n: 3, 4.16%) and myelodysplastic syndrome (n: 2, 2.84%).

When patients are examined, CRKP growth was observed in 41 patients (56.95%) during remission induction treatment, 9 (12.5%) during consolidation treatment, 7 (9.72%) during peripheral hematopoietic stem cell transplantation, 12 (16.66%) during allogeneic stem cell transplantation, and 3 (4.17%) during hospitalization for acute graft versus host disease (GVHD) treatment. While 47 (65.28%) patients presenting growth had a treatment-resistant disease, 25 (34.72%), patients were in remission. Eight patients received the first remission induction, 16 received the second, 12 received the third, 7 received the fourth, one received the fifth, and three received the sixth induction treatments with resistant diseases. Ten patients had related allogeneic stem cell transplantation, and six underwent unrelated transplantation. Six of the patients with allogeneic transplants underwent transplantation with resistant disease. Six patients had CRKP rectal colonization while undergoing allogeneic transplantation, 12 presented CRKP growth during chemotherapy, and 4 presented it during hospitalization for acute GVHD treatment. CRKP growth was detected in the first month of transplantation in 11 patients, 30-100 days in 3 patients and 100-365 days in 2 patients. Acute GVHD developed in 6 of 15 patients during the follow-up. Five patients were treated with methylprednisolone, and cyclosporine, while one was treated with multiple immunosuppressive treatments (methylprednisolone, mycophenolate mofetil, tacrolimus, and mesenchymal stem cell infusion).

Eight of the ten patients with allogeneic transplants from sibling donors who had CRKP growth during

Parameters	Subgroup	Su	rvival	P value	$\chi^2$
	0 1	Live	Exitus		<i>,</i> ,,
Gender	Woman	6	16	0.815	0.055
Sender	Man	15	35	0.015	0.055
Diagnosis	Acute myeloid leukaemia*	3	23	0.003	17 743
Diagnosis	A cute lymphoblastic leukaemia	1	14	0.005	17.745
	Acute lymphoblastic leukaenna	7	14		
	non-Hodgkin lymphoma	7	11		
	Multiple myeloma	5	0		
	Myelodysplastic syndrome	I	1		
	Aplastic anemia	1	2		
Amikacin	Sensitive	2	15	0.125**	3.262
	Resistant	19	36		
Colistin	Sensitive	13	31	0.929	0.008
	Resistant	8	20		
Tigecycline	Sensitive	5	14	0.613	0.979
8 9	Medium sensitivity	10	18		
	Resistant	6	19		
Meropenem	Resistant	21	51	NC	NC
Gentemiein	Songitivo	21	10	0.480**	1 080
Gentalinelli	Desistant	10	10	0.469	1.069
	N	19	41	0.002	10 102
Chemotherapy	None	1	2	0.002	19.182
	Remission induction*	1	34		
	Consolidation	4	2		
	Autologous SCT	6	1		
	Allogeneic SCT	3	9		
	GVHD treatment	0	3		
Resistant disease	No	12	13	0.010	6.575
	Yes	9	38		
Allogeneic transplantation	None	18	38	0.577	1.101
8 1	Allo-sibling	2	8		
	Allo-unrelated	1	5		
Prior transplantation	No allo-autologous SCT	20	32	0.019	7 932
i nor autoplanation	Allogeneic SCT	1	13	0.017	1.952
	Autologous SCT	0	6		
CDVD growth logation	Cathatar blood	1	0	0.061	0.091
CKKF glowin location		1	2	0.901	0.081
	Peripheral blood	1	3		
	Catheter-peripheral blood	12	34	0.50444	0.660
Quinolon oral prophylaxis	None	5	8	0.504**	0.663
	Positive	16	43		
Use of meropenem	No	1	4	1.000**	0.219
	Yes	20	47		
Use of meropenem in the last	No	2	6	1.000**	0.076
4 weeks	Yes	19	45		
Neutrophil during infection	500-700/mm <sup>3</sup>	4	4	0.332	2.205
1 8	<100-500/mm <sup>3</sup>	16	42		
	<100/mm <sup>3</sup>	1	5		
Transferred from another	No	12	21	0.217	1 527
centre	Vec	9	30	0.217	1.527
Upanitalization at ICU	I CS	20	30	0 664**	0.405
Hospitalization at ICO	NO	20	40	0.004	0.495
The last the	i es	1	5	0.400**	0.044
Invasive procedure	Non-catheter	2	10	0.488**	0.944
	Catheter	18	41	0.510.44	0.450
Mucositis	Grade 1-2	19	43	0.713**	0.472
	Grade 3-4	2	8		
Prior NPF colonization	None	15	45	0.095**	3.025
	Positive	6	6		
Prior NPF bacteremia	None	15	46	0.131**	2.742
	Positive	5	5		
CRKP bacteremia 30-dav	None	21	3	< 0.001	59.294
mortality	Positive	0	48		

#### Table 1. Characteristics of patients and their impact on survival.

Parameters	Subgroup	Surv	vival	P value	$\chi^2$
		Live	Exitus		<i>,</i> ,,
Empirical treatment	М	0	1	0.243	9.142
•	M-A	1	0		
	M-A-C	0	3		
	M-A-C-T	13	28		
	M-G-C-T	3	5		
	M-C-T	2	13		
	M-C	1	1		
	M-T	1	0		
IPA	None	17	37	0.454	0.560
	Positive	4	14		
IPA Treatment	None	7	17	0.894	0.613
	Caspofungin	11	25		
	Voriconazole	1	4		
	Liposomal amphotericin B	2	7		
Colonization at hospitalization	Unexamined	7	30	0.685**	0.286
_	None	10	13		
	Positive	6	6		
GVHD	None	19	43	0.662**	0.515
	Acute GVHD	1	5		
Immunosuppressive treatment	No	16	32	0.322	0.980
	Yes	4	15		
Septic shock	None	13	3	< 0.001**	27.011
-	Positive	8	48		
Inhaler treatment	None	17	32	0.132	2.268
	Positive	4	19		
Mechanical ventilation	None	20	20	< 0.001	18.908
	Positive	1	31		
Cause of death	Other	21	38	0.011**	7.430
	Klebsiella bacteremia	0	13		

#### **Continuation of Table 1**

P < 0.05 was considered significant and \* indicates significant subgroup. Pearson's Chi-Square and \*\*Fisher's Exact Chi-Square tests were used. NC: not calculated. SCT: stem cell transplantation, GVHD: Graft versus host disease, CRKP: carbapenem-resistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, ICU: intensive care unit, NPF: neutopenic fever, M: meropenem, A: amikacin, G: gentamisin, C: colistin, T: tigecycline, IPA: invasive pulmoner aspergillosis.

hospitalization and 5 of the six patients with unrelated transplants were lost at the follow-up. Six of the lost patients with allogeneic transplants underwent transplantation with resistant disease. Twelve patients (16.7%) presented rectal CRKP colonization; ten patients (14.1%) had CRKP bacteremia in previous NPF periods. The patients presenting growth were hospitalized five times on average (1 to 12 times), 39 patients (54.2%) were transferred to our hospital from another clinic, and six patients (8.3%) stayed in the intensive care unit. Sixty patients (83.3%) had a temporary central venous catheter. The most common invasive procedure for patients was the insertion of the temporary central venous catheter, and other less frequent methods were shown in Table 2. CRKP growth was detected in the catheter and peripheral blood cultures in 47 patients (65.28%), peripheral blood culture only in 4 patients (5.5%), and catheter blood culture only in 4 patients (5.5%) (Table 3). On average, CRKP growth was observed to be 1.94 (1-6) for peripheral blood culture and 1.73 (1-5) for catheter blood culture. It was

observed that 64 patients (88.9%) with growth have been receiving meropenem in the last four weeks, 67 patients took meropenem due to NPF (93.1%) during growth, while 60 patients (83.3%) received quinolone prophylaxis. On average, they took meropenem for 9.05 days between 0-30 days.

Considering the empirical antibiotic treatments given to this patient group, 41 patients (56.94%) received meropenem, amikacin, colistin, and tigecycline in combination, 15 (20.83%) meropenem, colistin, tigecycline and eight patients (11.1%) took meropenem, gentamycin, colistin treatment (Table 1).

As to the antibiotic sensitivity of CRKP, 44 patients (61.1%) were colistin sensitive (31 patients lost on follow-up, 84%), 28 patients (38.9%) were colistin-resistant (20 patients lost on follow-up, 71%), 47 patients (65.3%) were tigecycline sensitive/medium sensitivity (32 patients lost, 65%), 25 patients (34.7%) were tigecycline resistant (19 patients lost, 76%), 17 patients (23.61%) were amikacin sensitive (15 patients lost, 88%), 55 patients (76.39%) were amikacin resis

Table 2. Distribution of 72 invasive procedures applied to patients.

Procedure	n (%)
Central and venous catheter	60 (83.2)
Endoscopy-colonoscopy	2 (2.8)
Rectal abscess drain	2 (2.8)
Abdomen exploration	2 (2.8)
Splenectomy	1 (1.4)
Bronchoscopy	1 (1.4)
Prostate abscess drain	1 (1.4)
Pancreas cyst drain	1 (1.4)
No procedure	2 (2.8)

Table 3. CRKP growth locations.

8	
Locations	n (%)
Catheter-peripheral blood culture	47 (65.28)
Blood-urine culture	6 (8.3)
Sputum-blood culture	6 (8.3)
Catheter blood culture	4 (5.5)
Peripheral blood culture	4 (5.5)
Urine culture	3 (4.32)
Sputum culture	1 (1.4)
Catheter-peripheral blood and BOS culture	1 (1.4)

tant (36 patients lost, 65%), 12 patients (16.7%) were gentamicin sensitive (10 patients lost, 83%), 60 patients (83.3%) were gentamicin resistant (41 patients lost, 68%); and there was no statistically significant difference between antibiotic sensitivities and survival (Table 4).

Rectal swabs were taken from patients during hospitalization as of January 2018. According to the hospitalization data of 72 patients with CRKP growth, it was observed that no rectal swab was taken from 37 patients, while rectal swabs were taken from 35 patients. Rectal colonization was detected in 12 patients, six patients with rectal colonization survived, but six patients were lost.

During the CRKP growth, 38 patients (52.8%) had grade 1-2 mucositis, ten patients (13.9%) had grade 3-4 mucositis, and 24 patients (33.3%) had no mucositis. Among the patients with CRKP growth, 54 patients

Table 4 CDKD antibiotic consitivity

(75%) had no invasive pulmonary aspergillosis (IPA), while 12 patients (16.7%) presented probable and six patients (8.3%) presented proven IPA at that time of hospitalization. Ten patients received liposomal amphotericin B. Six patients received voriconazole, 36 received caspofungin, and 20 had no antifungal.

Among the patients with CRKP growth, 23 patients (31.9%) had steroids and beta-agonist, and 32 (44.4%) were followed up with ventilator support. In the follow-up, 48 patients (66.7%) died in the first 30 days after CRKP growth, and 51 (70.83%) died in 60 days. A total of 13 patients (18.05%) died due to CRKP bacteremia, 35 patients (48.61%) were lost due to disease progression and CRKP infection, while three patients (4.16%) were lost due to GVHD and disease progression.

Factors influencing survival were shown in Table 1. Given the factors influencing survival, the mortality rates of patients diagnosed with AML (p = 0.003), patients treated with remission induction treatment (p = 0.002), patients with the resistant disease (p = 0.01), patients who underwent allo- or autologous transplantation (p = 0.019), patients who developed septic shock (p < 0.001) and those conditioned to mechanical ventilation (p < 0.001) had significantly higher mortality rates. No significant relation was detected between mortality and sex, antibiotic sensitivity, allotransplantation, disease status at the time of transplantation, use of meropenem during growth, use of levofloxacin, neutrophil count during infection, stay in the intensive care unit, transfer from another centre, invasive procedure, empirical treatment, bacteremia during former neutropenic fever, colonization during former neutropenic fever, development of IPA, rectal colonization at the time of transplantation, GVHD or use of immunosuppressive treatment (p > 0.05).

#### DISCUSSION

The present study aimed to identify the clinical characteristics, laboratory findings, antimicrobial sensitivities, disease development and mortality risk fac-

Table 4. CKKP and	idiotic sensitivity.		
Antibiotics	Sensitive	Medium sensitive	Resistant
	frequency n (%)	frequency n (%)	frequency n (%)
Gentamicin	12 (16.7)	0	60 (83.3)
Amikacin	17 (23.6)	0	55 (76.4)
Colistin	44 (61.1)	0	28 (38.9)
Tigecycline	19 (26.38)	28 (38.9)	25 (34.72)

tors of patients that developed CRKP among those with haematological patients who received chemotherapy or underwent allogeneic or autologous stem cell transplantation. The prevalence of CRKP varies depending on geography. The prevalence in China is around 10%, while it rises to 60% in India.<sup>19</sup> The prevalence of CRKP is increasing, given the studies on patients with haematological malignancy. In a review of 30 studies from 21 countries to determine the global prevalence of carbapenem-resistant infections, carbapenem resistance was 9% on average, ranging between 2-53%. On the other hand, CRKP strains have been identified at a higher rate in countries such as Italy, Greece and Israel, and these regions have been identified as endemic areas.<sup>20</sup>

In this study, gram-negative bacteria growth was detected in 1,519 (8.31%) of 19,179 blood-urine-sputum cultures taken from patients hospitalized in the Haematology and Bone Marrow Transplantation Unit of our hospital for more than four years between 2015-2019. Among them, 302 cases (1.57%) were CRKP. In the retrospective 5-year data of a single centre, published by Kara et al.21, bloodstream infection was 14.5%. Gram-negative bacteria accounted for 2% of the CRKP growth. In a study by Trecarichi et al.10 involving thirteen Haematology centres in Italy, CRKP accounted for 161 (57.9%) of the 278 cases of Klebsiella pneumoniae growth, isolated between January 2010 and June 2014, 117 (42.1%) of them was meropenem-sensitive Klebsiella pneumoniae (MSKP); 84 out of 161 (52.2%) meropenem-resistant patients and 17 out of 117 (14.5%) patients with MSKP growth died in 21 days (p < 0.001). Septic shock, acute respiratory failure, inadequate initial antimicrobial treatment and carbapenem resistance were associated with mortality as an independent risk factor. In the present study, during the follow-up, 48 patients (66.7%) died in the first 30 days after CRKP growth, and 51 patients (70.83%) died in 60 days. A total of 13 patients (18.05%) died due to CRKP bacteremia, 35 patients (48.61%) were lost due to disease progression and CRKP infection, while three patients (4.16%) were lost due to GVHD and disease progression. In haematology patients, risk factors for the development of CRKP infection were found to include age > 50 years, especially male sex, AML patients, relapse or refractory leukaemia, long-term hospitalized patients, longterm neutropenia, rectal CRKP colonization, prior CRKP bacteremia, patients with a central catheter or

urinary catheterization.<sup>9,22</sup>

Given the factors influencing survival after CRKP infection in our study, the mortality rates of patients diagnosed with AML (p = 0.003), patients treated with remission induction treatment (p = 0.002), patients with the resistant disease (p = 0.01), patients who underwent allo- or autologous transplantation (p = 0.019), patients who developed septic shock (p = 0.019)< 0.001) and those conditioned to mechanical ventilation (p < 0.001) had significantly higher mortality rates. No significant relation was detected between mortality and sex, antibiotic sensitivity, allotransplantation, disease studies at the time of transplantation, use of meropenem during growth, use of levofloxacin, neutrophil count during infection, stay in the intensive care unit, transfer from another centre, invasive procedure, empirical treatment, bacteremia during former neutropenic fever, colonization during former neutropenic fever, development of IPA, rectal colonization at the time of transplantation, GVHD or use of immunosuppressive treatment (p > 0.05). The high mortality rates of patients included in the study were associated with the high number of patients with relapsed refractory haematological malignancy and those diagnosed with AML. In a study in which we examined the infections developed by 199 patients who underwent allogeneic stem cell transplantation during 219 transplants from November 2012 to July 2018, 9 patients presented CRKP. One patient had MSKP growth in the catheter and peripheral blood cultures, seven had CRKP, and four had MSKP growth in urine cultures. Two patients had CRKP, and one had MSKP growth in sputum cultures. Five patients were lost due to CRKP sepsis during the follow-up of patients with MRKP growth. Three of them presented resistance to colistin and tigecycline. Colistin and tigecycline resistance were detected in 20% of the patients.<sup>23</sup>

A comparison of the data of the two studies revealed that colistin and tigecycline resistance increased over time, which indicates that colistin resistance rises over the years and shows a high rate of dispersion.

In haematological patients, the CRKP colonization rate is 3.8% in Italy, while in India, it increases up to 21%. It was observed that 14% of the colonized patients developed bloodstream infections with the same bacteria.<sup>24,25</sup> In a study conducted by Micozzi *et al.*<sup>26</sup> on haematological patients at Sapienza University of Rome, CRKP rectal colonization was detected in 22 out of 373 patients from January 2014 to September 2014, 12 (64%) of which developed bacteremia; while rectal colonization was detected in 14 out of 131 initial patients, those patients were then isolated, rectal culture was started to be taken every week, and colonization rate continuously decreased in subsequent hospitalizations. Rectal colonization was detected in 5 of the 242 patients hospitalized after the rectal culture started to be taken routinely (p = 0.001). 14 (58%) of the 22 patients with rectal colonization developed bacteremia, and all had AML (p = 0.02). Bacteremia grew in the neutropenic period in 86% of the patients. Ten of the 14 patients who developed bacteremia died in the follow-up, all of whom had AML. Initial adequate antibiotic therapy resulted in the only independent factor to protect against death (p = 0.02). The researchers claimed that starting initial antibiotics for patients with rectal CRKP during NPF based on CRKP culture antibiogram colonization would reduce mortality.26 The present study included patients admitted to the Haematology service between January 1, 2015, and August 31, 2019. Rectal swabs were taken from patients during hospitalization as of January 2018. According to the hospitalization data of 72 patients with CRKP growth, it was observed that no rectal swab was taken from 37 patients, while rectal swabs were taken from 35 patients. Rectal colonization was detected in 12 patients, six patients with rectal colonization survived, but six patients were lost. In a study by Micozzi et al.26, the colistin sensitivity was 50% (12/22), and tigecycline sensitivity was 27% (6/22), while all patients were gentamicin resistant (0/22). After the documentation of CRKP infection, patients are usually administered combination treatments. Tigecycline/amikacin/colistin, colistin/ tigecycline/gentamicin and colistin/tigecycline/meropenem combinations are used. However, some studies reported a synergic effect against carbapenem-resistant bacteria in in vitro environments<sup>27-29</sup>, while other studies did not show such a synergic effect.<sup>30</sup>

The late start of the combination treatment is one of the key factors affecting mortality.27,28 In the present study, 41 patients (56.94%) were given a combination of meropenem, amikacin, colistin and tigecycline; 15 patients (20.83%) received meropenem, colistin, tigecycline, and eight patients (11.1%) had meropenem, gentamicin, colistin and tigecycline. Other patients received single or double antibiotics (11.13%). Combination therapy with three or four antibiotics is recommended in CRKP infections. 88.87% of our patients used triple or quadruple combination antibiotic therapy as recommended. Treatment was directed according to the antibiotic susceptibility obtained as a result of the cultures. Therefore, our study found no statistical significance between antibiotic susceptibility and mortality.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Currently, carbapenems are used empirically as part of the first line of treatment during neutropenic fever in patients with haematological malignancy. The widespread use of carbapenems is one of the critical factors in the increase of carbapenem-resistant strains. Today, early detection of CRKP colonization in high-risk haematological patients (e.g. patients with AML who receive remission-induction treatment, patients with relapsed refractory AML, or patients to undergo allogeneic or autologous bone marrow transplantation), taking rectal culture as a routine procedure during hospitalization, and if the patient presents rectal colonization of CRKP or had CRKP bacteremia during prior hospitalizations, early initiation of treatment with combined antibiotics acting against CRKP during NPF (meropenem, aminoglycoside, colistin and tigecycline) would significantly reduce mortality.

#### Conflict of Interest

The authors of this paper have no conflicts of interest, including specific financial interests, relationships, and/or affiliations relevant to the subject matter or materials included.

#### Funding Sources

The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### Ethical Approval

The protocol of the study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of İzmir Katip Çelebi University, İzmir, Turkey. (Decision number: 0259, date: May 2021).

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception, Supervision, Critical Review: SK, SÇ, GE; Study Design, Fundings: GE, SK,; Data Collection and/or Processing: SK, SÇ,; Analysis and/ or Interpretation: SK, SÇ,; Materials: GE,; Literature Review, Writer: SK, SÇ.

#### REFERENCES

1. Trecarichi EM, Tumbarello M. Antimicrobial-resistant Gram-negative bacteria in febrile neutropenic patients with cancer: current epidemiology and clinical impact. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2014 Apr;27(2):200-10. doi: 10.1097/ QCO.000000000000038.

2. Crawford J, Dale DC, Lyman GH. Chemotherapy-induced neutropenia: risks, consequences, and new directions for its management. Cancer. 2004 Jan 15;100(2):228-37. doi: 10.1002/ cncr.11882.

3. Freifeld AG, Bow EJ, Sepkowitz KA, Boeckh MJ, Ito JI, Mullen CA, Raad II, Rolston KV, Young JA, Wingard JR; Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clinical practice guideline for the use of antimicrobial agents in neutropenic patients with cancer: 2010 update by the infectious diseases society of america. Clin Infect Dis. 2011 Feb 15;52(4):e56-93. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir073.

4. Averbuch D, Orasch C, Cordonnier C, Livermore DM, Mikulska M, Viscoli C, Gyssens IC, Kern WV, Klyasova G, Marchetti O, Engelhard D, Akova M; ECIL4, a joint venture of EBMT, EORTC, ICHS, ESGICH/ESCMID and ELN. European guidelines for empirical antibacterial therapy for febrile neutropenic patients in the era of growing resistance: summary of the 2011 4th European Conference on Infections in Leukemia. Haematologica. 2013 Dec;98(12):1826-35. doi: 10.3324/haematol.2013.091025.

5. Pereira GH, Garcia DO, Mostardeiro M, Fanti KS, Levin AS. Outbreak of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae: two-year epidemiologic follow-up in a tertiary hospital. Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz. 2013 Feb;108(1):113-5. doi: 10.1590/s0074-02762013000100019.

6. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. ([2018)]. Central Asian and Eastern European Surveillance of Antimicrobial Resistance: Annual report 2018. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/324806. Accessed August 30, 2022.

7. Maltezou HC. Metallo-beta-lactamases in Gram-negative bacteria: introducing the era of pan-resistance? Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2009 May;33(5):405.e1-7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2008.09.003.

8. Satlin MJ, Jenkins SG, Walsh TJ. The global challenge of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in transplant recipients and patients with hematologic malignancies. Clin Infect Dis. 2014 May;58(9):1274-83. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciu052.

9. Satlin MJ, Cohen N, Ma KC, Gedrimaite Z, Soave R, Askin G, Chen L, Kreiswirth BN, Walsh TJ, Seo SK. Bacteremia due to carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in neutropenic patients with hematologic malignancies. J Infect. 2016 Oct;73(4):336-45. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2016.07.002.

10. Trecarichi EM, Pagano L, Martino B, Candoni A, Di Blasi R, Nadali G, Fianchi L, Delia M, Sica S, Perriello V, Busca A, Aversa F, Fanci R, Melillo L, Lessi F, Del Principe MI, Cattaneo C, Tumbarello M; HaematologicMalignancies Associated Bloodstream Infections Surveillance (HEMABIS) registry - Sorveglianza Epidemiologica Infezioni Funginein Emopatie Maligne (SEIFEM) group, Italy. Bloodstream infections caused by Klebsiella pneumoniae in onco-hematological patients: clinical impact of carbapenem resistance in a multicentre prospective survey. Am J Hematol. 2016 Nov;91(11):1076-81. doi: 10.1002/ajh.24489.

11. Munoz-Price LS, Poirel L, Bonomo RA, Schwaber MJ, Daikos GL, Cormican M, Cornaglia G, Garau J, Gniadkowski M, Hayden MK, Kumarasamy K, Livermore DM, Maya JJ, Nordmann P, Patel JB, Paterson DL, Pitout J, Villegas MV, Wang H, Woodford N, Quinn JP. Clinical epidemiology of the global expansion of Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemases. Lancet Infect Dis. 2013 Sep;13(9):785-96. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(13)70190-7.

12. Neuner EA, Yeh JY, Hall GS, Sekeres J, Endimiani A, Bonomo RA, Shrestha NK, Fraser TG, van Duin D. Treatment and outcomes in carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae bloodstream infections. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2011 Apr;69(4):357-62. doi: 10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2010.10.013.

13. Falagas ME, Rafailidis PI, Matthaiou DK. Resistance to polymyxins: Mechanisms, frequency and treatment options. Drug Resist Updat. 2010 Aug-Oct;13(4-5):132-8. doi: 10.1016/j. drup.2010.05.002.

14. Liu YY, Wang Y, Walsh TR, Yi LX, Zhang R, Spencer J, Doi Y, Tian G, Dong B, Huang X, Yu LF, Gu D, Ren H, Chen X, Lv L, He D, Zhou H, Liang Z, Liu JH, Shen J. Emergence of plasmid-mediated colistin resistance mechanism MCR-1 in animals and human beings in China: a microbiological and molecular biological study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016 Feb;16(2):161-8. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00424-7.

15. Hughes WT, Armstrong D, Bodey GP, Bow EJ, Brown AE, Calandra T, Feld R, Pizzo PA, Rolston KV, Shenep JL, Young LS. 2002 guidelines for the use of antimicrobial agents in neutropenic patients with cancer. Clin Infect Dis. 2002 Mar 15;34(6):730-51. doi: 10.1086/339215.

16. Febril Nötropeni Çalışma Grubu. Febril nötropenik hastalarda tanı ve tedavi kılavuzu. Flora 2004;9(1):5-28 (in Turkish). Available at: http://www.floradergisi.org/managete/fu\_folder/2004-01/2004-9-1-005-028.pdf. Accessed August 30, 2022.

17. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI). Performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing; Twenty-fifth informational supplement. CLSI document M100-S25. 2015 Jan;15(3):1-236. Available at: https://file.qums.ac.ir/repository/mmrc/CLSI2015.pdf. Accessed August 30, 2022.

18. Magiorakos AP, Burns K, Rodríguez Baño J, Borg M, Daikos G, Dumpis U, Lucet JC, Moro ML, Tacconelli E, Simonsen GS, Szilágyi E, Voss A, Weber JT. Infection prevention and control measures and tools for the prevention of entry of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae into healthcare settings: guidance from the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2017 Nov 15;6:113. doi: 10.1186/s13756-017-0259-z.

19. Theuretzbacher U. Global antimicrobial resistance in Gram-negative pathogens and clinical need. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2017 Oct;39:106-12. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2017.10.028.

20. Righi E, Peri AM, Harris PN, Wailan AM, Liborio M, Lane SW, Paterson DL. Global prevalence of carbapenem resistance in neutropenic patients and association with mortality and carbapenem use: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2017 Mar 1;72(3):668-77. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkw459.

21. Kara Ö, Zarakolu P, Aşçioğlu S, Etgül S, Uz B, Büyükaşik Y, Akova M. Epidemiology and emerging resistance in bac-

terial bloodstream infections in patients with hematologic malignancies. Infect Dis (Lond). 2015;47(10):686-93. doi: 10.3109/23744235.2015.1051105.

22. Marimuthu K, Venkatachalam I, Khong WX, Koh TH, Cherng BPZ, Van La M, De PP, Krishnan PU, Tan TY, Choon RFK, Pada SK, Lam CW, Ooi ST, Deepak RN, Smitasin N, Tan EL, Lee JJ, Kurup A, Young B, Sim NTW, Thoon KC, Fisher D, Ling ML, Peng BAS, Teo YY, Hsu LY, Lin RTP, Ong RT, Teo J, Ng OT; Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacteriaceae in Singapore (CaPES) Study Group. Clinical and molecular epidemiology of carbapenem-resistant enterobacteriaceae among adult inpatients in Singapore. Clin Infect Dis. 2017 May 15;64(suppl\_2):S68-S75. doi: 10.1093/cid/cix113.

23. Kahraman S, Ece G, Ocakçı S, Çağırgan S. Hastanemize başvuran hematolojik maligniteli hastalarda allogeneik hematopoetik kök hücre nakli esnasında gelişen enfeksiyonların değerlendirilmesi (in Turkish). Oral presented at: XXXVIII Türk Mikrobiyoloji Kongresi; 4-8 Kasım 2018; Antalya, Turkey.

25. Jaiswal SR, Gupta S, Kumar RS, Sherawat A, Rajoreya A, Dash SK, Bhagwati G, Chakrabarti S. Gut colonization with carbapenem-resistant enterobacteriaceae adversely impacts the outcome in patients with hematological malignancies: Results of a prospective surveillance study. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2018 May 1;10(1):e2018025. doi: 10.4084/MJHID.2018.025. 26. Cattaneo C, Di Blasi R, Skert C, Candoni A, Martino B, Di Renzo N, Delia M, Ballanti S, Marchesi F, Mancini V, Orciuolo E, Cesaro S, Prezioso L, Fanci R, Nadali G, Chierichini A, Facchini L, Picardi M, Malagola M, Orlando V, Trecarichi EM, Tumbarello M, Aversa F, Rossi G, Pagano L; SEIFEM Group. Bloodstream infections in haematological cancer patients colonized by multidrug-resistant bacteria. Ann Hematol. 2018 Sep;97(9):1717-26. doi: 10.1007/s00277-018-3341-6.

26. Micozzi A, Gentile G, Minotti C, Cartoni C, Capria S, Bal-

larò D, Santilli S, Pacetti E, Grammatico S, Bucaneve G, Foà R. Carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae in high-risk haematological patients: factors favouring spread, risk factors and outcome of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae bacteremias. BMC Infect Dis. 2017 Mar 10;17(1):203. doi: 10.1186/ s12879-017-2297-9.

27. Paul M, Carmeli Y, Durante-Mangoni E, Mouton JW, Tacconelli E, Theuretzbacher U, Mussini C, Leibovici L. Combination therapy for carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014 Sep;69(9):2305-9. doi: 10.1093/ jac/dku168.

28. Tumbarello M, Trecarichi EM, De Rosa FG, Giannella M, Giacobbe DR, Bassetti M, Losito AR, Bartoletti M, Del Bono V, Corcione S, Maiuro G, Tedeschi S, Celani L, Cardellino CS, Spanu T, Marchese A, Ambretti S, Cauda R, Viscoli C, Viale P; ISGRI-SITA (Italian Study Group on Resistant Infections of the Società Italiana Terapia Antinfettiva). Infections caused by KPC-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae: differences in therapy and mortality in a multicentre study. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2015 Jul;70(7):2133-43. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkv086.

29. Tofas P, Skiada A, Angelopoulou M, Sipsas N, Pavlopoulou I, Tsaousi S, Pagoni M, Kotsopoulou M, Perlorentzou S, Antoniadou A, Pirounaki M, Skoutelis A, Daikos GL. Carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae bloodstream infections in neutropenic patients with haematological malignancies or aplastic anaemia: Analysis of 50 cases. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2016 Apr;47(4):335-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2016.01.011.

30. Del Bono V, Giacobbe DR, Marchese A, Parisini A, Fucile C, Coppo E, Marini V, Arena A, Molin A, Martelli A, Gratarola A, Viscoli C, Pelosi P, Mattioli F. Meropenem for treating KPC-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae bloodstream infections: Should we get to the PK/PD root of the paradox? Virulence. 2017 Jan 2;8(1):66-73. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2016.1213476.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



**TURKISH JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE** 

# Subcutaneous and Intravenous Cladribine Treatment of Hairy Cell Leukemia Patients: Do We Still Need Intravenous Cladribine?

Tuba ERSAL<sup>(b)</sup>, Fahir ÖZKALEMKAŞ<sup>(b)</sup>, Vildan ÖZKOCAMAN<sup>(b)</sup>, İbrahim Ethem PINAR<sup>(b)</sup>, Cumali YALÇIN<sup>(b)</sup>, Bedrettin ORHAN<sup>(b)</sup>, Ömer CANDAR<sup>(b)</sup>, Sinem ÇUBUKÇU<sup>(b)</sup>, Tuba GÜLLÜ KOCA<sup>(b)</sup>, Rıdvan ALİ.<sup>(b)</sup>

Division of Hematology, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa Uludag University, Faculty of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

*Background* Hairy cell leukaemia (HCL) is an uncommon neoplasm representing approximately 2% leukaemias and < 1% lymphoid neoplasms. Although HCL remains an incurable disease, first-line treatment with intravenous (IV) or subcutaneous (SC) cladribine (2-CdA) often leads to long-term remissions. Although long-term data are available for IV administration, similar comparable data for SC administration are lacking. *Material and Methods* Demographic data, laboratory and clinical parameters of 20 patients with HCL, and IV and SC administrations of cladribine in primary treatment were analyzed.

**Results** All patients were administered 2-CdA as the first-line therapy. 2-CdA was administered intravenously to 11 patients and subcutaneously to 9 patients. The hospitalization times were shorter in the SC route, and the incidence of febrile neutropenia was less; therefore, statistical significance could not be determined. There was no difference between the route of administration and the treatment response. A correlation was recorded between the level of anaemia before treatment and the time to treatment response. In addition, a correlation was recorded between the level of anaemia before treatment and minimal residual disease status after treatment. The median overall survival (OS) was 43.5 months (confidence interval 95%: 1.5-79 months), and 2- and 5-year OS was 95%. There was no increase in the incidence of second primary cancer.

*Conclusions* The outcomes of HCL patients treated with SC 2-CdA are quite good, and, in most patients, one cycle of SC 2-CdA was adequate for long-term disease control. SC 2-CdA is an easily applicable option for outpatients, and their side effects are often easily manageable.

*Turk J Int Med 2023:5(2);109-116* DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1239905</u>

Keywords: Hairy cell leukemia, 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine, 2-CdA, subcutaneous cladribine.



Address for Correspondence:

Received: January 23, 2023; Accepted: March 29, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

Tuba ERSAL, MD Faculty of Medicine, Division of Hematology, Department of Internal Medicine, Bursa Uludag University, Bursa, Turkey Email: tubaersal@uludag.edu.tr



#### **INTRODUCTION**

Hairy cell leukaemia (HCL) is an uncommon malignancy, representing approximately 2% of leukaemias and < 1% of lymphoid neoplasms.<sup>1</sup> The median age of onset is 50-55 years. The male-female ratio is approximately 4:1.2,3 Most patients present with symptoms of splenomegaly or cytopenia, fatigue, infection, and hemorrhagic signs.<sup>4,5</sup> These signs are usually not accompanied by symptom B. Palpable splenomegaly is a classic feature of HCL. Pancytopenia is present in 60-80% of patients with HCL.3-5 Circulating tumour cells specific to HCL are usually observed in the peripheral blood. Cytoplasmic slender protrusions give the cell a "hairy" appearance. Tartrate-resistant acid phosphate activity can be demonstrated in any patient, although the proportions of positive cells vary across patients. However, it is not a specific finding for HCL. Hairy cells strongly express pan-B cell antigens and typically express CD11c, CD25, CD103, CD123 (bright), and cyclin D1 (usually weak). Annexin A1 and BRAF V600E mutations are detected in approximately 75% of all HCL cases. Therefore, it should be remembered that HCL, as in other indolent lymphomas, cannot be cured. Asymptomatic patients are not treated. If patients present with signs of disease or a decrease in their haematological parameters, they should be treated. In general, the haematological parameters that indicate the need for treatment include at least one of the following: haemoglobin (Hgb) 11 g/dL, thrombocyte count 100,000/mL, or absolute neutrophil count 1000/ mL.<sup>6,7</sup> Symptomatic splenomegaly may be an indication for treatment. Nucleoside analogues, such as pentostatin and cladribine, have been introduced recently and have emerged as effective therapeutic options with promising results.<sup>8,9</sup> The first choice, in this case, is 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine (cladribine, 2-CdA). 2-CdA is administered continuously through intravenous (IV) in most clinical trials, and it is still used in several centres as the first-line therapy for patients with HCL. However, although the plasma half-life is short, 2-CdA accumulates in leukemic cells and has a longer intracellular half-life, which makes it feasible to adopt subcutaneous (SC) applications.1<sup>0,11</sup>

Although a cure is not achieved through this approach, complete remission (CR) is achieved with Hgb > 11 g/dL (without transfusion), thrombocyte >100x10<sup>9</sup>/L, neutrophil >  $1.5x10^{9}$ /L, morphologically undetectable HCL cells in the peripheral blood and bone marrow, absence of organomegaly in physical examination, and the absence of symptoms.<sup>12</sup> Piro *et al.*<sup>13</sup> reported 11 CR and one partial response (PR) for 12 patients with HCL who

were treated with a single 7-day course of 2-CdA. Other studies have reported similar outcomes.14-16 In 20-50% of the HCL patients who achieved CR with 2-CdA treatment, minimal residual disease (MRD) was subsequently demonstrated by immunohistochemical methods.17,18 Disease recurrence has been associated with MRD in HCL.<sup>19</sup> If the response is inadequate or relapse occurs before 12 months, alternative purine analogues may be administered alone or in combination with rituximab, rituximab alone, interferon administration, or via referral to clinical trials.<sup>20</sup> Recently, vemurafenib, a BRAF inhibitor, was applied in treating resistant and relapsing HCL with significant outcomes.<sup>21</sup> The development of recombinant immunotoxins targeting CD25 or CD22 is ongoing.<sup>22,23</sup> In this study, we retrospectively analyzed the demographic data, treatments, length of hospital stay, treatment responses, complications, and survival rates of 20 patients with HCL who were diagnosed during 2015-2021.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

Twenty patients diagnosed with HCL and followed up at the Bursa Uludag University Hematology Department Clinic between 2015 and 2021 were included in the study. The inclusion criteria were pathological, flow cytometric, and morphologically confirmed HCL diagnosis, treatment for HCL diagnosis, and age > 18 years. Data on the clinical features of the patients, signs and symptoms at the time of presentation, laboratory values at the time of diagnosis, imaging and pathology reports, treatments applied, treatment modalities (IV and SC), treatment responses, the length of hospital stay, and the short- and long-term complications were retrospectively reviewed.

The standard protocol at our centre was IV administration. However, we used SC when there was no IV form. Then, we compared the outcomes with IV and SC applications. No difference was recorded between the groups regarding age, gender, spleen size, and laboratory results. Accordingly, we did not change the diagnosis, supportive treatment, or follow-up.

The treatment protocols in the studies included 0.14 mg/kg SC 2-CdA for five days or 0.1 mg/kg IV 2-CdA for seven days. In the study, the response evaluation was performed clinically and through the laboratory, every two weeks, and a bone marrow biopsy was performed approximately six months after the treatment. Response measures were made as suggested by Grever's consensus guidelines in 2017.12

Patients were classified as those with morpholog-

ical evidence of disease, those with MRD+, or those without any evidence of the disease. The morphological illness was defined as lymphoid infiltrates that could be identified on sections stained with hematoxylin and eosin. MRD required the absence of lymphoid infiltrates on the hematoxylin- and eosin-stained sections but the presence of HCL-specific B cells on flow cytometry or an HCL-specific lymphoid infiltrate on immunohistochemical staining alone. The samples were considered to have no residual HCL evidence if no lymphoid infiltrates were detected in the hematoxylin- and eosin-stained sections, < 5% CD20+ B lymphocytes, and no flow cytometric evidence of monoclonal B cells.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Data were analyzed with IBM SPSS V23. Kaplan-Meier method was used for survival analysis. The conformity to the normal distribution was evaluated using the Shapiro-Wilk test. Categorical variables according to groups Chi-square and Fisher's Exact tests were used for comparison. An independent two-sample t-test was applied to compare normally distributed data according to paired groups. The Mann-Whitney U test was performed to compare non-normally distributed data. The data were presented as the mean  $\pm$ SD for quantitative data. Categorical data as deviation and median (minimum: maximum) were presented as frequency (percentage). The significance level was set to p < 0.05.

Table 1. Demographic and clinical characteristics of twenty patients.

	4/10
Age (years)	44.5 (30:78)
Clinical Presentation	
Leukocytosis	3 (15)
Pancytopenia	14 (70)
Anemia, thrombocytopenia, bicytopenia	3 (15)
Blood values	
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	10.4 (5.6-15)
Platelets ( $\times 10^{9}/L$ )	61,000 (11,000-154,000)
Leukocytes ( $\times 10^{9}/L$ )	2,550 (1,200-97,000)
Neutrophil ( $\times 10^9$ /L)	755 (210-9,880)
Splenomegaly	14 (70)
Bone marrow reticulin fibrosis degree	
4+/4	10 (50)
3+/4	7 (35)
Not evaluated	3 (15)
Bone marrow cellularity	
Hypercellular	10 (50)
Hypocellular	1 (5)
Heterogeneous	9 ( 45)
Treatment	
IV cladribine	11 (55)
SC cladribine	9 (45)
Control bone marrow	
Normocellular	6 (30)
MRD cannot be excluded	7 (35)
Not done	7 (35)
Response status	
Complete response	18 (90)
Partial response	1 (5)
Could not be evaluated	1 (5)
Overall survival (months)	43.5 (1.5:79)
Final status	
Alive	19 (95)
Dead	1 (5)

Data were expressed n (%) or median (min:max). IV: intravenous, SC: subcutaneous, MRD: minimal residual disease.

#### RESULTS

The study population comprised 20 patients (4 women and 16 men). The most common complaint was fatigue. At the time of admission, 14 of the patients had pancytopenia. Fourteen of the patients had splenomegaly, and three of them were massive. The peripheral blood values included moderate anaemia (median Hgb 10.4 g/dL), thrombocytopenia (median 61×109/L), leukopenia (median 2.5×10<sup>9</sup>/L), and neutropenia (median 0.755×10<sup>9</sup>/L). In bone marrow examination, cellularity was hypercellular in 10 patients and reticulin fibrosis 4+/4 was detected. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients are summarized in Table 1. All patients were purine analogue naive at the time of inclusion. At study onset, all patients showed indications for treatment due to symptoms, peripheral cytopenia, and/or organomegaly. 2-CdA monotherapy was administered to all patients as the first-line therapy. Granulocyte-colony stimulating factor (G-CSF) was applied in the neutropenic period. 2-CdA was administered at the dose of 0.09 mg/kg in 11 patients via continuous infusion for seven days and, in 9 patients, at the dose of 0.14 mg/ kg for five days via the SC route. A statistically significant difference was recorded between the median length of stay according to the cladribine groups (p =

0.003). While the median of the IV group was 22.0, the median of the SC group was 0.0. In SC application, the incidence of febrile neutropenia (FEN) was lower (22.2% vs 54.5%), albeit not statistically significant. FEN developed in 8 patients during cladribine treatment. While 6 of 8 patients who developed FEN received cladribine by the IV route, two received cladribine by the SC route. Culture positivity could be detected in 5 of 8 patients, and infection-related early mortality was observed in one patient. Reproductive characteristics of patients complicated with FEN were given in Table 2. In addition, no correlation was recorded between the level of neutropenia and FEN and between neutropenia and the length of stay. There was no difference between the route of administration and the treatment response. Time to response was longer in patients with Hgb levels < 11 g/dL relative to those with higher Hgb levels (median 30 vs 45 days) p = 0.014). There was no correlation among the spleen size, leukocyte, neutrophil, thrombocyte levels, and response time.

In the statistical analysis performed on 13 patients after excluding seven patients without a control bone marrow biopsy, a significant correlation was found between the Hgb level of < 11 g/dL and the group in which MRD could not be excluded pathologically (71% vs 28%) (p = 0.048). There was no correlation

No	Route	Culture positivity	Culture site	Isolated pathogens	Antibiotherapy	Duration (days)	Early mortality
1	IV	Absent	-	-	Piperacillin tazobactam+metronidazole	10	Absent
2	IV	Present	Blood	Salmonella enteritidis	Cefepime+ciprofloxacin	14	Absent
3	IV	Absent	-	-	Piperacillin	3	Absent
					tazobactam+ciprofloxacin	7	
					Meropenem		
4	IV	Present	Blood	Klebsiella	Meropenem	36	Absent
				pneumoniae	Vancomycin	48	
5	IV	Present	Wound	Staphylococcus	Piperacillin tazobactam	15	Present
				aureus,	Teicoplanin	20	
				Enterococcus	Meropenem+daptomycin	7	
				faecalis	Colistin	16	
6	IV	Absent	-	-	Piperacillin tazobactam	10	Absent
7	SC	Present	Brain abscess	Aspergillus fumigatus	Liposomal Amphotericin B	30	Absent
8	SC	Present	Sputum	Acinetobacter	Piperacillin tazobactam	3	Absent
				ursingii,	Meropenem	20	
				Acinetobacter junii	Teicoplanin	12	
IV: in	travenous.	SC: subcutan.					

Table 2. Culture characteristics of patients complicated with febrile neutropenia.

	IV cladribine	SC cladribine	P value
Length of hospital stay (days)	22 (11-35)	0 (0-40)	0.003*
Febrile neutropenia	54.5%	22.2%	0.197**
Overall response rate	90.9%	100%	
Time to response (days)	45 (23-120)	30 (30-60)	1.000*

#### Table 3. Comparative results of intravenous and subcutaneous administration.

Data were expressed n (%) or median (min:max). IV: intravenous, SC: subcutaneous.

\*Mann-Whitney U test, \*\*Fisher's Exact test.

among the spleen size, leukocyte, neutrophil, thrombocyte levels, and MRD. The CR rate to treatment was 90%, and the overall response rate (ORR) was 95%. PR was detected in one patient who was administered IV 2-CdA. In one patient, response evaluation could not be performed due to early mortality after receiving IV 2-CdA; the patient died due to septic shock on the 30th day of treatment. Details about the application were given in Table 3. A statistically significant difference was found between the median overall survival (OS) of the cladribine groups (p = 0.023). While the median of the IV group was 51.9 months, the median of the SC group was 29.7 months. The median follow-up period in all patients was 44 months. While the median follow-up period of cladribine was 56.9 months in the IV group, it was 29.7 months in the SC group. The median OS was not reached (95% confidence interval [CI]: 1.5-79 months) (Figure 1). The median 2-year and 5-year OS was calculated as 95%. No secondary malignancy was detected during the follow-up period.

#### DISCUSSION

HCL is a rare indolent lymphoma. The results of cladribine treatment are quite successful for HCL. Especially the easy applicability of the SC form makes it preferable to patients and doctors. However, data on the SC form are scarce. In this study, we retrospectively evaluated the clinical features, treatments, treatment results, length of hospitalization, FEN frequency, presence of secondary malignancy, and survival of 20 patients diagnosed with HCL and being followed up between 2015 and 2021. Our study's male/female ratio was 4:1, similar to that in the literature, and the median age was 44.5 years. The median age of the patients was lower than in several studies.<sup>24-27</sup> At admission, 70% of the patients had pancytopenia and splenomegaly. The introduction of pentostatin and subsequent 2-CdA in the 1980s and 1990s completely changed the course of HCl with a CR of 80-90% and a long-term response rate of approximately 90% achieved long-term survival.<sup>13,28,29</sup> All the patients in our study were administered 2-CdA as the first-line therapy. 2-CdA was administered at the dose of 0.09 mg/kg in 11 patients via continuous infusion for seven days and, in 9 patients, at the dose of 0.14 mg/kg for five days via the SC route. G-CSF was administered to all patients during the neutropenic period.

Infections seen during cladribine treatment are among the common complications of treatment. A review by Maevis *et al.*30 reported the frequency of fever in patients treated with cladribine between 40-69%. Not all fevers may be associated with infection. In Klorshid *et al.*'s study<sup>31</sup>, the fever frequency (related or not associated with infection) was 35%. In our study, the frequency of fever was 40%, which was compatible with the literature. Hospitalization times were significantly shorter, and the incidence of febrile neutropenia was lower with SC application than with IV application.

In Inbar *et al.*'s study<sup>27</sup>, SC was administered to 32% of 203 HCL patients, and IV 2-CdA was administered to 68%. PFS and OS were not significantly



Figure 1. Survival of patients.

different in patients.<sup>27</sup> In our study, there was no difference between the administration route and treatment response. The complete response rate to treatment was 90%, and ORR was 95%. PR was detected in one patient who was administered IV 2-CdA. Response assessment could not be performed on a patient due to early mortality (died due to septic shock on the 30th day of treatment). The hospital stay was significantly longer in those treated with IV 2-CdA. We evaluated the treatment response by performing bone marrow control at six months. The median OS was 43.5 months (95% CI, range: 1.5-79 months), and the 2-year and 5-year OS was 95%, with a median 44-month follow-up.

Past studies have revealed a correlation between anaemia, thrombocytopenia, and disease-free survival (DFS).<sup>28</sup> A recent study also reported a correlation among anaemia, age, ECOG status, and survival, consistent with previous findings that link anaemia and thrombocytopenia with lower DFS. Anaemia appears to affect long-term survival and not early mortality.<sup>29</sup> Our study detected no significant correlation among age, spleen size, anaemia, leukocytosis, thrombocytopenia, LDH levels, bone marrow fibrosis degree, and OS. However, a statistically significant correlation was recorded among the Hgb level, treatment response, and MRD. In patients with Hgb > 11 g/dL, the response time to treatment was shorter than that in the group with a value < 11 g/dL. Moreover, while MRD was negative in the control bone marrow biopsies of patients with Hgb > 11 g/dL, MRD could not be excluded in the control bone marrow biopsies of patients with Hgb < 11 g/dL.

Other late complications, such as relapse and second neoplasms, have been described because of better control of the disease and more prolonged survival.<sup>32</sup> In a Swedish study, 18% of the patients had secondary primary cancer; the most significant associations were non-Hodgkin lymphoma and melanoma.<sup>33</sup> A survey that reported skin cancer incidence among 267 patients at the Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center found a corresponding incidence of 11.3%.34 Although it remains a controversial issue, purine analogues are believed to not contribute to the emergence of secondary malignancies.<sup>35-38</sup> In our study, no secondary malignancy was detected during the follow-up period. However, this result may be attributable to the small number of patients and the short follow-up period. The patients should be followed closely regarding the development of secondary malignancy in the long

term.

In one of our patients, recurrence was detected in the first year of the control bone marrow biopsy, but it was followed for approximately 2.5 years without any treatment indication. The response was then obtained with the second course of cladribine. Unlike in other cases, MRD positivity was evident in this patient's 6-month control bone marrow biopsy. Recurrence may not have been observed due to our cases' relatively short follow-up period.

We did not observe any increase in the incidence of the second neoplasm in the patients in our study during the follow-up period. We believe this might be related to the small number of patients and the short follow-up period.

#### CONCLUSIONS

In summary, this study confirmed the efficacy of 2-CdA treatment in HCL, similar to that in the literature. In general, ease of application, good tolerance, and long-term safety data are the primary reasons for choosing 2-CdA. Moreover, we showed that the SC application is more practical than the IV application; hospitalization and febrile rates are significantly lower, and the response rates are at least as good as in the IV form. In most patients, a single course of SC 2-CdA is sufficient for long-term disease control. Although the frequency of infection is less in the SC form, severe infections may also occur in the SC form. Therefore the patients should be followed closely. We have demonstrated that the Hgb level can affect response time and MRD status; this finding deserves confirmation by further studies and more extensive series. Our response and survival data agree with the current literature, reaffirming purine analogues' role in HCL management.

#### Acknowledgements None

#### None

#### Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

#### Ethical Approval

The protocol of the study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Bursa Uludag University, Faculty of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey. (Decision number: 2022-4/9, date: Fabruary 2022).

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: FÖ,; Study Design: FÖ, TE,; Supervision: VÖ, RA,; Literature Review: TE,; Critical Review: VÖ, TE,; Data Collection and/or Processing: SC, TDK,; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: TE, IEP,; Manuscript preparing: TE.

### REFERENCES

1. Morton LM, Wang SS, Devesa SS, Hartge P, Weisenburger DD, Linet MS. Lymphoma incidence patterns by WHO subtype in the United States, 1992-2001. Blood. 2006 Jan 1;107(1):265-76. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-06-2508.

2. Smith A, Howell D, Patmore R, Jack A, Roman E. Incidence of haematological malignancy by sub-type: a report from the Haematological Malignancy Research Network. Br J Cancer. 2011 Nov 22;105(11):1684-92. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.450.

3. Frassoldati A, Lamparelli T, Federico M, Annino L, Capnist G, Pagnucco G, Dini E, Resegotti L, Damasio EE, Silingardi V. Hairy cell leukemia: a clinical review based on 725 cases of the Italian Cooperative Group (ICGHCL). Italian Cooperative Group for Hairy Cell Leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 1994 Apr;13(3-4):307-16. doi: 10.3109/10428199409056295.

4. Catovsky D. Hairy-cell leukaemia and prolymphocytic leukaemia. Clin Haematol. 1977 Feb;6(1):245-68.

5. Golomb HM, Catovsky D, Golde DW. Hairy cell leukemia: a clinical review based on 71 cases. Ann Intern Med. 1978 Nov;89(5 Pt 1):677-83. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-89-5-677.

6. Cornet E, Delmer A, Feugier P, Garnache-Ottou F, Ghez D, Leblond V, Levy V, Maloisel F, Re D, Zini JM, Troussard X; French Society of Haematology. Recommendations of the SFH (French Society of Haematology) for the diagnosis, treatment and follow-up of hairy cell leukaemia. Ann Hematol. 2014 Dec;93(12):1977-83. doi: 10.1007/s00277-014-2140-y.

7. Jones G, Parry-Jones N, Wilkins B, Else M, Catovsky D. Revised guidelines for the diagnosis and management of hairy cell leukaemia and hairy cell leukaemia variant\*. Br J Haematol. 2012 Jan;156(2):186-95. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2011.08931.x.

8. Broccoli A, Argnani L, Cross M, Janus A, Maitre E, Troussard X, Robak T, Dearden C, Else M, Catovsky D, Zinzani PL. A 3-decade multicenter European experience with cladribine as upfront treatment in 384 patients with hairy cell leukemia. Blood Adv. 2022 Jul 26;6(14):4224-7. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2022007854.

9. Yousaf M, Khan MA, Iftikhar R, Chaudary QU, Shahbaz N, Ahmad U, Javed H. Treatment outcomes of patients with hairy cell leukaemia; A 16-year experience at a tertiary care center in Pakistan. J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad. 2022 Oct-Dec;34(4):797-801. doi: 10.55519/JAMC-04-10177.

10. Juliusson G, Heldal D, Hippe E, Hedenus M, Malm C, Wallman K, tolt CM, Evensen SA, Albertioni F, Tjønnfjord G, et al. Subcutaneous injections of 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine for symptomatic hairy cell leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 1995 Apr;13(4):989-95. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1995.13.4.989.

11. Liliemark J, Juliusson G. Cellular pharmacokinetics of 2-chloro-2'-deoxyadenosine nucleotides: comparison of intermittent and continuous intravenous infusion and subcutaneous and oral administration in leukemia patients. Clin Cancer Res. 1995 Apr;1(4):385-90.

12. Grever MR, Abdel-Wahab O, Andritsos LA, Banerji V, Barrientos J, Blachly JS, Call TG, Catovsky D, Dearden C, Demeter J, Else M, Forconi F, Gozzetti A, Ho AD, Johnston JB, Jones J, Juliusson G, Kraut E, Kreitman RJ, Larratt L, Lauria F, Lozanski G, Montserrat E, Parikh SA, Park JH, Polliack A, Quest GR, Rai KR, Ravandi F, Robak T, Saven A, Seymour JF, Tadmor T, Tallman MS, Tam C, Tiacci E, Troussard X, Zent CS, Zenz T, Zinzani PL, Falini B. Consensus guidelines for the diagnosis and management of patients with classic hairy cell leukemia. Blood. 2017 Feb 2;129(5):553-60. doi: 10.1182/ blood-2016-01-689422.

13. Piro LD, Carrera CJ, Carson DA, Beutler E. Lasting remissions in hairy-cell leukemia induced by a single infusion of 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine. N Engl J Med. 1990 Apr 19;322(16):1117-21. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199004193221605.

14. Else M, Ruchlemer R, Osuji N, Del Giudice I, Matutes E, Woodman A, Wotherspoon A, Swansbury J, Dearden C, Catovsky D. Long remissions in hairy cell leukemia with purine analogs. Cancer. 2005 Dec 1;104(11):2442-8. doi: 10.1002/cncr.21447.

15. Chadha P, Rademaker AW, Mendiratta P, Kim B, Evanchuk DM, Hakimian D, Peterson LC, Tallman MS. Treatment of hairy cell leukemia with 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine (2-CdA): long-term follow-up of the Northwestern University experience. Blood. 2005 Jul 1;106(1):241-6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-01-0173.

16. Saven A, Burian C, Koziol JA, Piro LD. Long-term follow-up of patients with hairy cell leukemia after cladribine treatment. Blood. 1998 Sep 15;92(6):1918-26.

17. Ellison DJ, Sharpe RW, Robbins BA, Spinosa JC, Leopard JD, Saven A, Piro LD. Immunomorphologic analysis of bone marrow biopsies after treatment with 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine for hairy cell leukemia. Blood. 1994 Dec 15;84(12):4310-5.

18. Hakimian D, Tallman M, Kiley C, Peterson L. Detection of minimal residual disease by immunostaining of bone marrow biopsies after 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine for hairy cell leukemia. Blood. 1993 Sep 15;82(6):1798-802.

19. Wheaton S, Tallman MS, Hakimian D, Peterson L. Minimal residual disease may predict bone marrow relapse in patients with hairy cell leukemia treated with 2-chlorodeoxyadenosine. Blood. 1996 Feb 15;87(4):1556-60.

20. NCCN Clinical Practice Guidelines in Oncology, Guidelines for Treatment of Cancer by Site. Version 1.2013. Hairy Cell Leukemia.

21. Tiacci E, Park JH, De Carolis L, Chung SS, Broccoli A, Scott S, Zaja F, Devlin S, Pulsoni A, Chung YR, Cimminiello M, Kim E, Rossi D, Stone RM, Motta G, Saven A, Varettoni M, Altman JK, Anastasia A, Grever MR, Ambrosetti A, Rai KR, Fraticelli V, Lacouture ME, Carella AM, Levine RL, Leoni P, Rambaldi A, Falzetti F, Ascani S, Capponi M, Martelli MP, Park CY, Pileri SA, Rosen N, Foà R, Berger MF, Zinzani PL, Abdel-Wahab O, Falini B, Tallman MS. Targeting mutant BRAF in relapsed or refractory hairy-cell leukemia. N Engl J Med. 2015 Oct 29;373(18):1733-47. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1506583.

22. Kreitman RJ. Immunoconjugates and new molecular targets in hairy cell leukemia. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2012;2012:660-6. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2012.1.660.

23. Park JH, Levine RL. Targeted immunotherapy for hairy cell leukemia. J Clin Oncol. 2012 May 20;30(15):1888-90. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.39.8313.

24. Divino V, Karve S, Gaughan A, DeKoven M, Gao G, Knopf KB, Lanasa MC. Characteristics and treatment patterns among US patients with hairy cell leukemia: a retrospective claims analysis. J Comp Eff Res. 2017 Sep;6(6):497-508. doi: 10.2217/ cer-2017-0014.

25. Dinmohamed AG, Posthuma EFM, Visser O, Kater AP, Raymakers RAP, Doorduijn JK. Relative survival reaches a plateau in hairy cell leukemia: a population-based analysis in The Netherlands. Blood. 2018 Mar 22;131(12):1380-1383. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-12-820381.

26. Hacioglu S, Bilen Y, Eser A, Sivgin S, Gurkan E, Yildirim R, Aydogdu I, Dogu MH, Yilmaz M, Kayikci O, Tombak A, Kuku I, Celebi H, Akay MO, Esen R, Korkmaz S, Keskin A. Multicenter retrospective analysis regarding the clinical manifestations and treatment results in patients with hairy cell leukemia: twenty-four year Turkish experience in cladribine therapy. Hematol Oncol. 2015 Dec;33(4):192-8. doi: 10.1002/hon.2177.

27. Inbar M, Herishanu Y, Goldschmidt N, Bairey O, Yuklea M, Shvidel L, Fineman R, Aviv A, Ruchlemer R, Braester A, Najib D, Rouvio O, Shaulov A, Greenbaum U, Polliack A, Tadmor T. Hairy Cell Leukemia: Retrospective analysis of demographic data and outcome of 203 patients from 12 medical centers in Israel. Anticancer Res. 2018 Nov;38(11):6423-6429. doi: 10.21873/ anticanres.13003.

28. Dearden CE, Else M, Catovsky D. Long-term results for pentostatin and cladribine treatment of hairy cell leukemia. Leuk Lymphoma. 2011 Jun;52 Suppl 2:21-4. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2011.565093.

29. Benz R, Arn K, Andres M, Pabst T, Baumann M, Novak U, Hitz F, Hess U, Zenhaeusern R, Chalandon Y, Mey U, Blum S, Rauch D, O'Meara Stern A, Cantoni N, Bargetzi M, Bianchi-Papina E, Rossi D, Passweg J, Lohri A, Berardi S, Li Q, Feller A, Stussi G. Prospective long-term follow-up after firstline subcutaneous cladribine in hairy cell leukemia: a SAKK trial. Blood Adv. 2020 Aug 11;4(15):3699-3707. doi: 10.1182/ bloodadvances.2020002160.

30. Maevis V, Mey U, Schmidt-Wolf G, Schmidt-Wolf IG. Hairy cell leukemia: short review, today's recommendations and outlook. Blood Cancer J. 2014 Feb 14;4(2):e184. doi: 10.1038/ bcj.2014.3.

31. Khorshid O, Namour AE, El-Gammal MM, Mahmoud TY, Fortpied C, Abdel-Malek R, Ramadan S. Efficacy and safety of cladribine: subcutaneous versus intravenous administration in hairy cell leukemia patients. Mediterr J Hematol Infect Dis. 2015 Oct 16;7(1):e2015058. doi: 10.4084/MJHID.2015.058.

32. Sarvaria A, Topp Z, Saven A. Current therapy and new directions in the treatment of hairy cell leukemia. JAMA Oncol. 2016 Jan;2(1):123-9. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2015.4134.

33. Zheng G, Chattopadhyay S, Sud A, Sundquist K, Sundquist J, Försti A, Houlston R, Hemminki A, Hemminki K. Second primary cancers in patients with acute lymphoblastic, chronic lymphocytic and hairy cell leukaemia. Br J Haematol. 2019 Apr;185(2):232-239. doi: 10.1111/bjh.15777.

34. Watts JM, Kishtagari A, Hsu M, Lacouture ME, Postow MA, Park JH, Stein EM, Teruya-Feldstein J, Abdel-Wahab O, Devlin SM, Tallman MS. Melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancers in hairy cell leukaemia: a surveillance, epidemiology and end results population analysis and the 30-year experience at Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center. Br J Haematol. 2015 Oct;171(1):84-90. doi: 10.1111/bjh.13528.

35. Else M, Dearden CE, Matutes E, Garcia-Talavera J, Rohatiner AZ, Johnson SA, O'Connor NT, Haynes A, Osuji N, Forconi F, Lauria F, Catovsky D. Long-term follow-up of 233 patients with hairy cell leukaemia, treated initially with pentostatin or cladribine, at a median of 16 years from diagnosis. Br J Haematol. 2009 Jun;145(6):733-40. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2009.07668.x.

36. Au WY, Klasa RJ, Gallagher R, Le N, Gascoyne RD, Connors JM. Second malignancies in patients with hairy cell leukemia in british columbia: a 20-year experience. Blood. 1998 Aug 15;92(4):1160-4.

37. Cheson BD, Vena DA, Barrett J, Freidlin B. Second malignancies as a consequence of nucleoside analog therapy for chronic lymphoid leukemias. J Clin Oncol. 1999 Aug;17(8):2454-60. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1999.17.8.2454.

38. Kurzrock R, Strom SS, Estey E, O'Brien S, Keating MJ, Jiang H, Adams T, Talpaz M. Second cancer risk in hairy cell leukemia: analysis of 350 patients. J Clin Oncol. 1997 May;15(5):1803-10. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1997.15.5.1803.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



**TURKISH JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE** 

Original Article

# **Renal Involvement and Outcomes in Patients Hospitalized with COVID-19 Infection in A Tertiary Hospital**

Sahana K.S.<sup>1</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Santhosh Pai B.H.<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Rony George<sup>3</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pediatrics, Yenepoya medical college, Mangalore, Karnataka, India <sup>2</sup>Department of Nephrology, Yenepoya medical college, Mangalore, Karnataka, India <sup>3</sup>Department of Nephrology, Yenepoya medical college, Mangalore, Karnataka, India

#### A B S T R A C T

*Background* Kidney involvement is seen frequently in COVID-19 patients and is essential to the prognosis. This study is undertaken to describe the clinical presentation of renal involvement in COVID-19 patients concerning acute kidney injury (AKI), chronic kidney disease (CKD) and urinary abnormalities and to correlate with the severity of COVID-19 illness and its outcome.

*Material and Methods* A retrospective cross-sectional study reviewed the medical records of patients admitted with COVID-19 infection who had pre-existing renal conditions or renal manifestations in the form of deranged renal function tests or abnormal urinary findings. All the relevant clinical and laboratory parameters, including the treatment details and outcome, were noted, and statistical analysis was done.

**Results** A total of 72 out of 1,544 patients satisfied the inclusion criteria. Hypertension (72%) and Diabetes (62%) were the commonest co-morbidities noted. CKD was seen in 51 (70%) patients, and 21 patients (29%) were on maintenance dialysis. 39 (76%) patients with CKD were diagnosed with severe COVID-19, 25 (49%) of the patients developed acute worsening of CKD, and 45% had mortality. AKI was seen in 19 patients (26%). Urinary abnormality was seen in 34 (47%) patients, out of which 27 (37%) had proteinuria of more than 1+. Haematuria was seen in 27 (37.5%) patients, of which 12(17%) had gross haematuria. Dialysis was required in 24 patients (33%) additionally. Mechanical ventilation was required in 32(44%) patients, and inotropes in 41(56%). 21 (29%) patients developed acute respiratory distress syndrome, 39 (54%) had sepsis, with six patients developing multiorgan dysfunction syndrome. 62.5% of patients had mortality. The presence of other comorbid conditions, thrombocytopenia, coagulopathy, abnormality in arterial blood gases and usage of inotropes were found to be significantly associated with adverse outcomes.

*Conclusions* Most cases had severe renal system involvement, with an AKI prevalence rate of 1.2% and a case-specific mortality rate of 62.5%.

*Turk J Int Med 2023:5(2);117-123* DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1209442</u>

Keywords: COVID-19, renal involvement, acute kidney injury.



Received: November 25, 2022; Accepted: March 13, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

<u>Address for Correspondence:</u> Sahana K.S., Additional professor,

Department of Pediatrics, Yenepoya medical college, Mangalore, Karnataka, India E mail address. drkssahana@gmail.com



#### INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus disease 19 (COVID-19), caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome-coronavirus (SARS-CoV-2), a beta coronavirus, mainly involves the respiratory tract and other systems like the cardiovascular, nervous system, haemopoietic, digestive system and renal system. Kidney involvement is seen frequently and plays an important role in the prognosis of severely affected patients, especially the development of acute kidney injury (AKI).1 The overall incidence of AKI varies between 5% to 15%<sup>2</sup>, and it is an independent risk factor for mortality. Other renal manifestations noted are the presence of proteinuria and haematuria, proteinuria being more common.3 COVID-19 patients suffering from chronic kidney disease (CKD) and dialysis-dependent patients are reported to be at higher risk of a severe form of the disease. They are advised to take extra preventive measures to avoid exposure to SARS-CoV-2. Kidney involvement is more likely in the presence of additional comorbidities.4

The coronavirus or a cytokine storm could directly attack renal impairment due to abnormal immunity.<sup>5</sup> Hypotension or dehydration, hypoxemia, sepsis, and nephrotoxic drugs could also be involved in developing AKI. ACE2 is considered a functional receptor of SARS-CoV-2. It is expressed in lung tissue and can also be detected in the kidneys, mainly in proximal tubules, afferent arterioles and collecting ducts. In addition, viral nucleic acid could also be found in the urine, suggesting that the kidneys might be the target of this novel coronavirus. Tubular epithelial cell necrosis, degeneration, interstitial hyperemia, microthrombus, or focal fibrosis were the main pathological features, while glomerular lesions are uncommon.

The management strategies for COVID-19-related kidney issues are largely supportive.<sup>6</sup> Renal replacement therapy (RRT) may be required in many critically ill patients with AKI. However, in a developing country like India with limited resources and health infrastructure, it may be challenging to combat the situation of patients with multiorgan failure. The impact of COVID-19 on patients' long-term kidney function is unclear. SARS-CoV-2's effects on the kidney and in patients with underlying kidney disease are not well-characterized. Therefore, this study aimed to describe the clinical presentation of kidney involvement in COVID-19 patients, examine the laboratory profile and treatment modality of kidney disorders, correlate the severity of COVID-19 disease with renal system involvement and know the outcome of

pre-existing kidney disease.

#### **MATERIAL AND METHODS**

This retrospective study was conducted on patients admitted to a tertiary care hospital from coastal Karnataka after obtaining ethical approval from an institutional committee. All patients, including children with pre-existing kidney disease, impaired renal function tests (RFT), or abnormal urine findings at admission, diagnosed with COVID-19 by RT-PCR or rapid antigen testing between March 2020 and October 2020, were included in the study. Case files that did not have urinalysis and kidney function evaluation reports were excluded from the study.

Data regarding history, particularly the presence of the chronic renal condition and other comorbid conditions, present clinical manifestations, laboratory investigations including blood and urine examination and management of the patients, and the dialysis requirement during their hospital stay were noted. KDIGO definitions were used to define AKI based on serum creatinine and urine output. CKD was defined as eGFR <60 mL/min per 1.73 m2 or proteinuria at urinalysis within 180 days before hospital admission. Proteinuria was defined by the presence of  $\geq 1+$ protein in urine analysis. Hematuria was defined as more than five red blood cells per high-power field on centrifuged urine sample. A correlation between the severity and outcome of COVID-19 and pre-existing renal diseases, along with other comorbid conditions, was done. Development of AKI, factors leading to developing AKI and outcome with respect to the disease's mortality was noted.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were performed using SPSS software 27.0. A chi-square test was performed to correlate the severity of COVID-19 disease with kidney symptoms. Logistic regression was used to analyse the outcome with various confounding factors.

#### RESULTS

A total of 1,544 patients were admitted with COVID-19 infection during the study period at our hospital. Out of these, 72 patients had renal manifestations or were known cases of renal disorders diagnosed with COVID-19 infection. The mean age in adults was 52.2 years. 2 were paediatric patients aged 11 and 15 years, respectively. Of 72, 46 (63%) were

Table 1. The frequency of symptoms and sign	Table 1.	The	frequency	of symp	toms an	d signs.
---	----------	-----	-----------	---------	---------	----------

Variables	n (%)
Symptoms	
Cough	26 (36.1%)
Fever	35 (48.6%)
Reduced urine output	7 (9.7%)
Haematuria	2 (2.8%)
Breathlessness	40 (55.6%)
Edema	12 (16.7%)
Co-morbidities	67 (93.1%)
Diabetes mellitus	45 (62.5%)
Hypertension	52 (72.2%)
Ischemic heart disease	20 (27.8%)
Neurological disease	5 (6.9%)
Chronic kidney disease	50 (69%)
Other renal disease	2 (2.8%)
Maintenance haemodialysis	22 (30.6%)
Signs	
Impaired consciousness	44 (61.1%)
Tachypnea	52 (72.2%)
Tachycardia	45 (62.5%)
Reduced SPO <sub>2</sub>	36 (50.0%)
Respiratory distress	57 (79.2%)
CVS (congestive cardiac failure)	12 (16.7%)
Per abdomen (ascites)	6 (8.3%)
Central nervous system (encephalopathy)	17 (23.6%)
High blood pressure on admission	11 (15.3%)
Shock	22 (30.6%)

male patients, and 26 (36%) were females. Out of 72 patients, four were mild, eight were moderate, and 60 (83%) were of severe category. Details of their presenting symptoms and signs and the common co-morbid condition were given in Table 1. Most of the patients presented with cough, fever and breathlessness, but common symptoms related to the renal system were oedema, reduced urine output and haematuria. Other symptoms like abdominal pain, vomiting, loose

Variables	Mean value
Haemoglobin	9.6 g/dL
Total leukocyte count	11,531.92 cells/µL
Neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio	5:1
Platelet count	222,333.35/µl
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate	64.57 mm/hour
C-reactive protein	72.029 mg/L
Urea	140.79 mg/dL
Creatinine	6.992 mg/dL
Uric acid	8.418 mg/dL
Lactate dehydrogenase	1005.96 U/L
D-dimer	4149.14 ng/mL
Ferritin	741.19 μg/L

stools, headache, myalgia, generalised weakness, seizures, and altered sensorium were noted in 36 (50.0%) patients. Hypertension was noticed in 72% (52) of the patients. In contrast, diabetes was seen in 62% (45), ischemic heart disease (IHD) in 20 (27%) and neurological conditions in 5 (6.9%) of the patients. Other co-morbid conditions noted in 23 (31.9%) patients were hypothyroidism, anaemia, connective tissue disorders, chronic obstructive pulmonary disorders (COPD), asthma, obesity, chronic liver disorders, pancreatitis, peripheral vascular diseases, arrhythmias, malignancies.

AKI was seen in 19 patients (26%). Twelve patients had stage 3 AKI, 5 had stage 2 AKI, and 2 had stage 1 AKI. Of 72 patients, 51 (70%) were already diagnosed with chronic kidney disease, and 21 (29%) were on maintenance dialysis. 25 (49%) of the patients developed acute worsening of chronic kidney disease. Out of 51 cases of chronic kidney disease, 39 (76%) patients were diagnosed with severe COVID-19. Out of the two paediatric patients, one patient had AKI, and the other was a CKD case on maintenance dialysis. Other renal diseases noted were renal calculi, bilateral hydroureteronephrosis, polycystic kidney disease, single kidney, pyelonephritis, IgA nephropathy and atypical haemolytic uraemic syndrome. One patient was the recipient of a kidney transplant.

Details of the investigation report were given in Table 2. Abnormal serum electrolyte levels were seen in 61 patients (84%).14 (19%) of them had sodium abnormality, hyponatremia being more common. 40 (55%) patients had hyperkalemia, and 6 had hypokalemia. Arterial blood gas (ABG) was abnormal in 45 patients, out of which 21 (29%) had metabolic acidosis, whereas 13 patients had both hypoxia and metabolic acidosis (18%), and only 11 patients had isolated hypoxia (6.9%). 24 (33%) patients had abnormal liver function tests, and 12 (16%) had coagulopathy. Urinary abnormalities were observed in 34 (47%) patients, and 27 (37%) had proteinuria greater than +1. 27 (37.5%) patients had hematuria, and 12 (17%) had gross hematuria. On the statistical analysis of laboratory parameters with the risk of development of AKI, none of the parameters was found to be associated with the development of AKI (Table 3).

Remdesevir was used in 9 (12.5%) patients. Anti-inflammatory agents were used in 41(56) % of patients. Anticoagulants were used in 40 (55%) patients, with regular heparin (unfractionated) commonly used. Dialysis was required in 24 patients (33%), apart

Table 3.	The risk of	acute kidnev	v iniurv w	ith the labora	tory parameters.

Acute kidney	N	$\frac{1}{Mean \pm SD}$	95% CL	for mean	Median (IOR)	P value
injury			Lower bound	Upper bound		1
Neutrophil	6	69.5000±22.49222	45.8959	93.1041	80.00 (73.25, 86.00)	0.513
(cells/µL)	11	74.9391±26.61532	57.0587	92.8195	83.00 (70.00, 93.00)	
Lymphocyte	6	20.1000±19.89321	7766	40.9766	11.00 (8.425, 18.250)	0.339
(cells/µL)	11	9.9264±8.46863	4.2371	15.6157	9.00 (1.700, 15.00)	
CRP (mg/L)	6	50.300±37.9401	10.484	90.116	90.00 (61.675, 90.00)	0.218
	11	76.727±19.6728	63.511	89.944	81.00 (60.00, 90.00)	
LDH (U/L)	6	518.17±271.806	232.92	803.41	465.50 (302.75, 681.75)	0.421
	11	1047.36±1607.228	-32.39	2127.11	632.00 (345.00, 900.00)	
D-dimer	6	3062.67±1789.710	1184.48	4940.85	3460.00 (1559.25, 5521.75)	0.087
(ng/mL)	11	5779.18±3433.313	3472.65	8085.71	4703.00 (2000.00, 9732.00)	
Ferritin	6	463.00±446.152	-5.21	931.21	1000.00 (594.00, 1000.00)	0.137
(µg/L)	11	783.64±339.815	555.35	1011.93	1000.00 (648.00, 1000.00)	

CI: confidence interval, CRP: C-reactive protein, LDH: lactate dehydrogenase.

from those on maintenance dialysis, including both 6 AKI patients and the other 18 patients who had acute worsening of a pre-existing CKD. In another ten patients, dialysis was indicated, but it could not be done due to very poor general condition (3 AKI patients). Oxygen was required in all patients except mild cases, venturi mask being used commonly to deliver oxvgen. A high-flow nasal cannula (HFNC) was used in 8 patients, and non-invasive ventilation was used in 11 patients. Mechanical ventilation was required in 32 (44%) patients. Inotropes were used in 41 (56%) patients. 54 (75%) patients had bilateral pneumonia, out of which 21 (29%) patients developed acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), 39 (54%) had sepsis, with six patients developing multiorgan dysfunction syndrome (MODS). 62.5% of patients had mortality. Among AKI patients, 57.8% had mortality, and 45% had mortality among CKD patients.

The results of logistic regression used to examine clinical signs and symptoms, laboratory parameters, and treatment of kidney disorders are shown in Table 3. All variables were entered into the model. The presence of other comorbid conditions, thrombocytopenia, coagulopathy, ABG abnormality, and use of inotropes was significantly associated with adverse outcomes (Table 4).

#### DISCUSSION

There were 72 patients in our hospital, including both paediatric and adult patients who had, for the first-time renal manifestations due to COVID-19 or were known cases of renal disorders diagnosed with COVID-19 infection. Our study's mean age at presentation was 52 years, with male predominance. A similar finding was noticed by Allemailem et al.<sup>7</sup>, where most patients were males older than 50. Breathlessness (55.6%) and fever (48.6%) were the common presenting symptoms similar to the study mentioned above<sup>7</sup>, as the majority of the cases were severe to the moderate category in both the study groups. Underlying CKD also might have contributed to the increased prevalence of breathlessness among the study group. More than 80% were classified as having severe disease and had renal involvement, either pre-existing or newly developed renal manifestations. But its significance is not measured statistically as we had not taken the COVID-19 cases without renal involvement. Apart from a kidney involvement, the most common associated co-morbidities were hypertension and diabetes mellitus, followed by ischemic heart disease. None of the above factors was independently associated with an increased risk of mortality which is in contrast to other studies.8 Still, it was noticed that additional other co-morbid conditions increased the chances of morality, like malignancy and COPD (p = 0.02).

In a systematic review done by Chen *et al.*<sup>9</sup>, the incidence of COVID-19 in haemodialysis patients was 7.7%, and the overall mortality rate was 22.4% in these patients with COVID-19. Similarly, our study's mortality rate was 28% with patients on haemodialysis. So both the incidence and mortality of COVID-19 infection were higher in haemodialysis patients. Among CKD patients without dialysis, 76% had severe disease, and 45% had mortality. There was a decline in the number of patients who underwent kidney transplantation initially when the COVID-19 pandemic began. A study done by Akalin *et al.*<sup>10</sup> noted a very high mortality rate in kidney transplant patients, 28% at the end of 3 weeks. We had one patient with kidney

<b>Fable 4.</b> The logistic regression studying the clinical symptoms and signs, laboratory parameters
along with the mode of treatment for renal conditions with the outcome (Significance was decided
at 5%.).

Variables	В	S.E.	Wald	Df	Significance	Exp (B)
Symptoms and co-morbid conditions						
Decreased urine output	-1.728	1.210	2.042	1	0.153	0.178
Haematuria	0.397	1.807	0.048	1	0.826	1.487
Chronic kidney disease	-0.090	0.537	0.028	1	0.867	0.914
Co-morbid conditions	0.739	1.258	0.345	1	0.557	2.093
Hypertension	-0.201	0.542	0.137	1	0.711	0.818
Diabetes mellitus	-0.795	0.507	2.454	1	0.117	0.452
Neurological disease	1.552	1.182	1.726	1	0.189	4.723
Ischemic heart disease	-0.961	0.729	1.739	1	0.187	0.382
Maintenance haemodialysis	0.363	0.665	0.298	1	0.585	1.438
Other renal diseases	-0.902	1.339	0.454	1	0.501	0.406
Other co-morbidities	-2.645	1.149	5.295	1	0.021	0.071
Signs						
Conscious level	-0.194	0.873	0.049	1	0.824	0.824
Blood pressure	-0.274	0.480	0.325	1	0.569	0.760
SPO <sub>2</sub>	-0.367	0.820	0.200	1	0.655	0.693
Respiratory system	-1.939	1.100	3.109	1	0.078	0.144
Per abdomen	2.113	1.639	1.663	1	0.197	8.276
Cardiovasculur system	-1.311	1.074	1.489	1	0.222	0.270
Central nervous system	-2.019	1.081	3.487	1	0.062	0.133
Laboratory investigations						
Haemoglobin	-0.003	0.165	0.000	1	0.984	0.997
Total count	0.000	0.000	1.256	1	0.262	1.000
Erythrocyte sedimentation rate	-0.004	0.015	0.064	1	0.800	0.996
Urea	0.001	0.006	0.020	1	0.887	1.001
Creatinine	-0.107	0.087	1.506	1	0.220	0.898
Liver function test	-0.310	0.801	0.150	1	0.699	0.733
C-reactive protein	-0.027	0.014	3.809	1	0.051	0.973
Coagulopathy	-2.574	1.309	3.865	1	0.049	0.076
Urine abnormality	2.158	2.603	0.687	1	0.407	8.652
Proteinuria	-1.457	0.825	3.119	1	0.077	0.233
Haematuria	-0.368	1.363	0.073	1	0.787	0.692
Lactate dehydrogenase	0.000	0.000	0.257	1	0.612	1.000
D-dimer	0.000	0.000	2.625	1	0.105	1.000
Arterial blood gas analysis	-0.510	0.255	4.002	1	0.045	0.601
Acute kidney injury	0.548	0.793	0.478	1	0.489	1.730
Ferritin	-0.003	0.002	3.079	1	0.079	0.997
Sodium	0.050	0.040	1.543	1	0.214	1.051
Potassium	0.061	0.118	0.270	1	0.604	1.063
Thrombocytopenia	0.051	0.017	9.215	1	0.002	1.052
Treatments						
Anti-inflammatory	-1.474	1.344	1.202	1	0.273	0.229
Anticogulants	0.991	1.310	0.573	1	0.449	2.694
Inotropes	-3.459	1.037	11.122	1	0.001	0.031
Severity	-19.946	8589.258	0.000	1	0.998	0.000
Dialysis	-1.061	0.551	3.709	1	0.054	0.346
Ventilation	-0.349	0.238	2.159	1	0.142	0.705

transplantation who had expired.

In our study, 27 (37%) patients had proteinuria of more than 1+ and haematuria was seen in 27 (37.5%) patients. Still, in a study by Vasist *et al.*<sup>11</sup>, proteinuria was positive in 75 patients (17.6%) and hematuria in 39 patients (9.15%), which is lower than our study. They also noticed that patients with proteinuria and/or hematuria were more likely to have severe COVID-19 illness. More than 80% of cases were severe COVID-19 cases in our study, which may explain the higher incidence of proteinuria and haematuria.

AKI was seen in 19 patients, which accounts for 1.2% of the total admissions with COVID-19 during the same period, which is lower compared to 39.9% of AKI in COVID-19 hospitalised patients as observed by Jia et al.<sup>12</sup>. They also noticed that among AKI cases which required dialysis, 79.3% patients expired with 30.6% of survivors remaining on dialysis at the time of discharge. In contrast, in our study, it was around 57% of mortality, which is slightly lower. Smarz et  $al^{13}$  observed that elevated leukocytes with neutrophil predominance and elevated D-dimers were associated with an increased risk of AKI, which correlates with the severity of COVID-19. However, in our study, none of the parameters was significantly associated with AKI. Remdesivir was used in a low percentage of cases due to renal impairment, which limits its use. Similarly, regular heparin was used as fractioned heparin usage is avoided with renal dysfunction. Głowacka et al.14 reviewed articles on AKI and COVID-19 and noticed that 64% of critically ill COVID-19 patients required dialysis who had AKI. Still, in our study, additional dialysis was required in 24% of patients, including AKI and acute on CKD.

We observed increased mortality with thrombocytopenia and coagulation abnormalities; similar findings were noticed in other studies.1<sup>5,16</sup> Metabolic acidosis (29%) is the predominant ABG finding noted in our research, contributed by kidney disease. In a study by Alfano *et al.*<sup>17</sup>, metabolic acidosis was noticed in 2.8% of all COVID-19 patients, which is much lower than our study. Still, all of them had mortality, and the authors noted that they had high SOFA scores with kidney impairment.

In a study done by Sindhu *et al.*<sup>18</sup>, it was noticed that inotropes usage and mechanical ventilation were associated with an increased risk of poor outcomes. In contrast, as in our study, only inotropes were noted to be significant on logistic regression. Though the statistical presence of AKI, CKD or mechanical ven-

..... et al.

tilation has not come significant on logistic regression analysis due to the interrelation of confounding factors, and the majority of cases were of severe category, which might have led to an inconclusive picture in the end, it gives the scope for further exploration, as their clinical significance can not be undetermined. Also, long-term effects, particularly on kidney function and persistence of proteinuria or haematuria, should be investigated further. In case of persistent proteinuria or haematuria at intensive care unit discharge, COVID-19 patients should be advised for follow-up by a nephrologist, as the course of the long-term kidney involvement is still unclear.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Most of the cases were in a severe category, with 62.5% case-specific renal system involvement and mortality. The development of AKI and the presence of CKD were responsible for increased mortality and morbidity.

#### Ackowledgements

Statistician Mr Balkrishna Gurmitkal was deemed to Yenepoya University for statistical analysis of the study.

#### Ethical Approval

The protocol of the study was approved by the Yenepoya Ethics Committe-1, University Road, Deralakatte, Mangalore-575018 India, (Decision number: YEC-1/2020/071, date: Novamber 2020).

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: SKS, SPBH,; Study Design: SKS, RG,; Supervision: SKS, SPBH,; Literature Review: SKS, RG,; Critical Review: SKS, SPBH,; Data Collection and/or Processing: SKS, RG,; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: SKS, SPBH,; Manuscript preparing: SKS, SPBH, RG.

#### REFERENCES

1. Qian JY, Wang B, Liu BC. Acute kidney injury in the 2019 novel coronavirus disease. Kidney Dis (Basel). 2020 Jun;323:1-6. doi: 10.1159/000509086.

2. Prasad N, Agrawal SK, On behalf of COVID-19 Working Group of Indian Society of Nephrology. COVID 19 and acute kidney injury. Indian J Nephrol. 2020 May-Jun;30(3):161-165. doi: 10.4103/ijn.IJN\_120\_20.

3. Pei G, Zhang Z, Peng J, Liu L, Zhang C, Yu C, Ma Z, Huang Y, Liu W, Yao Y, Zeng R, Xu G. Renal involvement and ear-

ly prognosis in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2020 Jun;31(6):1157-65. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020030276. 4. Patel SK, Singh R, Rana J, Tiwari R, Natesan S, Harapan H, Arteaga-Livias K, Bonilla-Aldana DK, Rodríguez-Morales AJ, Dhama K. The kidney and COVID-19 patients. Important considerations. Travel Med Infect Dis. 2020 Sep-Oct;37:101831. doi: 10.1016/j.tmaid.2020.101831.

5. Gabarre P, Dumas G, Dupont T, Darmon M, Azoulay E, Zafrani L. Acute kidney injury in critically ill patients with COVID-19. Intensive Care Med. 2020 Jul;46(7):1339-48. doi: 10.1007/s00134-020-06153-9.

6. Ronco C, Reis T, Husain-Syed F. Management of acute kidney injury in patients with COVID-19. Lancet Respir Med. 2020 Jul; 8(7):738-42. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30229-0.

7. Allemailem KS, Almatroudi A, Khan AA, Rahmani AH, Almarshad IS, Alekezem FS, Hassanein N, El-Kady AM. Manifestations of renal system involvement in hospitalized patients with COVID-19 in Saudi Arabia. PLoS One. 2021 Jul 15;16(7):e0253036. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0253036.

8. Leon-Abarca JA, Memon RS, Rehan B, Iftikhar M, Chatterjee A. The impact of COVID-19 in diabetic kidney disease and chronic kidney disease: A population-based study. Acta Biomed. 2020 Nov 10;91(4):e2020161. doi: 10.23750/abm.v91i4.10380.

9. Chen CY, Shao SC, Chen YT, Hsu CK, Hsu HJ, Lee CC, Sun CY, Chen YC, Hung MJ, Wu IW. Incidence and cinical impacts of COVID-19 infection in patients with hemodialysis: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 396,062 hemodialysis patients. Healthcare (Basel). 2021 Jan 5;9(1):47. doi: 10.3390/ healthcare9010047.

10. Akalin E, Azzi Y, Bartash R, Seethamraju H, Parides M, Hemmige V, Ross M, Forest S, Goldstein YD, Ajaimy M, Liriano-Ward L, Pynadath C, Loarte-Campos P, Nandigam PB, Graham J, Le M, Rocca J, Kinkhabwala M. COVID-19 and kidneyt. N Engl J Med. 2020 Jun 18;382(25):2475-2477. doi: 10.1056/ NEJMc2011117.

11. Vasist P, Yousuff M. Renal manifestations of COVID-19 and its association with severity of disease in a tertiary care hospital of south India- A retrospective study. J Assoc Physicians India. 2022 Apr;70(4):11-12.

12. Ng JH, Hirsch JS, Hazzan A, Wanchoo R, Shah HH, Malieckal DA, Ross DW, Sharma P, Sakhiya V, Fishbane S, Jhaveri KD; Northwell Nephrology COVID-19 Research Consortium. Outcomes among patients hospitalized with COVID-19 and acute kidney injury. Am J Kidney Dis. 2021 Feb; 77(2):204-15. e1. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.09.002.

13. Smarz-Widelska I, Grywalska E, Morawska I, Forma A, Michalski A, Mertowski S, Hrynkiewicz R, Niedźwiedzka-Rystwej P, Korona-Glowniak I, Parczewski M, Załuska W. Pathophysiology and clinical manifestations of COVID-19-related acute kidney injury-The current state of knowledge and future perspectives. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Jun 30;22(13):7082. doi: 10.3390/ijms22137082.

14. Głowacka M, Lipka S, Młynarska E, Franczyk B, Rysz J. Acute kidney injury in COVID-19. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Jul 28;22(15):8081. doi: 10.3390/ijms22158081.

15. Liu Y, Sun W, Guo Y, Chen L, Zhang L, Zhao S, Long D, Yu L. Association between platelet parameters and mortality in coronavirus disease 2019: Retrospective cohort study. Platelets. 2020 May 18;31(4):490-496. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2020.1754383.

16. Russo E, Esposito P, Taramasso L, Magnasco L, Saio M, Briano F, Russo C, Dettori S, Vena A, Di Biagio A, Garibotto G, Bassetti M, Viazzi F; GECOVID working group. Kidney disease and all-cause mortality in patients with COVID-19 hospitalized in Genoa, Northern Italy. J Nephrol. 2021 Feb;34(1):173-183. doi: 10.1007/s40620-020-00875-1.

17. Alfano G, Fontana F, Mori G, Giaroni F, Ferrari A, Giovanella S, Ligabue G, Ascione E, Cazzato S, Ballestri M, Di Gaetano M, Meschiari M, Menozzi M, Milic J, Andrea B, Franceschini E, Cuomo G, Magistroni R, Mussini C, Cappelli G, Guaraldi G; Modena COVID-19 Working Group (MoCo19). Acid base disorders in patients with COVID-19. Int Urol Nephrol. 2022 Feb;54(2):405-410. doi: 10.1007/s11255-021-02855-1.

18. Sindhu C, Prasad P, Elumalai R, Matcha J. Clinical profile and outcomes of COVID-19 patients with acute kidney injury: a tertiary centre experience from South India. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2022 Jan;26(1):36-44. doi: 10.1007/s10157-021-02123-7.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



**TURKISH JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE** 

# **Factors Affecting Kidney Functions in One-year Follow-up After COVID-19 in Kidney Transplant Patients**

Hakan OZER <sup>(D)</sup>, İsmail BALOGLU <sup>(D)</sup>, Yasin OZTURK <sup>(D)</sup>, Fethi YONET <sup>(D)</sup>, Halil Zeki TONBUL <sup>(D)</sup>, Nedim Yilmaz SELCUK <sup>(D)</sup>, Ku.ltigin TURKMEN. <sup>(D)</sup>

Department of Nephrology, Konya Necmettin Erbakan University Meram Medicine Faculty, Konya, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

**Background** Coronavirus disease (COVID-19) is more severe, and mortality is higher in kidney transplantation (KTx) patients; it is still unclear how renal functions progress and the conditions affecting renal functions in the post-COVID-19 period. We aimed to investigate the changes in kidney functions and the factors affecting this change after COVID-19.

**Material and Methods** Forty-one kidney transplantation patients who were hospitalised for COVID-19 were included in this retrospective study. The patient's personal information, examination, and treatment information regarding their hospitalisation and follow-ups were obtained from the hospital system.

**Results** Patients with elevated serum creatinine in the first year post-COVID had higher baseline proteinuria and systemic immune inflammation index (SII). Proteinuria increased more in patients with a long transplantation period, hypertension, high basal creatinine, and SII. Also, proteinuria was higher in patients who developed AKI during the COVID period. In addition, baseline SII was an independent predictor of the change in serum creatinine and proteinuria.

**Conclusions** We found that patients with signs of increased inflammation, such as high SII were more fragile regarding renal functions. Therefore, the post-COVID-19 follow-up process of KTx patients with COVID-19 should be individualised.

*Turk J Int Med 2023:5(2);124-134* DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1165344</u>

*Keywords:* COVID-19, kidney functions, kidney transplantation, proteinuria, systemic immune inflammation index.



Received: August 22, 2022; Accepted: January 12, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

<u>Address for Correspondence:</u> Hakan Ozer, MD, Necmettin Erbakan University, Meram Faculty of Medicine Department of Nephrology, 42080, Konya Turkey E-mail: hakanozer724@gmail.com



#### **INTRODUCTION**

Although the primary affected system of the coronavirus disease - 2019 (COVID-19) caused by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) is the respiratory system, the condition also frequently affects other organ systems. Renal involvement is commonly reported in patients hospitalised with COVID-19 and may be detected from isolated hematuria and proteinuria to acute kidney injury (AKI) requiring renal replacement therapy.<sup>1</sup> Many mechanisms thought to cause renal involvement have emerged in COVID-19. Some of these mechanisms are direct viral cytopathic effect on the kidney, dehydration, tissue hypoxia, systemic inflammation (cytokine storm), immune complex deposition, and diffuse intravascular coagulation. Tubular, glomerular, or vascular damage may occur in the kidney. In histopathology studies, acute tubular necrosis is the most common type of injury. Tubular and vascular damage occurs mainly in the form of AKI, and glomerular damage occurs in the form of proteinuria, while co-occurrence of these findings is a typical and expected situation.<sup>2-4</sup>

Considering the multiple comorbidities and immunosuppressive treatments of kidney transplant patients (KTx), a more severe disease course is inevitable during COVID-19. KTx patients are more likely to develop AKI and need haemodialysis (HD) than the average population.<sup>5</sup> However, it is thought that the immunosuppressive state in KTx patients may also have protective effects against the systemic inflammatory response responsible for the severe disease in the course of COVID-19.<sup>6</sup>

Derived inflammation markers such as neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio (NLR) and platelet to lymphocyte ratio (PLR) are more sensitive inflammatory markers than leukocytes, neutrophils or lymphocytes.<sup>7</sup> While the systemic immune inflammation index (SII) was a significant prognostic indicator used only in malignant patients initially, it has become an essential indicator of inflammation in different patient groups, recently in Ktx patients and COVID-19.<sup>8,9</sup> SII is an independent predictor of albuminuria in the general population.<sup>10</sup>

Although it is well known that the course of COVID-19 is more severe and mortality is higher in KTx patients, it is still not clear how kidney function progresses in the post-COVID-19 period and the conditions that affect its course. Immune dysregulation and increased proinflammatory cytokine levels occurring during the response to SARS-CoV-2 are considered the primary cause of tissue damage. Considering the negative effect of increased inflammation on graft functions, the impact of the hyperinflammatory state in the COVID period on long-term renal functions is also a matter of interest. Based on this idea, we aimed to investigate the changes in renal functions and the factors affecting this change one year after COVID-19.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

Ethics committee approval was obtained from our institution for this retrospective study. The data of 75 kidney transplant patients hospitalised with the diagnosis of COVID-19 between January 1 and March 31, 2021, were scanned retrospectively from our hospital system. Twenty patients with negative COVID-19 PCR results, five who died during hospitalisation, and nine whose data for the first year could not be reached after the COVID-19 diagnosis date were excluded from the study. Forty-one patients whose data could be entirely determined were the study group. A review of medical records (including information on age, sex, weight, medications, duration of the disease, and laboratory results) was done. Inclusion criteria were: 1) Being a KTx patient aged 18-60. 2) Having a positive COVID-19 PCR result. 3) Having hospital records in the 1st year after the diagnosis of COVID-19. Exclusion criteria were: 1) being under 18 and over 60, 2) Negative COVID-19 PCR result, 3) Presence of pregnancy, 4) history of acute rejection in the last three months or positive donor-specific antibody test (DSA), 5) presence of previously detected proteinuria over 500 mg/day. The patients included in the study were divided into two groups according to their creatinine levels and proteinuria levels based on the 1st year post-COVID-19 data. In these groups, those whose creatinine level increased and non-increased; were divided into those whose proteinuria level increased and non-increased.

#### *Obtaining Baseline Data and Post-COVID First Year Data*

Basal values were accepted on the day when the COVID-19 PCR test of the patients was positive or on the day of treatment was started by hospitalisation. The control performed at least one year after the diagnosis of COVID-19 was accepted as the first year of control examinations. The treatments applied to the patients during the hospitalisation, and the changes made in the immunosuppressive therapies were obtained by scanning the hospital registry system. All patients included in the study had negative DSA tests

before and after COVID-19. DSA test positivity was taken as an exclusion criterion as it would cause suspicion of graft rejection.

#### **Biochemical Analyses**

Venous blood samples were drawn after an overnight fast and stored at -80 °C for biochemical analyses in patients. All biochemical studies were undertaken in the Central Biochemistry Laboratory of our hospital. Serum creatinine was measured with Jaffe Method. Using an automated clinical chemistry analyser, serum C-reactive protein (CRP) levels were measured with an immunoturbidimetric assay (Diasis Diagnostic System). Serum levels of calcium, phosphate, and intact parathyroid hormone (iPTH) were measured. iPTH was measured using the Elecsys PTH assay.

#### 24-hour Urinary Proteinuria

The 24-hour urinary proteinuria levels detected within the first three days of hospitalisation were recorded as initial proteinuria. Total protein concentration levels were measured by a turbidometric assay using benzethonium chloride. The results were expressed as mg/L.

# Calculation of the Systemic Immune Inflammation Index

The SII value was calculated according to the basal blood values of the patients. The NLR x platelet count formula was used to calculate SII.11

#### **Statistical Analyses**

The data obtained were evaluated using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences for Windows 21.0 (SPSS Inc. Chicago, Illinois, USA) statistical program. Descriptive statistics were determined for each variable. Data were expressed as mean±standard deviation or median and interquartile range (IQR). The  $\chi 2$ test for categorical variables determined a statistically significant difference between the groups. Non-parametric statistics (Mann-Whitney U test) and parametric statistics (independent sample t-test) were all used for continuous variables. Associations between the variables were explored using Spearman's rho test. Binary logistic regression analysis was performed to determine independent predictors for increased proteinuria and serum creatinine levels. Factors with a p - value of < 0.2 were included in the univariate analysis in the regression test, while those significant in the univariate analysis were included in the multivariable evaluation. A statistically significant difference was considered when the p - value <0.05.

#### RESULTS

#### Demographic Characteristics of Patients and Pre-COVID-19 Data

A total of 41 kidney transplantation patients, 14 (34%) female and 27 (66%) male, with a mean age of  $45.96 \pm 9.46$  years, who met all inclusion and exclusion criteria, were included in the study. The most common comorbidity was hypertension (n: 26, 61.9%). Of 41 patients, 9 (22%) were transplanted from deceased donors and 32 (78%) from living donors. Before COVID-19, mean creatinine values were 1.45 mg/dL, and 24-hour urinary proteinuria averages were 285 mg/L. The demographic characteristics of the patients and the initial data for the diagnosis of COVID-19 and pre-hospitalization were in Table 1.

# Characteristics of Patients during Treatment of COVID-19

All patients whose diagnosis was confirmed by the COVID-19 PCR test were included in the study.

# Table 1. Demographic, clinical characteristics,and biochemical parameters of 41 kidneytransplant patients with COVID-19

Parameters	Values
Age (years)	$45.96\pm9.46$
Gender (Female/Male)	14/27
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$25.26\pm3.76$
Posttransplant period (years)	7.5 (7)
History of diabetes mellitus	7 (16.7%)
History of hypertension	26 (61.9%)
History of coronary artery disease	6 (14.3%)
COVID-19 associated AKI	14 (34.1%)
Sistolic blood pressure (mmHg)	$128.41 \pm 11.96$
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	$76.46 \pm 10.2$
Creatinine (mg/dL)	1.45 (0.55)
White blood count $(10^3/uL)$	7.37 (4.13)
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	$12.75\pm2.07$
Platelet count $(10^3/\text{mm}^3)$	$220.27\pm77$
Albumin (g/L)	$4.17\pm0.52$
Alanine aminotransferase (U/L)	15.5 (11.3)
Proteinuria (mg/L)	285 (431)
Lactate dehydrogenase (U/L)	147 (74)
Ferritin (mg/dL)	220 (898.09)
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	10.79 (34.42)
SII	684.5 (683.19)

Data were expressed as mean±SD, median (IQR) or frequency. AKI: acute kidney injury, SII: systemic immune inflammation index.

Table 2. Changes in initiallosuppressive incrapies during COVID-19.					
Medications	Continued	Stopped or reduced	Total		
Glucocorticoids	41 (100%)	0	41 (100%)		
Tacrolimus	24 (75%)	8 (25%)	34 (82%)		
Cyclosporin	2 (50%)	2 (50%)	4 (10%)		
Mycophenolic acid analogue	7 (19%)	29 (81%)	36 (87%)		
m-TOR inhibitor	0	4 (100%)	4 (10%)		
Azathioprine	0	2 (100%)	2 (5%)		

Table 2. Changes in immunosuppressive therapies during COVID-19.

Data were expressed as n (%). m-TOR: mammalian target of rapamycin.

When evaluated with thorax computed tomography, 11 (26%), patients did not have any involvement in the lung, while 30 (72%) patients had different degrees of involvement. All of the patients were receiving various immunosuppressive treatments before COVID-19, and multiple changes were made in their treatments during the disease period. Treatment changes of all patients were shown in Table 2. Of the 41 patients included in the study, 26 (63%) were receiving angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor (ACEi) or angiotensin receptor blocker (ARB) treatments. Treatments of 16 (61%) patients, including 14 patients who developed AKI, were stopped during their hospitalisation. ACEi/ARB treatment was started again in all patients

at least one month after discharge. The mean hospital stay of the patients was 11.09 days, and 9 (22%) patients required follow-up in the intensive care unit for varying periods. The treatments for COVID-19 during their hospitalisation were also evaluated. Hydroxychloroquine in 16 (39%) patients, favipiravir in 39 (95%) patients, pulse steroid in 27 (66%) patients, tocilizumab in 11 (27%) patients, and plasma infusion in 13 (32%) patients were used.

#### Characteristics of Patients Developing Acute Kidney Injury during COVID-19

During the hospitalisation period, acute kidney injury (AKI) developed in 14 (34.1%) 41 patients in our

Table 3. Comparison of demographic, clinical characteristics and biochemical parameters of patients according to increase in serum creatinine value.

patients according to mercuse in serum creatinine value.						
Parameters	Increased creatinine (n: 29)	Stable creatinine (n: 12)	P value			
Age (years)	$44.93\pm9.3$	$48.5\pm9.75$	0.277			
Gender (Female/Male)	12/17	2/10	0.129			
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$25.16 \pm 4.09$	$25.52\pm2.96$	0.787			
Post-transplant period (year)	7.5 (5)	8 (8)	0.667			
History of diabetes mellitus	6 (20.6%)	1 (8.3%)	0.339			
History of hypertension	18 (62%)	8 (66.6%)	0.781			
History of coronary artery disease	5 (17.2%)	1 (8.3%)	0.463			
COVID-19 associated AKI	11 (38%)	3 (25%)	0.427			
Sistolic blood pressure (mmHg)	$129.31 \pm 12$	$126.25 \pm 12.08$	0.463			
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	$77.07 \pm 11.14$	$75\pm7.68$	0.561			
Creatinine (mg/dL)	1.34 (0.67)	1.6 (0.69)	0.339			
White blood count $(10^3/uL)$	7.37 (4.04)	5.97 (4.6)	0.623			
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	$12.45 \pm 2$	$13.53 \pm 2.1$	0.125			
Platelet count (10 <sup>3</sup> /mm3)	$229.31 \pm 80.6$	$198.42 \pm 65.48$	0.247			
Albumin (g/L)	$4.07\pm0.55$	$4.4\pm0.36$	0.065			
Alanine aminotransferase (U/L)	16.85 (12.8)	14.7 (9.7)	0.501			
Proteinuria (mg/L)	320 (601.8)	161.5 (282.8)	0.046			
Lactate dehydrogenase (U/L)	147 (74)	142 (119.8)	0.311			
Ferritin (mg/dL)	230.5 (533.25)	145 (1339.6)	0.423			
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	3.11 (34.32)	10.8 (50.43)	0.770			
SII	823.14 (730.91)	412.39 (352.86)	0.013			

Data were expressed as mean ± SD, median (IQR) or frequency. AKI: acute kidney injury, SII: systemic immune inflammation index.

parameters of patients according to increase in amount of proteinuria.						
Parameters Inc	reased proteinuria (n: 25)	Stable proteinuria (n: 16)	P value			
Age (years)	$46.68\pm10$	$44.87\pm8.62$	0.558			
Gender (Female/Male)	8/17	6/10	0.717			
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	25.19±3.68	$25.37\pm4.02$	0.883			
Post-transplant period (year)	9 (5)	4 (7)	0.001			
History of diabetes mellitus	5 (20%)	2 (12.5%)	0.534			
History of hypertension	20 (80%)	6 (37.5%)	0.006			
History of coronary artery disease	5 (20%)	1 (6.25%)	0.224			
COVID-19 associated AKI	13 (52%)	1 (6.25%)	0.003			
Sistolic blood pressure (mmHg)	$131.6\pm10.17$	$123.44 \pm 13.13$	0.031			
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	$79.2\pm8.74$	$72.19 \pm 11.1$	0.03			
Creatinine (mg/dL)	1.67 (1.88)	1.17 (0.58)	0.001			
White blood count $(10^3/uL)$	7.8 (16.23)	5.18 (2.91)	0.024			
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	$12.49\pm2.1$	$13.16 \pm 2.01$	0.317			
Platelet count $(10^3/mm3)$	$235.72\pm83.75$	$196.13 \pm 59.74$	0.109			
Albumin (g/L)	$4.07\pm0.58$	$4.32\pm0.38$	0.110			
Alanine aminotransferase (U/L)	23 (19.5)	13.1 (5)	0.058			
Proteinuria (mg/L)	311 (545)	280 (233)	0.066			
Lactate dehydrogenase (U/L)	147 (58.5)	145 (109)	0.135			
Ferritin (mg/dL)	291 (969)	189 (421)	0.658			
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	13.2 (63.09)	7 (17.17)	0.046			
SII	868.44 (829.46)	529.96 (448.93)	0.050			

Table 4. Comparison of demographic, clinical characteristics and biochemical parameters of patients according to increase in amount of proteinuria.

Data were expressed as mean±SD, median (IQR) or frequency. AKI: acute kidney injury, SII: systemic immune inflammation index.

study. According to the KDIGO AKI classification, 4 (28%) patients were evaluated as stage-1, 3 (21%) patients as stage-2, and 7 (50%) patients as stage-3 AKI. 7 (50%) of the 14 patients who developed AKI needed HD. The mean HD session duration was 3.77 sessions. None of the patients who developed AKI needed HD at discharge.

#### First-Year Data after COVID-19

In the post-COVID first year, 29 (70.7%) patients with increased serum creatinine compared to the pre-

COVID period and 12 (29.3%) patients with a stable course were detected. The two groups had no significant difference regarding age, gender, body mass index, time spent post-transplant, diabetes mellitus, hypertension, history of coronary artery disease, and blood pressure (Table 3).

Interestingly, no significant difference was observed between the two groups regarding basal creatinine levels and AKI development during the COVID-19 process. AKI developed during the period of COVID-19 in 11 (38%) patients in the patient

Table 5. Binary logistic regression analysis with other parameters of the increase in amount of proteinuria in kidney transplant patients with COVID-19.

Parameters	Univariable analysis		Multivariable analysis	
	OR (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value
Post-transplant period (years)	1.469 (1.14-1.89)	0.003	1.204 (0.86-1.67)	0.269
History of hypertension	6.667 (1.63-27.27)	0.008	1.562 (0.19-12.76)	0.677
COVID-19 associated AKI	16.250 (1.85-142.46)	0.012	6.244 (0.53-73.19)	0.145
Sistolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1.066 (1.003-1.133)	0.039	1.036 (0.91-1.17)	0.590
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	1.094 (1.004-1.192)	0.040	0.996 (0.86-1.15)	0.959
White blood count (103/uL)	1.00 (1.00-1.00)	0.059	-	-
Creatinine (mg/dL)	16.940 (1.56-183.06)	0.020	3.789 (0.28-49.68)	0.310
C-reactive protein (mg/L)	1.023 (0.99-1.05)	0.087	-	-
SII	1.002 (1.00-1.003)	0.012	1.001 (1.00-1.002)	0.048

CI: confidence interval, AKI: acute kidney injury, SII: systemic immune inflammation index.

Parameters	Univariable analysis		Multivariable analysis			
	OR (95% CI)	P value	OR (95% CI)	P value		
Gender (Male/Female)	0.785 (0.257-0.890)	0.043	0.283 (0.052-1.53)	0.143		
Haemoglobin (g/dL)	0.764 (0.54-1.08)	0.129	-	-		
Albumin (g/L)	0.225 (0.04-1.16)	0.075	-	-		
Proteinuria (mg/L)	1.002 (0.999-1.004)	0.180	-	-		
SII	1.004 (1.001-1.007)	0.028	1.002 (1.00-1.005)	0.039		

Table 6. Binary logistic regression analysis with other parameters of the increase in serum creatinine values in kidney transplant patients with COVID-19.

CI: confidence interval, SII: systemic immune inflammation index.

group with increased serum creatinine and 3 (25%) patients in the other group, but it was not statistically significant (p = 0.427). While the mean of basal creatinine in the group with stable serum creatinine was 1.6 mg/dL, it was 1.34 mg/dL in the other group (p = 0.339). The mean basal proteinuria in the group with increased serum creatinine was 320 mg/L, while the other group had 161.5 mg/L (p = 0.046). While there was no significant difference in the peripheral blood variables (haemoglobin, white blood count, platelet count) of the two groups, the SII value was found to be significantly higher in the group with increased creatinine level (823.14 vs 412.39, p = 0.013) (Table 3).

Patients were divided into two groups according to the increase and stability of proteinuria in the first year of follow-up after COVID. There were 25 (60.9%) patients in the group with increased proteinuria and 16 (39.1%) patients in the other group. The two groups had no significant difference regarding age, gender, body mass index, and basal proteinuria. In the group with increased proteinuria, the time elapsed after KTx was longer (p = 0.001), the history of hypertension was more common (p = 0.006), and systolic and diastolic blood pressures were higher (p = 0.031 and 0.03, respectively). While the mean basal creatinine was 1.67 mg/dL in the increased proteinuria group, it was 1.17 mg/dl in the other group (p = 0.001). In addition, 13 (52%) patients in the increased proteinuria group and 1 (6.25%) patient in the other group developed AKI during the COVID-19 period (p = 0.003). When inflammatory markers were evaluated, both CRP (13.2 vs 7 mg/L) and SII (868.44 vs 529.96) were found to be higher in the increased proteinuria group (p = 0.046 and p = 0.05, respectively) (Table 4).

# Evaluation of Factors Associated with Increase in Proteinuria and Serum Creatinine

Parameters associated with an increase in proteinuria at one-year post-COVID were evaluated. In the univariable analysis, the time elapsed post-KTx, history of hypertension, AKI developed during COVID-19, systolic and diastolic blood pressure elevations, serum creatinine, and SII, were associated with post-COVID increased proteinuria. However, only SII was associated with increased proteinuria in the multivariable analysis (p = 0.048) (Table 5). Also, associated factors with increased serum creatinine were evaluated in the multivariable analysis. SII alone was an independent predictor of the change in serum creatinine value (p = 0.039) (Table 6).

#### DISCUSSION

The study investigated the changes in renal functions and the factors affecting this change in the one-year follow-up of KTx patients diagnosed with COVID-19. Patients with elevated serum creatinine in first-year post-COVID had higher baseline proteinuria and SII. We found that patients with long transplantation time, hypertension and high basal creatinine and SII values had higher proteinuria increases in the follow-up. The development of AKI during the COVID period increased the risk of proteinuria in the long term. Finally, we showed that baseline SII was an independent predictor of the change in serum creatinine and proteinuria.

In COVID-19, renal damage can be seen in a wide range, from hematuria and proteinuria to developing severe AKI that may require RRT. While the prevalence of acute kidney injury (AKI) is approximately 17% in all populations during the COVID-19 period<sup>12</sup>, publications are reporting that it is very high, such as 45-83% in KTx patients.<sup>13-15</sup> AKI developed during hospitalisation in 34.1% of our patient group, and HD need in 50% of these patients. In COVID-19, the risk of developing AKI and the need for HD are higher in KTx patients than in the normal population.<sup>5</sup> The frequency of proteinuria in patients followed up for COVID-19 has been reported as 10-45%, and the severity of proteinuria is directly related to mortality.<sup>13,16</sup> In our study, the rate of patients with newly developed proteinuria was 60%. This difference between studies is due to the severity of COVID-19. While severe disease, predominantly with tubular damage, may cause more moderate proteinuria and accompanying higher creatinine levels, higher proteinuria levels may be detected in patients with milder disease.<sup>17</sup> In our study group, it was impossible to differentiate tubular or glomerular damage due to the failure of any patient to undergo a kidney biopsy.

Knowing the mechanisms that cause renal damage in COVID-19 is essential for what we should pay attention to in the follow-up of renal functions. While systemic inflammation (cytokine storm) and immune dysregulation are the primary factors causing organ damage, acute tubular injury is the most common histopathological finding.<sup>2-4</sup> The association of inflammatory markers with COVID-19 has always been of interest, as systemic inflammation and immune dysregulation are significant causes of renal injury during COVID-19. Inflammatory markers have been used to diagnose the disease or predict its prognosis, but there is no study on how they can predict damage in any organ system in the long term. SII is a stronger predictor of inflammatory status than traditional inflammatory markers such as NLR, PLR, and monocyte/lymphocyte ratio (MLR).<sup>11,18,19</sup> In COVID-19, it has been determined that the prognostic value of SII is stronger than inflammation indicators such as NLR, derived NLR (d-NLR), MLR, and PLR.<sup>20,21</sup> The usefulness of SII in identifying COVID-19 patients at higher risk of death is attributed to the different roles played by lymphocytes, neutrophils, and platelets during the disease response.22

Our study is the first to show that SII, an important indicator of systemic inflammation, is associated with increased creatinine and proteinuria in the long term after COVID-19. Kidney injury during COVID-19 results from increased local and systemic inflammation and microthrombotic events on both tubules and glomeruli.<sup>3,4</sup> The relationships between tubular injury markers with increased interleukin 6 (IL-6) level, collapsing glomerulopathy and inflammatory cytokine production, and systemic inflammation markers such as NLR and CRP with the severity of renal injury are findings that draw attention to the role of inflammation in renal injury in COVID-19. Considering all these findings, SII, one of the strong indicators of systemic inflammation, may also be an important predictor in the relationship between COVID-renal dysfunction.<sup>23,24</sup> Patients with high SII values may be exposed to more renal inflammation and have worse renal functions in the long term. Many studies are showing that, in COVID-19, SII is a useful indicator to predict the development of AKI, that patients with AKI have higher white blood cell and CRP levels than patients without AKI, and patients with evidence of renal involvement, have higher white blood cell counts and lower lymphocyte count. All these studies support our hypothesis.<sup>18,25,26</sup>

Neutrophil-related endothelial damage is the other mechanism thought to cause renal injury in COVID-19 patients.12,25,27,28 Tumor necrosis factor (TNF) overactivation increases the oxidative stress of the glomeruli in addition to direct renal endothelial damage. Cytokines such as interferons (IFN: alpha and beta) also cause podocyte dysfunction and glomerulosclerosis.<sup>29</sup> The increased neutrophil activity also causes platelet activation, increasing inflammatory cytokine production and microthrombus formation.30 Evidence of extensive endothelial inflammation, inflammatory cell deposits, and endotheliitis in post-mortem autopsies supports this theory.<sup>30</sup> Proteinuria is a consequence of this hyperinflammatory state.<sup>31</sup> Over time, the increased expression of all these cytokines and the role of local tissue inflammation in renal cells have become more evident in COVID-19.32 Since high SII is an indicator of increased neutrophil and platelet counts and indirectly increased activity of these two cells, it can be considered an indirect indicator of endothelial damage.

SII is helpful with other inflammatory markers to predict prognosis after kidney transplantation.<sup>33</sup> In addition, when studies reporting the relationship between delayed graft function and the development of acute rejection and inflammatory markers<sup>34</sup> and the relationship between high NLR-PLR and the development of immunological damage are evaluated, SII may be an important indicator of both renal and overall survival in KTx patients. The role of SII in predicting renal survival in KTx patients includes neutrophilia and thrombocytosis that occur during ischemia-reperfusion injury, which contributes to the formation of immunogenic microthrombi in renal vascular structures.3<sup>5,36</sup>

Regardless of allograft function and underlying renal allograft histology, the level of proteinuria at any time after transplantation is one of the main determinants of graft survival.<sup>37</sup> Bajpai *et al.*<sup>13</sup> found that basal proteinuria level is an independent predictor of renal survival in the follow-up of renal functions after COVID-19. Our study found that creatinine increases were higher in the first year in patients with higher initial proteinuria. In addition, it was determined that transient proteinuria due to post-COVID febrile disease resolved within three weeks. It is also known that the increase in proteinuria in the follow-up indicates increased long-term mortality in KTx patients.<sup>16</sup> Therefore, proteinuria detected in the COVID-19 period should be followed up, and transient proteinuria should be differentiated from long-term proteinuria in the early period.

We found that patients with increased proteinuria during long-term follow-up developed more AKI during COVID-19. AKI, proteinuria, and hematuria developing during COVID-19 are independently associated with a higher risk of death.<sup>26,38</sup> This can be explained by the increase in the severity of the disease and the increase in organ dysfunctions. The demonstration that patients who develop proteinuria during hospitalisation have a worse prognosis can also be interpreted as the renal reflection of the systemic inflammatory state. Although publications report that 35-60% of patients who develop AKI during COVID-19 have permanent deterioration in renal function during follow-up<sup>13,39</sup>, there are also studies showing all patients who develop AKI return to their initial kidney functions.<sup>15</sup> This difference is because the severity of the disease differs between studies.

As in our study group, hypertension is the most common co-morbidity in COVID-19 patients and is a risk factor for severe illness and death. Impaired hypertension regulation is also an independent predictor of the development of AKI.40 We found that creatinine and proteinuria increases were higher in patients with a history of hypertension during follow-up. The relationship between hypertension and COVID-19 is explained by the interaction of the virus with ACE2, the gateway to hosting cells<sup>41</sup>, and endothelial dysfunction.42 Tubular and glomerular visceral epithelial cells of the kidney are the main targets of SARS-CoV-2. The resulting inflammatory state increases endothelial damage while the endothelium is not expected to be directly infected with SARS-CoV-2.<sup>28</sup> Our patient group also found that blood pressures were higher than basal levels at the end of follow-up in groups with both proteinuria and creatinine increases. Other reasons for the deterioration in blood pressure regulation in our patients may be the discontinuation of RAS blocker drugs in the early stages of the epidemic, with the belief that ACEi or ARB drugs adversely affect the course of the disease or the fact



Figure 1. Study brief.

that the virus may change the homeostasis of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) with the ACE2 interaction.<sup>43</sup>

Longer transplantation time is associated with higher mortality and more frequent AKI during COVID-19.<sup>5</sup> We found that patients with a long transplantation period have more proteinuria after COVID-19. This is due to the advanced age of the graft being more prone to renal injury.

In the long term, one of the critical factors affecting renal functions is the immunosuppressive treatments reduced during COVID-19. All of our patients' immunosuppressive therapies were returned to the basal levels within two weeks at the latest after COVID. In a study evaluating the effects of reduced immunosuppressive treatments on renal functions in the early post-COVID period (within the first three weeks), it was observed that patients with reduced immunosuppression had better graft function in the early period, which was attributed to a temporary glomerular filtration rate elevation as a result of reduction of calcineurin inhibitors (CNI).44 Immune dysregulation due to COVID-19 may trigger disease activation or acute T-cell-mediated graft rejection in patients with the underlying immune disease.4 Studies, including histopathological evaluations, show that rejection frequency is very low in the early period, and reduced immunosuppression is well tolerated.<sup>3,4,13-15</sup> However, rejection should be considered in the differential diagnosis of patients with proteinuria or increased creatinine in long-term follow-up. Since a kidney biopsy was not performed on any patient in our study, we can't comment on this situation.

Our study has some limitations. One of the most important limitations of our study is the absence of a control group. The limited number of patients is another limitation. The fact that no biopsy was performed in any patient with proteinuria or increased creatinine prevents us from commenting on the type of renal dysfunction that developed. Although DSA test positivity was taken as an exclusion criterion since it would lead to suspicion of graft rejection, the most important limitation of this study is that kidney biopsy could not be performed in patients with increased creatinine or worsening proteinuria.

#### CONCLUSIONS

As a result, we have shown that clinical and laboratory features such as high SII, increased proteinuria, hypertension, development of AKI, and long posttransplant time can provide information about renal problems we may encounter in the long term (Figure 1). Therefore, the post-COVID follow-up process of KTx patients should be individualised.

#### Highlights

• Patients with high SII were more fragile regarding renal functions after COVID-19.

• SII was an independent predictor of the change in serum creatinine and proteinuria after COVID-19.

• Post-COVID renal dysfunction may be more severe in patients with high initial proteinuria and creatinine level.

• Patients with a long transplantation period and hypertensive had higher renal dysfunction risk in the long term after COVID-19.

#### Conflicts of Interest

All authors declare that there is no conflict of interest in this study.

#### Ethical Approval

The protocol of the study was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of Necmettin ERBKAN University, Faculty of Medicine, Meram, Konya, Turkey. (Decision number: 2022-3845, date: June 2022).

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: HÖ, KZ,; Study Design: HÖ, HZT,; Supervision: HÖ, İB, FY,; Literature Review: HÖ, İB, KT,; Critical Review: HZT, KT NYS,; Data Collection and/or Processing: YÖ, FY, İB,; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: İB, NYS,; Manuscript preparing: HÖ, İB.

#### REFERENCES

1. Farouk SS, Fiaccadori E, Cravedi P, Campbell KN. COVID-19 and the kidney: what we think we know so far and what we don't. J Nephrol. 2020 Dec;33(6):1213-8. doi: 10.1007/s40620-020-00789-y.

2. Pecly IMD, Azevedo RB, Muxfeldt ES, Botelho BG, Albuquerque GG, Diniz PHP, Silva R, Rodrigues CIS. A review of Covid-19 and acute kidney injury: from pathophysiology to clinical results. J Bras Nefrol. 2021 Oct-Dec;43(4):551-71. doi: 10.1590/2175-8239-JBN-2020-0204.

3. Kudose S, Batal I, Santoriello D, Xu K, Barasch J, Peleg Y, Canetta P, Ratner LE, Marasa M, Gharavi AG, Stokes MB, Markowitz GS, D'Agati VD. Kidney biopsy findings in patients with COVID-19. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2020 Sep;31(9):1959-68. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020060802.

4. Ho QY, Sultana R, Lee TL, Thangaraju S, Kee T, Htay H.

Coronavirus disease 2019 in kidney transplant recipients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Singapore Med J. 2021 Oct 24. doi: 10.11622/smedj.2021171.

5. Verma A, Khorsandi SE, Dolcet A, Prachalias A, Suddle A, Heaton N, Jassem W. Low prevalence and disease severity of COVID-19 in post-liver transplant recipients-A single centre experience. Liver Int. 2020 Aug;40(8):1972-1976. doi: 10.1111/liv.14552.

6. Lippi G, Plebani M, Henry BM. Thrombocytopenia is associated with severe coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) infections: A meta-analysis. Clin Chim Acta. 2020 Jul;506:145-148. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2020.03.022.

7. Yang YL, Wu CH, Hsu PF, Chen SC, Huang SS, Chan WL, Lin SJ, Chou CY, Chen JW, Pan JP, Charng MJ, Chen YH, Wu TC, Lu TM, Huang PH, Cheng HM, Huang CC, Sung SH, Lin YJ, Leu HB. Systemic immune-inflammation index (SII) predicted clinical outcome in patients with coronary artery disease. Eur J Clin Invest. 2020 May;50(5):e13230. doi: 10.1111/eci.13230.

8. Nalbant A, Demirci T, Kaya T, Aydın A, Altındiş M, Güçlü E. Can prognostic nutritional index and systemic immune-inflammatory index predict disease severity in COVID-19? Int J Clin Pract. 2021 Oct;75(10):e14544. doi: 10.1111/ijcp.14544.

9. Qin Z, Li H, Wang L, Geng J, Yang Q, Su B, Liao R. Systemic immune-inflammation index 1s associated with increased urinary albumin excretion: A population-based study. Front Immunol. 2022 Mar 21;13:863640. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022.863640. 10. Hu B, Yang XR, Xu Y, Sun YF, Sun C, Guo W, Zhang X, Wang WM, Qiu SJ, Zhou J, Fan J. Systemic immune-inflammation index predicts prognosis of patients after curative resection for hepatocellular carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res. 2014 Dec 1;20(23):6212-22. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0442.

11. Karras A, Livrozet M, Lazareth H, Benichou N, Hulot JS, Fayol A, Chauvet S, Jannot AS, Penet MA, Diehl JL, Godier A, Sanchez O, Mirault T, Thervet E, Pallet N. Proteinuria and clinical outcomes in hospitalized COVID-19 patients: A retrospective single-center study. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2021 Apr 1;16(4):514-21. doi: 10.2215/CJN.09130620.

12. Bajpai D, Deb S, Bose S, Gandhi C, Modi T, Katyal A, Saxena N, Patil A, Thakare S, Pajai AE, Haridas A, Keskar VS, Jawale SY, Sultan AG, Jamale TE. Recovery of kidney function after AKI because of COVID-19 in kidney transplant recipients. Transpl Int. 2021 Jun;34(6):1074-82. doi: 10.1111/tri.13886.

13. Anton Pampols P, Trujillo H, Melilli E, Urban B, Sandino J, Favá A, Gutierrez E, Bestard O, Mancebo E, Sevillano A, Cruzado JM, Morales E. Immunosuppression minimization in kidney transplant recipients hospitalized for COVID-19. Clin Kidney J. 2021 Jan 29;14(4):1229-1235. doi: 10.1093/ckj/sfab025. 14. Pei G, Zhang Z, Peng J, Liu L, Zhang C, Yu C, Ma Z, Huang Y, Liu W, Yao Y, Zeng R, Xu G. Renal involvement and early prognosis in patients with COVID-19 pneumonia. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2020 Jun;31(6):1157-65. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020030276. 15. Ferlicot S, Jamme M, Gaillard F, Oniszczuk J, Couturier A, May O, Grünenwald A, Sannier A, Moktefi A, Le Monnier O, Petit-Hoang C, Maroun N, Brodin-Sartorius A, Michon A, Dobosziewicz H, Andreelli F, Guillet M, Izzedine H, Richard C, Dekeyser M, Arrestier R, Sthelé T, Lefèvre E, Mathian A, Legendre C, Mussini C, Verpont MC, Pallet N, Amoura Z, Essig M, Snanoudj R, Brocheriou-Spelle I, François H, Belenfant X, Geri G, Daugas E, Audard V, Buob D, Massy ZA, Zaidan M;

AP-HP/Universities/Inserm COVID-19 research collaboration. The spectrum of kidney biopsies in hospitalized patients with COVID-19, acute kidney injury, and/or proteinuria. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2021 Feb 12:gfab042. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfab042. 16. Akilesh S, Nast CC, Yamashita M, Henriksen K, Charu V, Troxell ML, Kambham N, Bracamonte E, Houghton D, Ahmed NI, Chong CC, Thajudeen B, Rehman S, Khoury F, Zuckerman JE, Gitomer J, Raguram PC, Mujeeb S, Schwarze U, Shannon MB, De Castro I, Alpers CE, Najafian B, Nicosia RF, Andeen NK, Smith KD. Multicenter clinicopathologic correlation of kidney biopsies performed in COVID-19 patients presenting with acute kidney injury or proteinuria. Am J Kidney Dis. 2021 Jan;77(1):82-93.e1. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2020.10.001.

17. Lu L, Feng Y, Liu YH, Tan HY, Dai GH, Liu SQ, Li B, Feng HG. The systemic immune-inflammation index may be a novel and strong marker for the accurate early prediction of acute kidney injury in severe acute pancreatitis patients. J Invest Surg. 2022 May;35(5):962-6. doi: 10.1080/08941939.2021.1970864.

18. Huang H, Liu Q, Zhu L, Zhang Y, Lu X, Wu Y, Liu L. Prognostic value of preoperative systemic immune-inflammation index in patients with cervical cancer. Sci Rep. 2019 Mar 1;9(1):3284. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39150-0.

19. Karimi A, Shobeiri P, Kulasinghe A, Rezaei N. Novel systemic inflammation markers to predict COVID-19 prognosis. Front Immunol. 2021 Oct 22;12:741061. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.741061.

20. Fois AG, Paliogiannis P, Scano V, Cau S, Babudieri S, Perra R, Ruzzittu G, Zinellu E, Pirina P, Carru C, Arru LB, Fancellu A, Mondoni M, Mangoni AA, Zinellu A. The systemic inflammation index on admission predicts in-hospital mortality in COVID-19 patients. Molecules. 2020 Dec 4;25(23):5725. doi: 10.3390/molecules25235725.

21. Henry BM, de Oliveira MHS, Benoit S, Plebani M, Lippi G. Hematologic, biochemical and immune biomarker abnormalities associated with severe illness and mortality in coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a meta-analysis. Clin Chem Lab Med. 2020 Jun 25;58(7):1021-1028. doi: 10.1515/cclm-2020-0369.

22. Fukao Y, Nagasawa H, Nihei Y, Hiki M, Naito T, Kihara M, Gohda T, Ueda S, Suzuki Y. COVID-19-induced acute renal tubular injury associated with elevation of serum inflammatory cytokine. Clin Exp Nephrol. 2021 Nov;25(11):1240-1246. doi: 10.1007/s10157-021-02101-z.

23. Wilk AJ, Rustagi A, Zhao NQ, Roque J, Martínez-Colón GJ, McKechnie JL, Ivison GT, Ranganath T, Vergara R, Hollis T, Simpson LJ, Grant P, Subramanian A, Rogers AJ, Blish CA. A single-cell atlas of the peripheral immune response in patients with severe COVID-19. Nat Med. 2020 Jul;26(7):1070-6. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0944-y.

24. Ronco C, Reis T, Husain-Syed F. Management of acute kidney injury in patients with COVID-19. Lancet Respir Med. 2020 Jul;8(7):738-42. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(20)30229-0.

25. Cheng Y, Luo R, Wang K, Zhang M, Wang Z, Dong L, Li J, Yao Y, Ge S, Xu G. Kidney disease is associated with in-hospital death of patients with COVID-19. Kidney Int. 2020 May;97(5):829-38. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2020.03.005.

26. Tomar B, Anders HJ, Desai J, Mulay SR. Neutrophils and neutrophil extracellular traps drive necroinflammation in COVID-19. Cells. 2020 Jun 2;9(6):1383. doi: 10.3390/cells9061383.

27. Su H, Yang M, Wan C, Yi LX, Tang F, Zhu HY, Yi F, Yang HC, Fogo AB, Nie X, Zhang C. Renal histopathological analysis of 26 postmortem findings of patients with COVID-19 in China. Kidney Int. 2020 Jul;98(1):219-27. doi: 10.1016/j. kint.2020.04.003.

28. Wang H, Li J, Gai Z, Kullak-Ublick GA, Liu Z. TNF- $\alpha$  deficiency prevents renal inflammation and oxidative stress in obese mice. Kidney Blood Press Res. 2017;42(3):416-27. doi: 10.1159/000478869.

29. Varga Z, Flammer AJ, Steiger P, Haberecker M, Andermatt R, Zinkernagel AS, Mehra MR, Schuepbach RA, Ruschitzka F, Moch H. Endothelial cell infection and endotheliitis in COVID-19. Lancet. 2020 May 2;395(10234):1417-1418. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30937-5.

30. Migliorini A, Angelotti ML, Mulay SR, Kulkarni OO, Demleitner J, Dietrich A, Sagrinati C, Ballerini L, Peired A, Shankland SJ, Liapis H, Romagnani P, Anders HJ. The antiviral cytokines IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$  modulate parietal epithelial cells and promote podocyte loss: implications for IFN toxicity, viral glomerulonephritis, and glomerular regeneration. Am J Pathol. 2013 Aug;183(2):431-40. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.04.017.

31. Liu J, Li S, Liu J, Liang B, Wang X, Wang H, Li W, Tong Q, Yi J, Zhao L, Xiong L, Guo C, Tian J, Luo J, Yao J, Pang R, Shen H, Peng C, Liu T, Zhang Q, Wu J, Xu L, Lu S, Wang B, Weng Z, Han C, Zhu H, Zhou R, Zhou H, Chen X, Ye P, Zhu B, Wang L, Zhou W, He S, He Y, Jie S, Wei P, Zhang J, Lu Y, Wang W, Zhang L, Li L, Zhou F, Wang J, Dittmer U, Lu M, Hu Y, Yang D, Zheng X. Longitudinal characteristics of lymphocyte responses and cytokine profiles in the peripheral blood of SARS-CoV-2 infected patients. EBioMedicine. 2020 May;55:102763. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2020.102763.

32. Halpern SE, Moris D, Shaw BI, Krischak MK, Olaso DG, Kesseli SJ, Ravindra K, McElroy LM, Barbas AS. The systemic immune-inflammation index predicts clinical outcomes in kidney transplant recipients. In Vivo. 2020 Nov-Dec;34(6):3349-60. doi: 10.21873/invivo.12173.

33. Ergin G, Değer M, Köprü B, Derici Ü, Arınsoy T. High neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio predicts acute allograft rejection in kidney transplantation; a retrospective study. Turk J Med Sci. 2019 Apr 18;49(2):525-30. doi: 10.3906/sag-1811-41.

34. Halazun KJ, Marangoni G, Hakeem A, Fraser SM, Farid SG, Ahmad N. Elevated preoperative recipient neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio is associated with delayed graft function following kidney transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2013 Nov;45(9):3254-7. doi: 10.1016/j.transproceed.2013.07.065.

35. Siedlecki A, Irish W, Brennan DC. Delayed graft function in the kidney transplant. Am J Transplant. 2011 Nov;11(11):2279-96. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-6143.2011.03754.x.

36. Naesens M, Lerut E, Emonds MP, Herelixka A, Evenepoel P, Claes K, Bammens B, Sprangers B, Meijers B, Jochmans I, Monbaliu D, Pirenne J, Kuypers DR. Proteinuria as a noninvasive marker for renal allograft histology and failure: An observational cohort study. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2016 Jan;27(1):281-92. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2015010062.

37. Lombardi R, Ferreiro A, Ponce D, Claure-Del Granado R, Aroca G, Venegas Y, Pereira M, Chavez-Iñiguez J, Rojas N, Villa A, Colombo M, Carlino C, Guimarâes C, Younes-Ibrahim M, Rizo LM, Guzmán G, Varela C, Rosa-Diez G, Janiques D, Ayala R, Coronel G, Roessler E, Amor S, Osorio W, Rivas N, Pereira B, de Azevedo C, Flores A, Ubillo J, Raño J, Yu L, Burdmann EA, Rodríguez L, Galagarza-Gutiérrez G, Curitomay-Cruz J. Latin American registry of renal involvement in COVID-19 disease. The relevance of assessing proteinuria throughout the clinical course. PLoS One. 2022 Jan 27;17(1):e0261764. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0261764.

38. Chan L, Chaudhary K, Saha A, Chauhan K, Vaid A, Zhao S, Paranjpe I, Somani S, Richter F, Miotto R, Lala A, Kia A, Timsina P, Li L, Freeman R, Chen R, Narula J, Just AC, Horowitz C, Fayad Z, Cordon-Cardo C, Schadt E, Levin MA, Reich DL, Fuster V, Murphy B, He JC, Charney AW, Böttinger EP, Glicksberg BS, Coca SG, Nadkarni GN; on behalf of the Mount Sinai COVID Informatics Center (MSCIC). AKI in hospitalized patients with COVID-19. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2021 Jan;32(1):151-60. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2020050615.

39. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, Xiang J, Wang Y, Song B, Gu X, Guan L, Wei Y, Li H, Wu X, Xu J, Tu S, Zhang Y, Chen H, Cao B. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020 Mar 28;395(10229):1054-62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3.

40. Lanzani C, Simonini M, Arcidiacono T, Messaggio E, Bucci R, Betti P, Avino M, Magni G, Maggioni C, Conte C, Querini PR, Ciceri F, Castagna A, Vezzoli G, Manunta P; Bio Angels for COVID-BioB Study Group. Role of blood pressure dysregulation on kidney and mortality outcomes in COVID-19. Kidney, blood pressure and mortality in SARS-CoV-2 infection. J Nephrol. 2021 Apr;34(2):305-14. doi: 10.1007/s40620-021-00997-0.

41. Sardu C, Gambardella J, Morelli MB, Wang X, Marfella R, Santulli G. Hypertension, thrombosis, kidney failure, and diabetes: Is COVID-19 an endothelial disease? A comprehensive evaluation of clinical and basic evidence. J Clin Med. 2020 May 11;9(5):1417. doi: 10.3390/jcm9051417.

42. AlGhatrif M, Cingolani O, Lakatta EG. The dilemma of coronavirus disease 2019, aging, and cardiovascular disease: Insights from cardiovascular aging science. JAMA Cardiol. 2020 Jul 1;5(7):747-8. doi: 10.1001/jamacardio.2020.1329.

43. Alfano G, Damiano F, Fontana F, Ferri C, Melluso A, Montani M, Morisi N, Tei L, Plessi J, Giovanella S, Ligabue G, Mori G, Guaraldi G, Magistroni R, Cappelli G, Donati G. Immunosuppressive therapy reduction and early post-infection graft function in kidney transplant recipients with COVID-19. G Ital Nefrol. 2021 Dec 16;38(6):2021-vol6.

44. Chauhan S, Meshram HS, Kute V, Patel H, Desai S, Dave R. Long-term follow-up of SARS-CoV-2 recovered renal transplant recipients: A single-center experience from India. Transpl Infect Dis. 2021 Dec;23(6):e13735. doi: 10.1111/tid.13735.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



nal Medicine

Original Article

# Retrospective Analysis of Follow-up and Results of Patients with High D-Dimer Value and Discharged without Emergency Pathology

Fulya Busra KAVAL<sup>1</sup>, Halil Ibrahim CIKRIKLAR<sup>1</sup>, Vahide Aslıhan DURAK<sup>1</sup>,

Issa Malongo OMAR<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Burak KURTOGLU<sup>3</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Erol ARMAGAN<sup>1</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Emergency Medicine, Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey <sup>2</sup>Bursa Yildirim Doruk Hospital, Bursa Turkey <sup>3</sup>Bursa City Hospital, Bursa, Turkey

## ABSTRACT

Background This study aimed to retrospectively examine the morbidity and mortality rates after discharge of patients who applied to the emergency department with high D-dimer values but had no pathology upon evaluation.

Material and Methods Patients over the age of 18 who applied to Bursa Uludağ University Faculty of Medicine Emergency Department with preliminary diagnosis of pulmonary embolism in a twoyear period between January 2018 and December 2019 were included in the study. The patient group consisted of cases with high D-dimer levels while the control group inluded patients with negative D-dimer and no pathology on discharge.

Results A total of 594 cases; 297 D-dimer positive (+) and 297 D-dimer negative (-), were included in the study. A significant difference existed between the percentage of patients developing illness postdischarge in the D-dimer (+) 18.86% (n=56) and D-dimer (-) 1.68% (n=5) groups, respectively. The most common illness identified in the dimer (+) group after discharge up was pneumonia (n=11), followed by Coronary Artery Disease (n=5). Death rate was 1.68% (n=5) in the D-dimer (-) group and 11.78% (n=35) in the D-dimer (+) group; a statistically significant difference (p=0.001).

Conclusions In conclusion, both morbidity and mortality rates were found to be significantly higher in the D-dimer positive group.

*Turk J Int Med 2023:5(2);135-140* DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1169467</u>

Keywords: Emergency service, pulmonary embolism, D-dimer, prognosis.



Received: September 01, 2021; Accepted: September 25, 2022; Published Online: October 29, 2022

Address for Correspondence: Halil Ibrahim Cikriklar, MD Department of Emergency Medicine, Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Medicine, Bursa, Turkey E-mail: <u>halilcikriklar@gmail.com</u>


# Introduction

D-dimer is a fibrin degradation product.<sup>1</sup> Blood D-dimer level increases in various conditions related to coagulation.<sup>2</sup> D-dimer; a fast, simple and cheap test, is performed to rule out deep vein thrombosis (DVT) and pulmonary embolism (PE).3 Normal plasma D-dimer level is usually less than 500 micrograms per liter  $(\mu g/L)$ .<sup>4</sup> In many studies, the formula; Agex10=ng/mL, is proposed for the threshold value in patients over 50 years of age.<sup>5</sup>Blood D-dimer levels may be high in old patients, patients with cancer or systemic infection, pregnancy, recent surgery or trauma.<sup>4</sup> D-dimer may also increase in infectious diseases such as endocarditis and mycoplasma pneumonia.<sup>6,7</sup> D-dimer has high sensitivity and low specificity in the diagnosis of acute aortic dissection  $(AAD).^{8}$ 

D-dimer is not only a diagnostic tool, but also a useful biomarker in predicting prognosis.<sup>9</sup> D-dimer levels are found to be high in patients with community-acquired pneumonia and may help in determining the risk of mortality.<sup>10</sup> Rodelo et al.<sup>11</sup> Reported higher mortality rates in septic patients with elevated D-dimer levels. High D-dimer values, especially in lung malignancies, is associated with poor prognosis.<sup>12</sup> Our objective was to retrospectively examine the morbidity and mortality rates after discharge of patients who applied to the emergency department with high D-dimer values but had no pathology upon evaluation.

# Material and Methods

This study, a specialization thesis, was carried out retrospectively with the approval of Uludag University Faculty of Medicine Clinical Research Ethics Committee dated 16 June 2021 number 2021-8/25. Patients over the age of 18 who applied to Bursa Uludag University Faculty of Medicine Emergency Department with preliminary diagnosis of pulmonary embolism in a two-year period between January 2018 and December 2019 were included in the study. Data was obtained through Mia-Med Hospital Information and Management System and E-pulse electronic system. The patient group consisted of cases with high D-dimer levels while the control group included patients with negative D-dimer without any pathology upon discharge. The upper limit for plasma D-dimer concentration was accepted as 500 ng/mL in young patients, whereas the corrected formula (Agex10=ng/mL) was used in patients over 50 years of age. D-dimer above these values were accepted as positive (+) while D-dimer below these values were considered negative (-). Patients were followed up through Mia-Med and E-pulse electronic system until January 2022. In cases where sufficient data could not be found, patients or their relatives were reached to using the contact information registered in our system.

## Statistical Analysis

In calculating the sample size of the study, Power was 0.80 for each variable, Effect size was 0.2, and Type-1 error (a) was 0.05. Descriptive statistics for continuous variables were; Mean/median, standard deviation, minimum and maximum whereas categorical variables were expressed as number (n) and percentage (%). Continuous measurements' distribution was examined by Kolmogorov-Smirnov (n>50) and Skewness-Kurtosis tests. In the case of normal (parametric) distribution of continuous variables, comparisons according to categorical factors were made using the independent T-test (Single-test).

## Results

A total of 594 cases; 297 D-dimer (+) and 297 D-dimer (-), were included in the study. Table 1 showed the distribution of cases according to age, D-dimer, period after discharge and gender. As seen in Table 1, the mean age of D-Dimer (+) patients was significantly higher (p<0.05). The period (days) between discharge and control dates had no significant difference according to the D-Dimer groups (p>0.05). Distribution of patients according to D-dimer groups and the outcomes were shown in Table 2 and Figure 1. As seen in Table 2, morbility and mortality rate was significantly higher in the D-dimer (+) group (p<0.001). Diseases detected in both groups are shown in Table 3. As seen in Table 3, the most common disease identified in the dimer (+) group was pneumonia (n: 11), followed by coronary artery disease (n: 5), cholecystitis (n: 4), and pyelonephritis (n: 4), respectively.

	D-dimer negative	D-dimer positive	P value
Age (years)	43.26±15.21	50.03±18.99	0.001*
Gender (male/female) n (%)	184 (61.95)/113 (38.05)	143 (48.15)/154 (51.85)	0.001**
D-dimer (ng/mL)	325.12±116.44	1691.95±1656.63	0.001*
Period (days)	1201.98±78.99	1250.48±692.85	0.231*

**Table 1.** Comparison between the distribution of patients' age, D-dimer, period after discharge and gender according to D-dimer groups.

\*Student's t test, ¶ Fisher's exact test, † Pearson Chi-Square test, \$\$ Mann-Whitney U test.

ER: estrogen receptor, PR: progesterone receptor, DCIS: ductal carcinoma in situ, LVI: lymphovascular invasion, LN: lymph node metastasis.

Table 2. Distribution of	patients according	to D-dimer q	roups and the outcomes.
		,	

	D-dimer negative	D-dimer positive	P value*
Healthy n (%)	287 (96.63)	206 (69.36)	0.001
Ill n (%)	5 (1.68)	56 (18.86)	0.001
Exitus n (%)	5 (1.68)	35 (11.78)	0.001
Total n	297	297	0.231

\*significance levels according to two-ratio Z-test results.

#### Discussion

D-dimer is a fast and cheap test included in PE diagnostic algorithms.<sup>3,13</sup> However, blood D-dimer values can increase in many diseases other than PE.<sup>4,6,7</sup> D-dimer is also a useful biomarker in predicting prognosis.<sup>8</sup> In our study, we followed up patients with high D-dimer levels that were discharged after evaluation in the ED without any pathology. Blood D-dimer level is generally higher in the elderly.<sup>4</sup> For this reason, the corrected formula (Agex10=ng/mL) is recommended for the threshold value in patients over 50 years old.<sup>5</sup> In our study, the mean age of D-Dimer (+) patients was found to be significantly higher.

High D-dimer levels in pneumonia is directly proportional to severity.<sup>12</sup> In our study, the most common disease in the dimer (+) group during follow-up was found to be pneumonia (n:11). Studies have revealed high D-dimer levels in patients with coronary arter disease.<sup>14</sup> Another study has shown that high D-dimer levels are associated with coronary

Table	3.	Distribution	of	illnesses	according	to
D-dim	er	groups.				

	Illness	n (%)
	Factor 5 Leiden mutation	1 (20)
	Hepatitis B infection	1 (20)
D-dimer negative	Myocardial infarction	1 (20)
	Stomach carcinoma	1 (20)
	Papillary thyroid carcinoma	1 (20)
	Total	5 (100)
	Pneumonia	11 (19.6)
	Coronary artery disease	5 (8.9)
	Cholecystitis	4 (7.1)
	Pyelonephritis	4 (7.1)
D-dimer positive	COVID-19	3 (5.4)
	Malignancy	3 (5.4)
	Pulmonary embolism	3 (5.4)
	Peripheral artery disease	3 (5.4)
	Sepsis	2 (3.6)
	Others	18 (32.1)
	Total	56 (100)



# Distribution fo patient result by D-Dimer groups

Figure 1. Distribution of patient outcomes according to D-dimer groups.

arter disease occurring under the age of 45.15 In our study, we also encountered coronary arter disease in the D-dimer (+) group. A study has shown that D-dimer predicts the presence of bacteremia in septic patients and is correlated with the severity of sepsis.<sup>16</sup> In another study, high D-dimer levels were associated with severe organ dysfunction and high mortality.17 Sepsis was another disease identified in the dimer (+) group during our follow-up. Peripheral artery disease is also related to high D-dimer levels.<sup>18</sup> In our study, peripheral arterial disease was detected in some cases among the dimer (+) group.

D-dimer is a test with high sensitivity but low specificity in the diagnosis of PE.<sup>3</sup> We identified only 3 (5.4%) PE patients in the dimer (+) group during our follow up period. In cases of malignancy, intravascular stasis, released cytokines and coagulation factors, and vascular injuries caused by chemotherapy lead to increased D-dimer values.<sup>19</sup> High blood D-dimer concentration during pre-treatment period in small cell lung cancer may be a reliable factor to predict prognosis.<sup>11</sup> Another disease group encountered in the dimer (+) group during our follow-up was malignancy.

Elevated D-dimer is frequently detected in patients with COVID-19 and is significantly associated with

high mortality risk.<sup>20</sup> In our study, we came across some COVID-19 cases in the dimer (+) group.

D-dimer is not only a diagnostic tool, but also a useful biomarker in predicting prognosis.9 High D-dimer is frequently encountered in critically ill patients and is inversely proportional to survival.<sup>21</sup> D-dimer levels may be helpful in determining the risk of mortality in patients with communityacquired pneumonia.<sup>10</sup> Elevated D-dimer in COVID pneumonia are associated with severity and increased risk of mortality.<sup>22</sup> D-dimer has been found to correlate with the severity of sepsis.<sup>16</sup> D-dimer correlate with the prognosis in cancer patients.<sup>23</sup> High D-dimer, especially in lung malignancies, is associated with poor prognosis.12

## Conclusions

As a result, both morbidity and mortality rates were found to be significantly higher in the D-dimer (+) group during follow-up. A closer follow-up of D-dimer positive cases will be beneficial in cases discharged without acute pathologies during ED evaluation and adding D-dimer to the screening program is likely to positively affect prognosis.

#### Conflict of interest

The author(s) declared no potential conflicts of interest with respect to the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### **Funding Sources**

The author(s) received no financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

#### **Ethical Approval**

Local ethics committee approved the study protocol.

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: KFB; Study Design: CHI, DVA; Supervision: KFB; Literature Review: KFB, KB; Critical Review: AE; Data Collection and/ or Processing: KB, KFB; Statistical Analysis and/ or Data Interpretation: KFB, OIM; Manuscript preparing: KFB, OIM.

## References

- Robert-Ebadi H, Righini M. D-dimer: Well beyond diagnosis! J Med Vasc. 2020 Sep;45(5):239-40. doi: 10.1016/j. jdmv.2020.06.006.
- Lim W, Le Gal G, Bates SM, Righini M, Haramati LB, Lang E, Kline JA, Chasteen S, Snyder M, Patel P, Bhatt M, Patel P, Braun C, Begum H, Wiercioch W, Schünemann HJ, Mustafa RA. American Society of Hematology 2018 guidelines for management of venous thromboembolism: diagnosis of venous thromboembolism. Blood Adv. 2018 Nov 27;2(22):3226-56. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2018024828.
- Iwuji K, Almekdash H, Nugent KM, Islam E, Hyde B, Kopel J, Opiegbe A, Appiah D. Age-adjusted D-dimer in the prediction of pulmonary embolism: Systematic review and meta-analysis. J Prim Care Community Health. 2021 Jan-Dec;12:21501327211054996. doi: 10.1177/21501327211054996.
- Crawford F, Andras A, Welch K, Sheares K, Keeling D, Chappell FM. D-dimer test for excluding the diagnosis of pulmonary embolism. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2016 Aug 5;2016(8):CD010864. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD010864. pub2.
- Senior K, Burles K, Wang D, Grigat D, Innes GD, Andruchow JE, Lang ES, McRae AD. Age-adjusted D-dimer thresholds in the investigation of suspected pulmonary embolism: A retrospective evaluation in patients ages 50 and older using administrative data. CJEM. 2018 Sep;20(5):725-31. doi: 10.1017/cem.2018.389.
- Turak O, Canpolat U, Ozcan F, Yayla C, Mendi MA, Oksüz F, Tok D, Tok D, Cağlı K, Gölbaşı Z. D-dimer level predicts in-hospital mortality in patients with infective endocarditis: a prospective single-centre study. Thromb Res. 2014 Sep;134(3):587-92. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2014.06.015.

- Mélé N, Turc G. Stroke associated with recent mycoplasma pneumoniae infection: A systematic review of clinical features and presumed pathophysiological mechanisms. Front Neurol. 2018 Dec 21;9:1109. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01109.
- Yao J, Bai T, Yang B, Sun L. The diagnostic value of D-dimer in acute aortic dissection: a meta-analysis. J Cardiothorac Surg. 2021 Nov 27;16(1):343. doi: 10.1186/s13019-021-01726-1.
- Sakka M, Connors JM, Hékimian G, Martin-Toutain I, Crichi B, Colmegna I, Bonnefont-Rousselot D, Farge D, Frere C. Association between D-Dimer levels and mortality in patients with coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19): a systematic review and pooled analysis. J Med Vasc. 2020 Sep;45(5):268-74. doi: 10.1016/j.jdmv.2020.05.003.
- Yang C, Zeng HH, Huang J, Zhang QY, Lin K. Predictive roles of D-dimer for mortality of patients with communityacquired pneumonia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Bras Pneumol. 2021 Dec 15;47(6):e20210072. doi: 10.36416/1806-3756/e20210072.
- Rodelo JR, De la Rosa G, Valencia ML, Ospina S, Arango CM, Gómez CI, García A, Nuñez E, Jaimes FA. D-dimer is a significant prognostic factor in patients with suspected infection and sepsis. Am J Emerg Med. 2012 Nov;30(9):1991-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2012.04.033.
- Li J, Wang Y, Li J, Che G. Prognostic value of pretreatment D-Dimer level in small-cell lung cancer: A meta-analysis. Technol Cancer Res Treat. 2021 Jan-Dec;20:1533033821989822. doi: 10.1177/1533033821989822.
- Abdelaal Ahmed Mahmoud M Alkhatip A, Donnelly M, Snyman L, Conroy P, Hamza MK, Murphy I, Purcell A, McGuire D. YEARS algorithm versus Wells' score: Predictive accuracies in pulmonary embolism based on the gold standard CT pulmonary angiography. Crit Care Med. 2020 May;48(5):704-8. doi: 10.1097/CCM.000000000004271.
- Bratseth V, Byrkjeland R, Njerve IU, Solheim S, Arnesen H, Seljeflot I. Procoagulant activity in patients with combined type 2 diabetes and coronary artery disease: No effects of long-term exercise training. Diab Vasc Dis Res. 2017 Mar;14(2):144-51. doi: 10.1177/1479164116679080.
- 15. Aggarwal A, Srivastava S, Velmurugan M. Newer perspectives of coronary artery disease in young. World J Cardiol. 2016 Dec 26;8(12):728-34. doi: 10.4330/wjc.v8.i12.728.
- Prucha M, Bellingan G, Zazula R. Sepsis biomarkers. Clin Chim Acta. 2015 Feb 2;440:97-103. doi: 10.1016/j. cca.2014.11.012.
- Kudo D, Goto T, Uchimido R, Hayakawa M, Yamakawa K, Abe T, Shiraishi A, Kushimoto S. Coagulation phenotypes in sepsis and effects of recombinant human thrombomodulin: an analysis of three multicentre observational studies. Crit Care. 2021 Mar 19; 25(1):114. doi: 10.1186/s13054-021-03541-5.
- Saenz-Pipaon G, Martinez-Aguilar E, Orbe J, González Miqueo A, Fernandez-Alonso L, Paramo JA, Roncal C. The role of circulating biomarkers in peripheral arterial disease. Int J Mol Sci. 2021 Mar 30;22(7):3601. doi: 10.3390/ ijms22073601.
- Khalil J, Bensaid B, Elkacemi H, Afif M, Bensaid Y, Kebdani T, Benjaafar N. Venous thromboembolism in cancer patients: an underestimated major health problem. World J Surg Oncol. 2015 Jun 20;13:204. doi: 10.1186/s12957-015-0592-8.
- 20. Sulli A, Gotelli E, Casabella A, Paolino S, Pizzorni C, Alessandri E, Grosso M, Ferone D, Smith V, Cutolo M. Vitamin D and lung outcomes in elderly COVID-19 patients.

Nutrients. 2021 Feb 24;13(3):717. doi: 10.3390/nu13030717.

- 21. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, Zhang L, Fan G, Xu J, Gu X, Cheng Z, Yu T, Xia J, Wei Y, Wu W, Xie X, Yin W, Li H, Liu M, Xiao Y, Gao H, Guo L, Xie J, Wang G, Jiang R, Gao Z, Jin Q, Wang J, Cao B. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. Lancet. 2020 Feb 15;395(10223):497-506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5.
- Gungor B, Atici A, Baycan OF, Alici G, Ozturk F, Tugrul S, Asoglu R, Cevik E, Sahin I, Barman HA. . Elevated D-dimer levels on admission are associated with severity and increased risk of mortality in COVID-19: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Emerg Med. 2021 Jan;39:173-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajem.2020.09.018.
- Lin Y, Liu Z, Qiu Y, Zhang J, Wu H, Liang R, Chen G, Qin G, Li Y, Zou D. Clinical significance of plasma D-dimer and fibrinogen in digestive cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2018 Oct;44(10):1494-503. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2018.07.052.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



Case Report

# Acute Arterial Thrombosis in Anticoagulated Patient for Acute Pulmonary Thromboembolism

Ana CHELIKIKJ<sup>1</sup>, Lidija POPOSKA<sup>2</sup>, Elena GRUEVA<sup>3</sup>, Elma KANDIC<sup>3</sup>, Oliver BUSHLJETIKJ<sup>4</sup>, Zhan ZIMBAKOV<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Intensive Care Unit, University clinic of Cardiology, Skopje

<sup>2</sup>Department of rhythm disturbances and electrophysiology, University clinic of Cardiology, Skopje

<sup>3</sup>Department of Intensive Care Unit, University clinic of Cardiology, Skopje

<sup>4</sup>University clinic of Cardiology, Skopje

<sup>5</sup>University clinic of Cardiology, Skopje

# A B S T R A C T

Acute limb ischemia is a rare condition in patients with venous thromboembolism (VTE), who already receive anticoagulation treatment. Inflammation is a risk factor for thrombus formation. Patients with active ulcerative colitis, especially at time of exacerbation, are more prone to thromboembolism, both venous and arterial. Risk for thrombosis is 18% higher risk, with also higher risk of bleeding. Up to date, there is no contraindication to any anticoagulant drug in patients with ulcerative colitis. We represent a case of a 73 year - old woman with ulcerative colitis (UC) exacerbation, hospitalized initially for pulmonary thromboembolism, that developed acute arterial thrombosis when switched on novel oral anticoagulant (NOAC).

*Turk J Int Med* 2023:5(2);141-144 DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1176071</u>

Keywords: Pulmonary thromboembolism, arterial thrombosis, anticoagulation.



Received: September 19, 2022; Accepted: January 24, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

<u>Address for Correspondence:</u> Dr. Ana Chelikikj University clinic of Cardiology, Skopje e-mail: ana.chelikic@gmail.com



#### **INTRODUCTION**

Ulcerative colitis (UC) is a highly inflammatory disease with various intestinal and extraintestinal manifestations. The elevated risk of thromboembolism in patients with UC, especially in acute exacerbation, is well documented. Acute arterial thrombosis is a rare condition in patients already on anticoagulation therapy due to venous thromboembolism (VTE).<sup>1</sup> We presented a rare case of acute limb ischemia in a patient treated with rivaroxaban for pulmonary thromboembolism occurring during acute exacerbation of UC. .

#### **CASE REPORT**

A 73-year-old woman was transferred from the clinic of gastroenterohepatology. She was initially hospitalised for moderate UC exacerbation because of computer tomography pulmonary angiography (CTPA) finding of segmental pulmonary thromboembolism (PTE) with thrombus on the branching of the left pulmonary artery. Her previous medical history revealed hypertension, except for UC, diagnosed 40 years ago. Before hospitalisation, the patient was treated with mesalazine for UC. Additionally, she received carvedilol, spironolactone, pantoprazole, perindopril and furosemide. During her stay in the gastroenterohepatology clinic, she received additional metronida-

zole, methotrexate and corticosteroid treatments. On admission, the patient was hemodynamically stable with a blood pressure of 140/80 mmHg, ECG showing sinus rhythm with 90 bpm and an S1Q3T3 pattern. Her oxygen saturation was 88% on ambient air. The initial laboratory showed mild microcytic anaemia with haemoglobin levels 10 g/L, elevated troponin levels (984 ng/L) and D-dimers (1,548 mmol/L), as well as high inflammatory markers (C-reactive protein [CRP] 95 mg/L). Liver and kidney laboratory parameters and other values were in their referential range. Bedside echocardiography showed dilated right ventricle (50 mm), pulmonary artery hypertension with systolic pulmonary artery pressure (sPAP) 60 mmHg, moderate tricuspid regurgitation and collapsible vena cava inferior with a diameter of 21 mm. The right ventricle was with preserved function (TAPSE 18, S' 9). There were no structural or functional abnormalities of the left ventricle. Venous Doppler ultrasound of the lower extremities also did not show any abnormalities. Treatment was started with low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) with a dose of 1 mg/kg/12 h. Additionally, she received parenteral antibiotics, beta-blockers (BB), angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEi), thiazide diuretics and proton pump inhibitors (PPI). On the seventh day of her hospitalisation, she was switched from LMWH to apixaban 5



Figure 1. Anteroposterior view of peripheral angiography demonstrating thrombus occluding the distal part of the superficial femoral artery.



Figure 2. Lateral view of peripheral angiography demonstrating occlusion of the distal part of the superficial femoral artery.

mg twice daily.2

Two days later, she complained of pain and paresthesia on the left foot. The examination showed a pale, cold left foot with no pulsation on the dorsal pedal artery. Doppler ultrasound was made with absent signals on the superficial femoral artery, popliteal and posterior tibial artery. Computed tomography angiography of the lower extremities showed an acute thrombus with a length of 22 cm occluding the distal part of the left femoral artery continuing up to the exit site of the anterior and posterior tibial artery.<sup>3</sup> (Figure 1 and 2).

The patient was again switched on LMWH 1 mg/ kg/12 h. Dual antiplatelet therapy and a high dose of statins were immediately started. No abnormality was observed in thrombophilia examinations. After consulting a vascular surgeon, an indication for emergency surgery was made. The patient was transferred to the University Clinic of Cardiac Surgery, where a thrombectomy was made immediately after admission. The Doppler ultrasound postoperatively showed normal signals on the dorsal pedal artery. There was no loss in motorial and sensory function of the foot, but there was necrosis starting from the toe and tip of the second and third finger due to reperfusion ischemia. After a few days, the demarcation line developed in the necrotic tissue and reached the first three fingers. She was transferred to a plastic surgeon for finger amputation. The patient was then discharged home. On her ambulatory control after one month, the patient was in good condition, and the wound was healing well. Unfortunately, she was suffering from depression that developed due to her amputation.

#### DISCUSSION

Patients with active UC, especially during an exacerbation, are more prone to venous and arterial thromboembolism, with an 18% higher risk for VTE. The arteries and veins in the upper and lower limbs, digits, cerebral and retinal vasculature, pulmonary, portal, hepatic, retinal, mesenteric and cardiac systems have all been reported to be involved with thromboembolic events.<sup>3,4</sup>

On the other hand, the risk of bleeding in this patient population is also higher, which should be considered when choosing a suitable anticoagulant. The current practice in treating VTE for patients with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is similar to patients with non-IBD.<sup>2,5</sup> Anticoagulation with unfractionated heparin or low-molecular-weight heparin is recommended in the acute setting, with the eventual transition to oral anticoagulation. For novel anticoagulants (NOACs), new evidence from studies suggests that they have comparable efficacy to that of vitamin K antagonists (VKAs) with a more favourable safety profile.<sup>6</sup>

Although NOACs are not officially approved for treating arterial thrombosis, ongoing studies show promising results. Rivaroxaban is the only NOAC approved for secondary prevention of arterial thrombosis, together with aspirin.<sup>7</sup> Nevertheless, developing arterial thrombosis while on NOACs is a rare condition. Compared to VKAs such as warfarin, NOACs have more predictable pharmacokinetics and do not need to be routinely monitored in the laboratory for their plasma level. However, due to the variation in the plasma drug level between the individuals, some patients may be at increased risk of treatment failure or bleeding events.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Acute arterial limb thrombosis in patients already on NOAC because of VTE is rare but possible in extraordinary conditions like UC. To date, the concentration of anti-Factor Xa is the only way to evaluate the treatment's efficacy indirectly.<sup>8</sup> It should be routinely taken in patients undergoing therapy with NOACs. There are still no guidelines that can stratify patients with UC as low or high risk for thromboembolism. More research is needed on the efficacy of anticoagulation drugs in this specific patient group.<sup>5</sup>

#### Conflicts of Interest

All authors declare that there is no conflict of interest in this study.

#### Authors' Contribution

Study Conception: AC, LP,EG,; Study Design: LP,AC,; Supervision: LP, OB, ZZ,; Literature Review: ZZ, EG,; Critical Review: LP, OB,; Data Collection and/or Processing: AC, EK,; Statistical Analysis and/or Data Interpretation: AC, ZZ,; Manuscript preparing: AC, EK.

#### REFERENCES

1. Whayne TF. A review of the role of anticoagulation in the treatment of peripheral arterial disease. Int J Angiol. 2012 Dec;21(4):187-94. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1330232.

2. Steffel J, Collins R, Antz M, Cornu P, Desteghe L, Haeusler KG, Oldgren J, Reinecke H, Roldan-Schilling V, Rowell N, Sinnaeve P, Vanassche T, Potpara T, Camm AJ, Heidbüchel H; External reviewers. 2021 European Heart Rhythm Association Practical Guide on the use of non-vitamin K antagonist oral anticoagulants in patients with atrial fibrillation. Europace. 2021 Oct 9;23(10):1612-1676. doi: 10.1093/europace/euab065.

3. Aboyans V, Ricco JB, Bartelink MEL, Björck M, Brodmann M, Cohnert T, Collet JP, Czerny M, De Carlo M, Debus S, Espinola-Klein C, Kahan T, Kownator S, Mazzolai L, Naylor AR, Roffi M, Röther J, Sprynger M, Tendera M, Tepe G, Venermo M, Vlachopoulos C, Desormais I; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2017 ESC Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases, in collaboration with the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS): Document covering atherosclerotic disease of extracranial carotid and vertebral, mesenteric, renal, upper and lower extremity arteries. Endorsed by: the European Stroke Organization (ESO)The Task Force for the Diagnosis and Treatment of Peripheral Arterial Diseases of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and of the European Society for Vascular Surgery (ESVS). Eur Heart J. 2018 Mar 1;39(9):763-816. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehx095.

4. Bryant RV, Jairath V, Curry N, Travis SP. Thrombosis in inflammatory bowel disease: are we tailoring prophylaxis to those most at risk? J Crohns Colitis. 2014 Feb;8(2):166-71. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.09.007.

5. Yamazaki T, Hosaka R, Torii Y, Nishiyama S, Mihara M, Matsunaga S, Satomi S, Dojo M, Yamazaki Y. Monotherapy using a direct oral anticoagulant (apixaban) for catheter thrombosis and pulmonary thromboembolism in a patient with ulcerative colitis: a case report. Nihon Shokakibyo Gakkai Zasshi. 2020;117(11):992-1000 (in Japanese). doi: 10.11405/nis-shoshi.117.992.

6. Zhu L, Cheng J, Gu P, Liu Y, Liu J, Wang J, Shen H. Therapeutic strategies of thromboembolic events in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases: Two case reports. Medicine (Baltimore). 2019 Mar;98(9):e14622. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000014622.

7. Anand SS, Bosch J, Eikelboom JW, Connolly SJ, Diaz R, Widimsky P, Aboyans V, Alings M, Kakkar AK, Keltai K, Maggioni AP, Lewis BS, Störk S, Zhu J, Lopez-Jaramillo P, O'Donnell M, Commerford PJ, Vinereanu D, Pogosova N, Ryden L, Fox KAA, Bhatt DL, Misselwitz F, Varigos JD, Vanassche T, Avezum AA, Chen E, Branch K, Leong DP, Bangdiwala SI, Hart RG, Yusuf S; COMPASS Investigators. Rivaroxaban with or without aspirin in patients with stable peripheral or carotid artery disease: an international, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2018 Jan 20;391(10117):219-229. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32409-1.

8. Ruff CT, Giugliano RP, Braunwald E, Morrow DA, Murphy SA, Kuder JF, Deenadayalu N, Jarolim P, Betcher J, Shi M, Brown K, Patel I, Mercuri M, Antman EM. Association between edoxaban dose, concentration, anti-Factor Xa activity, and outcomes: an analysis of data from the randomised, double-blind ENGAGE AF-TIMI 48 trial. Lancet. 2015 Jun 6;385(9984):2288-95. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61943-7.

Bryant RV, Jairath V, Curry N, Travis SP. Thrombosis in inflammatory bowel disease: are we tailoring prophylaxis to those most at risk? J Crohns Colitis. 2014 Feb;8(2):166-71. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2013.09.007.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



**TURKISH JOURNAL OF INTERNAL MEDICINE** 

Case Report

# Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus Co-infection in a Pakistani Patient with COVID-19: A Case Report

Ijaz AHMAD<sup>1</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Hayat KHAN<sup>2</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Shahab Ahmad KHAN<sup>3</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>, Ibrar KHAN<sup>4</sup> <sup>(D)</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Microbiology, Kindai University Faculty of Medicine, Osakasayama, Osaka, Japan <sup>2</sup>Department of Microbiology, the University of Swabi, KP, Pakistan <sup>3</sup>Centre for Biotechnology and Microbiology, University of Swat, KP, Pakistan. <sup>4</sup>Alkhidmat Hospital Peshawar, KP, Pakistan

# ABSTRACT

Bacterial co-infections in patients with severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) pneumonia are not very common as the prevalence of co-infections with other respiratory viruses. The rate of bacterial co-infection in hospitalised patients infected with influenza is higher than 30%, whereas it is lower than 4% in hospitalised patients with SARS-CoV-2. Respiratory viral infections associated with bacterial co-infection have higher mortality and morbidity rates. The literature shows that most SARS-CoV-2 patients admitted to the hospital do not necessarily screen for bacterial infections and antimicrobial susceptibility. Therefore, clinicians' misdiagnosis of these co-infections can pose a significant risk to the lives of vulnerable patients with COVID-19. In that light, we presented a complicated case of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*.

*Turk J Int Med 2023:5(2);145-149 DOI: <u>10.46310/tjim.1192956</u>* 

Keywords: SARS-CoV-2, bacterial co-infection, MRSA, COVID-19.



Received: October 25, 2022; Accepted: February 20, 2023; Published Online: April 29, 2023

<u>Address for Correspondence:</u> Havat Khan

Department of Microbiology, Kindai University Faculty of Medicine, Osakasayama, Osaka, Japan E-mail hayatkhan@uosawabi.edu.pk



#### **INTRODUCTION**

Coronavirus disease-19 (COVID-19) was first reported in December 2019 in China's Wuhan city and then spread worldwide. Later on March 11, 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic was declared after being reported in many countries. Since the first COVID-19 pandemic, severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) has infected more than 370 million people, including over 5 million deaths. Both viral and bacterial respiratory infections substantially contribute to the burden of mortality and morbidity worldwide.<sup>1</sup> Bacterial co-infection is a life-threatening complication in many respiratory viral infections, contributing to the severity of the disease in the form of respiratory failure, shock, prolonged stay in the intensive care unit (ICU), and even death.<sup>1,2</sup> SARS-CoV-2 causes pneumonia and multi-organ failure, including myocarditis and thrombosis, as well as hypoxic-type respiratory failure.<sup>3</sup> SARS-CoV-2 infection makes the patients vulnerable to bacterial co-infections. However, the mechanisms of respiratory co-infection and the likelihood of bacteraemia favouring the respiratory tract epithelium are still unknown.<sup>3</sup>

The 1918 influenza pandemic data showed that nearly all deaths were caused by bacterial co-infection, including the most prevalent pathogens as *Streptococcus pneumoniae*, *Staphylococcus aureus* (*S. aureus*), *Beta-hemolytic streptococci*, and *Haemophilus influenza*.<sup>4</sup> Similarly, in the 2009 influenza pandemic, around 55% of the patient's autopsy samples were positive for bacterial co-infections.<sup>5</sup> The SARS-CoV-1 and Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS-CoV) coronaviruses pandemic reported 20% and 30% of cases with bacterial co-infections.<sup>6</sup> However, research on the current pandemic has shown that patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection have lower than 4% of bacterial co-infections. Since bacterial co-infections with SARS-CoV-2 pneumonia have a known clinical impact, the disease might be missed diagnosed due to the low yield of diagnostic tests.<sup>3</sup>

For the benefit of public health, it is essential to assess the various uncertainties surrounding the effects of bacterial co-infections during the pandemic, particularly in intensive care settings. Here, we described a case of bacterial co-infection in a COVID-19 patient who was severely infected by methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* co-infection, along with their presentation, radiographic observation, and the outcomes.

#### **CASE REPORT**

A 90-year-old male patient who had previously been diagnosed with ischemic heart disease and hypertension was presented to the emergency room with several health complications, including shortness of breath, angina, fever, and a severe dry cough that had been going on for the previous six days. He was hospitalised in the intensive care unit (ICU) after being diagnosed with hypoxemic respiratory failure caused by COVID-19 pneumonia with oxygen saturating of 82% on room air. On admission to the emergency room, his widespread weakness, loss of appetite, taste, and smell were also noticed. He was breathing at a rate of 20 breaths per minute (bpm) with a heart



Figure 1. Chest X-ray showing bilateral infiltrates.



Figure 2. The graph illustrates reverse transcription PCR gene detection; red represents nucleocapsid, blue represents RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene, and green represents internal control.

rate of 82 bpm and a temperature of  $38.^3$  °C. He was found to have leukopenia with a leucocyte count of 5,700 mcL and a low neutrophil count of 88 mcL. The erythrocyte sedimentation rate (ESR) was elevated to 52 mm/h, with elevated interleukin-6 (IL-6) 12.7 pg/ mL, C-reactive protein 3.2 mg/L, and procalcitonin (PCT) 0.4 µg/L, respectively. The chest radiograph showed multifocal pneumonia (Figure 1).

A rapid COVID-19 antigen test detected him as positive for COVID-19. Therefore, a nasopharyngeal sample was collected for further testing. Nasal cultures were collected from the patient using sterile cotton, plated on mannitol salt agar (MSA; Becton Dickinson Microbiology Systems), and incubated at 35 °C for 48 hours. We detected golden colour colonies on the MSA plate and subcultured on a trypticase soy agar supplemented with 5% sheep blood plates (Becton Dickinson Microbiology Systems) and incubated it at 35°C overnight. S. aureus was identified through colony morphology, a latex agglutination assay (Remel, Lenexa, KS), and a tube coagulase test using ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (Becton Dickinson Microbiology Systems). S. aureus isolates were screened for methicillin resistance using the National Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute disk diffusion method. Disk diffusion was conducted using a 1 µg oxacillin disk with Mueller-Hinton agar. The agar plates were incubated overnight at 35°C and measured the zone diameters.

He received both enteral and intravenous drugs with supplementary oxygen treatment. His PCR test showed positive results for the RNA-dependent RNA genes of SARS-CoV-2 on the second day of admission (Figure 2). He was treated primarily with remdesivir and hydrocortisone along with normal saline for the COVID-19 infection. Despite the high-flow nasal cannula's assistance (15 L/min), he was tachycardic and tachypneic. Therefore, he was intubated for further support on the third day of admission to the ICU. However, his repeated tests revealed an increase in the level of IL-6 of 33 pg/mL, PCT 0.6 µg/L, lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) 452 U/L, random blood sugar 141 mg/dL, total leukocyte count (TLC) 9,070/µL and platelets  $32.7 \times 10^3/\mu$ L. Low levels of albumin and electrolytes were observed. However, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and blood urea nitrogen (BUN) levels were raised to 55 U/L and 52 mg/dL, respectively. On culturing, it was revealed that he had bacteraemia and S. aureus co-infection. The culture of S. aureus was grown on differential media to confirm the isolates, and through Kirby Baur disk diffusion assay. the isolates showed resistance to oxacillin antibiotics (Figures 3 and 4). His therapy, antivirals, and supportive medication were further adjusted with piperacillin/tazobactam antibiotics for bacterial infections. Unfortunately, his health condition was severely exacerbated due to bacterial co-infection and finally expired on day seven of his post-hospital admission.

#### **DISCUSSION**

The patient presented to the ICU had a history of ischemic heart disease and hypertension. The patient had a productive dry cough with sputum production. A



Figure 3. Antibiotic susceptibility pattern of methicillinresistant S. aureus.



Figure 4. Growth of methicillin-resistant S. aureus on mannitol salt agar with characteristics of golden yellow colonies.

productive cough is not a unique finding for bacterial pneumonia because, according to a Zhou *et al.*<sup>7</sup> study, 50% of patients with SARS-CoV-2 infection had a similar presentation. The chest radiograph of the patient showed pneumonia with bilateral infiltrates. His rapid SARS-CoV-2 antigen test and PCR both were reported positive for COVID-19. Positive growth for *S. aureus* was seen in the sputum and nasopharyngeal swab cultures. The isolates showed resistance to oxacillin, one of the markers for methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) identification. According to the lab results, the patient had leukopenia and high ferritin, IL-6 and PCT levels.

Khilnani et al.8 reported that immunocompromised, critically ill, and ICU patients were more susceptible to bacterial co-infections with increased usage of preventive or therapeutic antibiotics than non-invasive patients. Older people who live in nursing homes for long-term care also have a high risk of caring for S. aureus. Liu et al.<sup>9</sup> reported that the prevalence of MRSA in upper respiratory tract-infected patients was associated with high mortality ranging from 18.9 to 30.0%. Co-infections can increase the severity of the disease and even mortality rates. According to Pacheco et al.<sup>10</sup>, the overall co-infection rates in respiratory diseases can reach up to 68% of hospitalised patients co-infections could be explained by a possible dysregulation of the host immune response in case of infection with one pathogen, making the subsequent infection with the other pathogen more accessible. In previous viral pandemics, S. aureus was the leading cause of secondary bacterial infections, considerably increasing patient mortality rates. For influenza virus infection, mainly, S. aureus co-infection and bacteraemia were associated with mortality rates of nearly 50%, in contrast to the 1.4% mortality rates observed in influenza-infected patients alone.<sup>10</sup> A more similar phenomenon with reinfection and co-infection during the recent COVID-19 pandemic was recorded, which severely affected the hospitalised patients.<sup>11</sup>

Bacterial co-infections in respiratory viral infections are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality. According to Zhou *et al.*<sup>7</sup> and Lai *et al.*, 12 studies on the 1918 influenza pandemic, between 20 and 60 million deaths were caused by bacterial co-infection rather than the virus itself. Although the rate of bacterial co-infection in COVID-19 is unclear, several studies reported that the rate is significantly lower than in prior pandemics.<sup>7,12</sup> Due to the lack of resources and the heavy burden on the healthcare system during a pandemic, COVID-19 patients are not being thoroughly diagnosed with co-infections.7 In recent research, individuals with COVID-19 who also had S. aureus co-infection had the greatest fatality rate, at 61.7%.12 The primary S. aureus co-infection diagnosis in individuals admitted to a medical facility suggests that the community serves as a favourable environment for the spread of pathogenic infections.<sup>13</sup> The mortality rate in S. aureus bacteraemia is associated with the severity of the disease, age, acute renal failure, length of mechanical ventilation, and antimicrobial resistance.<sup>14</sup> The patient's laboratory examination showed low albumin and electrolyte levels and increased ESR. He was given plenty of intravenous fluids, antivirals, antibiotics, anti-allergic, and hydrocortisone. Due to severe bacteraemia and COVID-19 complications, he expired on the seventh day of his post-hospital admission.

## CONCLUSIONS

S. aureus is an opportunistic pathogen for humans and animals amongst the staphylococcal species with low guanine-cytosine content. It is also known as a commensal coloniser of the skin, nares and nasal cavity. It can enter the body through openings in the skin and cause various infections, from minor skin to life-threatening blood infections. The empirical anti-MRSA therapy methods were included with vancomycin hydrochloride or linezolid plus guideline-recommended standard antibiotics such as  $\beta$ -lactam, macrolide, or tetracycline hydrochloride, or extended-spectrum of quinolone.15 We propose that despite the low level of bacterial co-infection associated with COVID-19, it is important to investigate a severely ill patient for a possible co-infection. The role of evaluating empirically covering co-infections is very significant. Proper and timely evaluation of bacterial co-infection in high-risk patients may overcome the rate of morbidity and mortality.

#### Acknowledgement

The authors thank the Alkhidmat Hospital Peshawar pathology laboratory team, KPK Pakistan.

#### Conflict of Interests

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

## Authors' Contribution

All authors participated in the literature and critical review for the case report preparation.

## REFERENCES

1. Santos P, Gonçalves C, Oliveira C, Queiroz P, Ito CRM, Santos O, Carneiro C. Bacterial co-infection in patients with COVID-19 hospitalized (ICU and not ICU): Review and meta-analysis. Antibiotics (Basel). 2022 Jul; 11(7):894. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics11070894.

2. Prasso E, Deng C. Postviral complications: bacterial pneumonia. Clin Chest Med. 2017 Mar;38(1):127-38. doi: 10.1016/j. ccm.2016.11.006.

3. Shah S, Karlapalem C, Patel P, Madan N. Streptococcus pneumoniae Coinfection in COVID-19 in intensive care Unit: A Series of Four Cases. Case Rep Crit Care. 2022 Aug;12(8):144942. doi: 10.1155/2022/8144942.

4. Morens M, Taubenberger K, Fauci S. Predominant role of bacterial pneumonia as a cause of death in pandemic influenza: implications for pandemic influenza preparedness. J Infect Dis. 2008 Oct;198(7):962-70. doi: 10.1086/591708.

5. Martín-Loeches I, Sanchez-Corral A, Diaz E, Granada M, Zaragoza R, Villavicencio C, Albaya A, Cerdá E, Catalán M, Luque P, Paredes A, Navarrete I, Rello J, Rodríguez A; H1N1 SEMICYUC working group. Community-acquired respiratory coinfection in critically ill patients with pandemic 2009 influenza A(H1N1) virus. Chest. 2011 Mar;139(3):555-62. doi: 10.1378/ chest.10-1396.

6. Wu Z, McGoogan M. Characteristics of and important lessons from the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in China: Summary of a report of 72 314 cases from the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention. JAMA. 2020 Apr;323(13):1239-42. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.2648.

7. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, Xiang J, Wang Y, Song B, Gu X, Guan L, Wei Y, Li H, Wu X, Xu J, Tu S, Zhang Y, Chen H, Cao B. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. Lancet. 2020 Mar;395(10229):1054-62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3.

8. Khilnani GC, Zirpe K, Hadda V, Mehta Y, Madan K, Kulkar

ni A, Mohan A, Dixit S, Guleria R, Bhattacharya P. Guidelines for antibiotic prescription in intensive care unit. Indian J Crit Care Med. 2019 Jan;23(Suppl 1):S1-S63. doi: 10.5005/jp-journals-10071-23101.

9. Liu Y, Ling L, Wong SH, Wang MH, Fitzgerald JR, Zou X, Fang S, Liu X, Wang X, Hu W, Chan H, Wang Y, Huang D, Li Q, Wong WT, Choi G, Zou H, Hui DS, Yu J, Tse G, Gin T, Wu WK, Chan MT, Zhang L. Outcomes of respiratory viral-bacterial co-infection in adult hospitalized patients. EClinicalMedicine. 2021 Jun 10;37:100955. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.100955. 10. Pacheco GA, Gálvez NMS, Soto JA, Andrade CA, Kalergis AM. Bacterial and viral coinfections with the human respiratory syncytial virus. Microorganisms. 2021 Jun 13;9(6):1293. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms9061293.

11. Khan SA, Ahmad I, Khan W, Khan H, Akbar S. The contagious nature of SARS-CoV-2 omicron variant and vaccine efficacy. Adv Life Sci. 2022 Dec;9(4):429-36.

12. Lai C, Wang Y, Hsueh R. Co-infections among patients with COVID-19: The need for combination therapy with non-anti-SARS-CoV-2 agents? J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2020 Aug;53(4):505-12. doi: 10.1016/j.jmii.2020.05.013.

13. Adalbert JR, Varshney K, Tobin R, Pajaro R. Clinical outcomes in patients co-infected with COVID-19 and Staphylococcus aureus: a scoping review. BMC Infect Dis. 2021 Sep;21(1):985. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-06616-4.

14. Morris E, Cleary W, Clarke C. Secondary bacterial infections associated with influenza pandemics. Front Microbiol. 2017 Jun;8:1041. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01041.

15. Cercenado E, Marín M, Burillo A, Martín-Rabadán P, Rivera M, Bouza E. Rapid detection of Staphylococcus aureus in lower respiratory tract secretions from patients with suspected ventilator-associated pneumonia: evaluation of the Cepheid Xpert MRSA/SA SSTI assay. J Clin Microbiol. 2012 Dec;50(12):4095-7. doi: 10.1128/JCM.02409-12.



This is an open access article distributed under the terms of Creative Common Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International License.



http://www.tjim.org https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/pub/tjim